
PLEASE NOTE THE AMENDED TIME FOR THE MEETING 

DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM, AND SWANLEY HEALTH 
AND WELLBEING BOARD

Councillor Roger Gough (Chair) 

Councillor Ann Allen 
Councillor Tony Searles
Councillor David Turner

Debbie Stock 
Dr Elizabeth Lunt 

Sheri Green 
Graham Harris 

Anne Tidmarsh
Andrew Scott - Clark

Melanie Norris 
Sarah Kilkie

Lesley Bowles 

Kent County Council

Dartford Borough Council
Sevenoaks District Council
Gravesham Borough Council

DGS - CCG
DGS - CCG

Dartford Borough Council
Dartford Borough Council

Kent County Council
Kent County Council

Gravesham Borough Council
Gravesham Borough Council

Sevenoaks District Council

Healthwatch
A meeting of the above Board will be held on 

Thursday 25 August 2016 at 1.00pm in the Council Chamber, Gravesham Civic 
Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent.   DA12 1AU

If a member of the Board is unable to attend this meeting, apologies for absence can 
be submitted to the Clerk to the meeting on 01322 343251 or by eMail to 
neil.murphy@dartford.gov.uk

Questions relating to the arrangements for meetings of the Board should be directed 
in the first instance to the Clerk

A G E N D A 
1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations Of Interest 

3. Minutes (Pages 1 - 6)
The Minutes of the meeting of the Dartford Gravesham and Swanley 
Health and Wellbeing Board held on 8 June 2016 are attached for 



confirmation.

Issues arising from the Minutes not addressed elsewhere on the 
Agenda can be raised at this item.

4. Kent County Council Health and Wellbeing Board (Pages 7 - 8)
The Chairman may wish to report on any issues of relevance to this 
Board arising from the meeting held on 20 July 2016

The Agenda for the meeting is attached as an aide memoire. 

5. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will report on any urgent item and determine its 
position on the Agenda.

6. Annual Review of Local Health Profiles and Priorities (Pages 9 - 28)

7. Update on Swanley and Hextable Masterplan 
Lesley Bowles and Hannah Gooden to present to the Board on this 
matter.

8. Falls Prevention and the Integrated Falls Pilot (Pages 29 - 40)

9. Local Estate Strategy and One Public Estate (Pages 41 - 142)
Reports from Debbie Stock and Carol Patrick.

10. Health Inequalities Groups - Reports (Pages 143 - 162)

11. Actions Outstanding from Previous Meetings. (Pages 163 - 164)

12. Information Exchange 

13. Board Work Programme (Pages 165 - 168)



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

DARTFORD GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD

MINUTES of the meeting of the Dartford Gravesham and Swanley Health and 
Wellbeing Board held on Wednesday 8 June 2016.

PRESENT: Councillor Roger Gough (Chairman)
Councillor Mrs Ann D Allen MBE
Councillor Tony Searles

Sheri Green
Stuart Collins
Melanie Norris
Cecilia Yardley

ALSO 
PRESENT

Haley Brooks, Tristan Godfrey, Val Miller, and Dr Su Xavier

83. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor David Turner, Lesley 
Bowles, Graham Harris, Sarah Kilkie, and Andrew Scott – Clarke.

84. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of Interest made by Members.

85. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting of the Dartford Gravesham and Swanley Health 
and Wellbeing Board held on 6 April 2016 were confirmed as a correct record.

86. KENT COUNTY COUNCIL HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: MEETING 
HELD ON 25 MAY 2016 

The Chairman reviewed the meeting of the Kent Health and Wellbeing board 
held on 25 May 2016 and reported on the following matters which could 
impact on our Board area.

 Draft Kent sustainability Plan
 Kent Better Care Fund
 Workforce Task and finish Group
 Addressing Obesity: Progress Report from Local Health and Wellbeing 

Groups
 The Abridged Kent Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 

Overview Report

87. URGENT ITEMS 



DARTFORD GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD

WEDNESDAY 8 JUNE 2016

2

The Chairman reported that there were no urgent items for the Board to 
consider.

88. ACTIONS OUTSTANDING FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS. 

The Board received a report on work issues which were outstanding from 
previous meetings and noted that the issue of grant funding for sports clubs 
had been added to the work plan.

89. POSSIBLE MERGER WITH SWALE HWB 

It was reported that tentative enquiries had been received from the Swale 
Health and Wellbeing Board regarding a possible merger between the two 
areas.

It was noted that the Swale Board was experiencing some difficulties, both 
cultural and organisational, which was affecting its ability to function efficiently 
and that a merger with our Board was perceived as a possible remedy for the 
problems being experienced.

The Board discussed the matter and while being sympathetic towards the 
needs of Swale, expressed the following concerns regarding any merger.

 A loss of focus that might be experienced by our Board should another 
group join 

 The lack of knowledge of Swale and its problems which may erode the 
working relationships that had been built during the operation of our 
Board

 The administrative and management difficulties that such a merger 
would generate

 The expansion of work load which would inevitably occur. 

Accordingly it was agreed that it would not be in the best interest of this Board 
to merge with the Swale HWB and thus that the Swale board should be 
advised accordingly.

90. LOCAL CHILDREN'S PARTNERSHIP GROUPS 

The Board received a presentation and report from Stuart Collins which 
explained the recently introduced Kent Children and Young People’s Plan, 
and set a panel of key indicators against which each of the Board’s three 
areas performed.



DARTFORD GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD

WEDNESDAY 8 JUNE 2016

3

Mr Collins then presented individual data, in a “Performance Dashboard” 
basis which allowed comparison between areas against the indicators 
identified in the plan using the whole county levels as a benchmark figure.

He also added some data relating to missing children which had not been 
available when the report was produced.

Mr Collins explained that information relating to Swanley was contained within 
the individual data sheet for Sevenoaks but assured the Board that this would 
be rectified  in the next report he made to the Board.

In general Mr Collins believed that the three Board areas were performing 
reasonably, and certainly better than some areas of Kent, and he highlighted 
some disparities across the Board areas and sought to explain them.

The Chairman thanked Mr Collins for his report and asked that the Board 
noted its content.

91. UPDATE ON THE IMPLICATIONS OF NEW DEVELOPMENTS FOR THE 
HEALTH SECTOR AND THE NEW SHAPE OF SERVICE PROVISION. 

The Board received a presentation from Dr Xavier which considered the 
factors which were expected to impact upon the provision of Health Care 
across the Board area: 

 An increasing level of demand for primary care from local residents

 Rising projected levels of population growth in the Board area;
 

 The speed of population growth and the projected age structure of the 
growth;

 The location of growth and the format that new developments were to 
take; and, 

 Possible responses to growth

Dr Xavier reported that a steering group headed by the CCG was currently 
reviewing health care provision and structure, both current and projected; 
including GP numbers in the future, and had identified significant issues with 
maintaining the current provision model.

She stressed that based on the clinical model development work with Member 
GPs, it was believed that there would be a need for an additional three or four 
strategically placed integrated health and social care hubs to cater for future 
need, and presented a model of the provision which it was projected would 
need to be available.



DARTFORD GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD

WEDNESDAY 8 JUNE 2016

4

Dr Xavier further informed the Board that the steering group was to meet in 
the near future and would be setting a firm way forward which would be 
reported to the Board in due course.

The Chairman thanked Dr Xavier for her presentation, asked the Board to 
note the information, and looked forward to receiving further updates on the 
matter in due course.

92. UPDATE ON LGA WORKSHOP 

In the absence of Sarah Kilkie, who was leading on this matter, Melanie Norris 
reported that two dates had been identified as being suitable for the 
workshop, (the 25th and 31st of August) which was to be held at Gravesham 
Civic Centre.

Having considered the availability of Members it was agreed that the 
workshop be held on 25 August 2016 commencing at 9.00pm at Gravesham 
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, DA12 1AU.

93. MEETING SCHEDULE FOR 2016 / 2017 AND AVAILABILITY FOR A 
MEETING IN AUGUST 

The Board received a report which detailed the programme of meetings and 
venues for the forthcoming Municipal Year, and which sought guidance on 
whether a meeting in August 2016 should be held and on what date.  

It was noted that Members had already committed themselves to the LGA 
workshop in the morning of the 25th of August, and that it would be sensible to 
continue as a group later that day.

It was therefore agreed that the August meeting of the Board be held on 25 
August, at Gravesham Civic Centre commencing at 1.30pm.

94. INFORMATION EXCHANGE 

Mr Collins informed the Board that in addition to his existing post he had been 
appointed as Head of the Youth Offending Service.

95. BOARD WORK PROGRAMME 

The Board received and noted the current schedule of work programmed to 
be considered at its meetings in the current year together with a list of items 
yet to be programmed.

It was noted that the agenda for the August meeting seemed very heavy and 
the Chairman undertook to review the number of items which were to be 
considered once it became clear exactly what was to be presented.



DARTFORD GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD

WEDNESDAY 8 JUNE 2016

5

Additionally it was noted that there seemed to be a severe reduction in the 
service being offered by the DAAT team, possibly due to budget reductions, 
and it was agreed that a report on this should be presented to the Board as 
soon as possible. 





AGENDA

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Wednesday, 20th July, 2016, at 6.30 pm Ask for: Ann Hunter

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416287

Refreshments will be available 15 minutes before the start of the meeting 

Membership 

Dr F Armstrong, Mr I Ayres, Dr B Bowes (Vice-Chairman), Ms H Carpenter, 
Mr P B Carter, CBE, Dr S Chaudhuri, Dr D Cocker, Ms F Cox, Ms P Davies, 
Mr G K Gibbens, Mr R W Gough (Chairman), Mr S Inett, Mr A Ireland, Dr M Jones, 
Dr N Kumta, Dr E Lunt, Dr T Martin, Mr P J Oakford, Mr S Perks, Dr S Phillips, Cllr K Pugh, 
Mr A Scott-Clark, Dr R Stewart, Cllr P Watkins and Cllr L Weatherly

Webcasting Notice

Please note:  this meeting may be filmed for the live or subsequent broadcast via the 
Council’s internet site or by any member of the public or press present.   The Chairman will 
confirm if all or part of the meeting is to be filmed by the Council.

By entering into this room you are consenting to being filmed.  If you do not wish to have 
your image captured please let the Clerk know immediately

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

1 Chairman's Welcome 

2 Apologies and Substitutes 
To receive apologies for absence and notification of any 
substitutes

3 Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the agenda for this meeting 
To receive any declarations of Interest by Members in items on 
the agenda for the meeting



4 Minutes of the Meeting held on 25 May 2016 (Pages 5 - 10)
To receive and agree the minutes of the last meeting

5 Kent Environment Strategy (Pages 11 - 16)
To receive a report on the Kent Environment Strategy, links with 
the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the work of Clinical 
Commissioning Groups. 

6 Kent and Medway Crisis Care Concordat - Annual Report (Pages 17 - 36
To note progress and support planned work across agencies

7 Review of Outcome 2 - Prevention of Ill-health (Pages 37 - 46)
To receive an overview on Outcome 2 of the Kent Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy and plans for the future Kent Mind the Gap 
Action Plan aimed at reducing health inequalities. 

8 Kent Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme (Pages 47 - 50)
To agree a Forward Work Programme

9 Minutes of the Local Health and Wellbeing Boards (Pages 51 - 70)
To note the minutes of local health and wellbeing boards as 
follows:

Canterbury and Coastal – 10 May 2016
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley – 6 April 2016
South Kent Coast – 17 May 2016
Thanet – 26 May 2016

10 Date of Next Meeting - 21 September 2016 
 

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Peter Sass
Head of Democratic Services 
(03000) 416647

Tuesday, 12 July 2016



Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Health and Wellbeing Board

25th August 2016

From: Andrew Scott-Clark, Director of Public Health, Kent County Council

Subject: Health profiles and priorities for Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 
2015

Classification: Unrestricted

Summary: 

The priorities considered and agreed at previous Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Health 
and Wellbeing Boards remain. Strategically health inequalities in Kent remain and have not 
reduced for the last twelve or so years; the Kent Health and Wellbeing Board has agreed a 
new approach focusing disproportionately on the 88 areas in Kent that have the highest all 
age all-cause mortality rates. Thirteen such populations live within this area and this health 
and well-being board is asked to also provide a disproportionate focus on these populations.

Recommendation:

The Board is asked to discuss, comment and endorse the priorities, particularly to support 
the approach to reducing health inequalities.

1. Background

1.1 Previous papers to this Board have included a number of priorities this board should 
focus upon and at the 17th June 2105 meeting agreed an annual review of priorities 
based on updated publication of the Public Health England (PHE) Health Profiles and 
any other relevant information.

1.2 This paper updates the Board on the latest publication of the PHE health profiles and 
includes additional information on local health inequalities following agreements at the 
Kent Health and Wellbeing Board on a new approach to reducing health inequalities 
across Kent.

1.3 Previous priorities include of the Board have included:
 Obesity
 Falls
 Health Inequalities
 Demographic pressures
 Mental Health and 
 Teenage conceptions.

Following the Board discussion last August the Board confirmed the view that the focus 
primarily be on one priority and that that should be obesity. 

1.4 Plans have been agreed, have been reported to Kent Health and Wellbeing Board and 
are being monitored



2. Health Profiles Update

2.1 The most recent published Health Profiles remain those presented to the Board last 
August dated 2 June 2015.

2.2 The most recent online Health profiles are included in Appendix One of the paper.

2.3 These show generally that the local statistics that are statistically significantly above 
the national average include:

 Violent crime (for the Local Community Safety Partnerships to address
 Breastfeeding initiation (Dartford)
 Obese  children (Year 6) (Gravesham)
 Excess weight (adults) (Dartford and Gravesham)
 Incidence of TB (Gravesham)
 Life expectancy at birth (Females)(Dartford)
 Under 75 mortality rate for Cardiovascular disease (Dartford and Gravesham)

2.4 Thus a continuing focus on obesity and delivery of agreed local plans remains a 
collective local priority.

3. Local Health Inequalities

3.1 Analysis of progress towards reducing health inequalities in Kent shows little or no 
progress made in narrowing the gap in all age all-cause mortality since 2006 although 
the whole population have seen reduced rates across the same time period

3.2 Analysis at a Kent level shows the populations that have the highest all age all-cause 
mortality rates live in 88 different areas of Kent

3.3 Local analysis shows 13 specific areas in the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley areas 
as follows:

3.4 Analysis as set out in the attached document Appendix Five shows the thirteen areas 
of Dartford, Gravesend and Swanley are not homogenous in terms of local populations 
and are likely to require different approaches.

3.5 Closing the gap requires the health and care system to focus disproportionately on 
these populations. The Kent Health and Wellbeing Board approved this approach and 



agreed that Local Health and Wellbeing Boards take a place based approach and for 
local plans to encompass population, service and community development based 
approaches. The Board also agreed for regular reporting of progress to be shared with 
the Kent Health and Wellbeing Board.

3.6 Population approaches describes the action by policy makers in addressing the wider 
determinants of health through, for example policy, legislation and regulation and local 
strategies of “Health in all Policies”.

Service approaches describe action by service providers relating to health for 
example general practice, acute services, social housing and others.

Community development approaches describes actions by community groups and 
local community leaders to build resilience and improve community wellbeing.

Traditional methods for community development have tended to focus upon prescribing 
top down solutions to the needs and deficiencies of deprived areas, with poor buy in 
and engagement of local communities. We are advocating for an asset based 
community development approach. This approach recognises the inherent assets, 
skills and capabilities of residents, citizen associations and local institutions and builds 
upon these in a co-productive way that creates sustainable long term change.

3.7 Public Health is currently working with local partners in each district to understand and 
map the natural communities which encompass the LSOAs outlined previously.

Concurrently PH are also mapping local community assets and positive local 
resources, as we recognise that there are currently other local initiatives happening, 
particularly community transformation initiatives such as “Big Local”, Housing 
Association initiatives, Community Safety initiatives, or indeed big infrastructure 
projects such as Ebbsfleet Garden city where the planning footprint includes existing 
populations in the populations of concern. We must work in a coordinated way and 
build upon what already exists, rather than “reinventing” local initiatives that are seen to 
compete or create confusion.

Our collective aim is to develop a number of local plans (based on natural local 
communities) which aim to improve place based health through population, service and 
community based approaches

4.0 Recommendation

4.1 The Board is asked to discuss, comment and endorse the priorities, particularly to 
support the approach to reducing health inequalities

5.0 Contact
Name                          Andrew Scott-Clark – Director of Public Health
Telephone number     03000 416659
Email address            andrew.scott-clark@kent.gov.uk

mailto:andrew.scott-clark@kent.gov.uk


Appendix One: Online up-to-date Health Profiles for Dartford, Gravesham and 
Sevenoaks







 

 

Produced by 

Dr Wikum Jayatunga: Public Health Registrar (wikum.jayatunga@kent.gov.uk)  

Rachel Kennard: Senior Intelligence Analyst (rachel.kennard@kent.gov.uk) 

Natasha Hobbs: Public Health Information Officer (natasha.hobbs@kent.gov.uk)  

Correspondence to: Rachel Kennard 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM & SWANLEY CCG 

Analysis of Deprived Areas 

In the tenth decile for Kent 

 

January 2016 

 

KCC Public Health is taking a new approach to reducing health inequalities in the county, by producing 

focussed analysis on tenth decile populations. Multivariate segmentation techniques have been used to 

identify different ‘types’ of deprivation in Kent. This report shows our analysis of the most deprived areas in 

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley (DGS) CCG. For more information on the rationale of this approach and our 

methods, please see the full report:  

 

mailto:wikum.jayatunga@kent.gov.uk
mailto:rachel.kennard@kent.gov.uk
mailto:natasha.hobbs@kent.gov.uk
http://www.kpho.org.uk/


2 

 

Background 

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG covers an area in the North of Kent, across the 

districts of Dartford, Gravesham and the north part of Sevenoaks. Given the location, 

many of the residents here are commuters in to London. There is also greater ethnic 

diversity here than the rest of Kent. Deprivation is prevalent in the more urban areas 

to the north, around the towns of Dartford, Swanscombe, Gravesend, Northfleet and 

Swanley. 13 LSOAs feature in the most deprived decile in Kent:  

 

Ward code Ward name LSOA Code LSOA name LSOA 
rank 

GP practice codes serving 
LSOA 

Type 

E05005031 Swanley St 
Mary's 

E01024476 Sevenoaks 002A 64 G82225 G82028 3 
E01024477 Sevenoaks 002B 73 G82225 G82028 3 

E05004931 Joyce Green E01024148 Dartford 001A 29 G82647  3 
E05004933 Littlebrook E01024155 Dartford 001D 50 G82647 G82006 3 
E05004936 Princes E01024165 Dartford 009A 75 G82048 G82143 3 
E05004939 Swanscombe E01024177 Dartford 004C 47 G82122  3 
E05004971 Northfleet 

North 
E01024278 Gravesham 001C 28 Y02826 G82044 1 

E05004964 Central E01024257 Gravesham 002A 51 G82780  4 
E05004974 Pelham E01032799 Gravesham 002F 78 G82780 G82032 4 
E05004975 Riverside E01024295 Gravesham 002E 31 G82780  4 
E05004978 Singlewell E01024306 Gravesham 011D 27 G82808  3 

E01024305 Gravesham 011C 38 G82808  3 
E05004979 Westcourt E01024308 Gravesham 007A 41 G82032  3 

 

 

Swanscombe 

Northfleet 



3 

 

Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley CCG  
Type 1 Deprived LSOAs  

Northfleet 
 

 

Young people lacking opportunities 

KEY FOCUS AREAS: 

Education and employment opportunities for young 

people 

MAIN ISSUES 

*Please note that this analysis is based on a 

single LSOA, meaning wide confidence 

intervals for some measures. 

Characteristics 

 Young adults with low income 

 Particularly high levels of out-of-work benefit 

claimants 

 High crime rates  

 Poor scores for education 

 High number of single parents 

 High levels of movement/transiency 

 

Health Risks/Behaviours 

 High smoking prevalence 

 Low levels of wellbeing 

Health Outcomes 

 Particularly high premature mortality rates 

 Alcohol-related premature mortality and 

from ‘external causes’ particularly high 

 High emergency hospital admission rates 

 

POPULATION DISTRIBUTION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 High numbers of young adults and young 

children 

  

Al l  Kent 1st deci le LSOAs Type 1 (DGS CCG)

1 Under 75 mortality: All cause

2 Under 75 mortality: Circulatory

3 Under 75 mortality: Respiratory

4 Under 75 mortality: Cancer

5 Under 75 mortality: External causes

6 Under 75 mortality: Alcohol-related

7 Emergency Admissions

8 Disability: Activities limited 'a lot'

9 Smoking prevalence (modelled)

10 Physically inactive (modelled)

11 Childhood obesity - Year R

12 Childhood obesity - Year 6

13 Eat '5-a-day' fruit & veg (modelled)

14 Mental health prevalence (modelled)

15 Wellbeing: Low life satisfaction (modelled)

16 Wellbeing: Low 'things I do worthwhile' (modelled)

17 Median income (modelled)

18 Benefit claimants (out-of-work benefits)

19 Not school ready (Year R)

20 Do not achieve 5+ good GCSEs

21 No qualifications

22 Education, Training & Skills (IMD domain)

23 No car

24 Tenure: Social Rented

25 Tenure: Private Rented

26 Overcrowding

27 Shared dwellings

28 Transience: Moved in last year

29 Single parents

30 Distance to nearest GP

31 Distance to nearest pharmacy

32 Distance to nearest A&E/Urgent Care centre

33 Crime rate (per 1,000 population)

34 Living environment (IMD domain)

35 Deprivation (IMD)

    Prepared by KPHO (RK), Jan 2016

Health Inequalities: Type 1 LSOAs
Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley CCG

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Index (1=same as Kent)

H
e

al
th

 O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
H

e
al

th
 R

is
ks

/B
e

h
av

io
u

rs
W

id
e

r D
e

te
rm

in
an

ts



4 

 

  



5 

 

 

Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley CCG  
Type 3 Deprived LSOAs  

Swanley St Mary’s, Dartford, Swanscombe, Kings Farm, Westcourt 

 

 

  

Families in social housing 

MAIN ISSUES 

Characteristics 

 Families with children in social housing 

 Low incomes 

 Poor scores for education 

 High number of single parents 

 Better living environment and lower crime 

rates than other deprived area types 

 

Health Risks/Behaviours 

 High smoking prevalence 

 High levels of childhood obesity 

 Low levels of wellbeing 

 

Health Outcomes 

 High premature mortality rates 

 High emergency hospital admission rates 

 

 
KEY FOCUS AREAS: 

Training, qualifications and employment for parents 

Child health and education 

 

POPULATION DISTRIBUTION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Very high numbers of children 

 High numbers of young adults (particularly women) 

 Lower numbers of over 50s 

 

 

Al l  Kent 1
st

 deci le LSOAs Type 3 (DGS CCG)

1 Under 75 mortality: All cause

2 Under 75 mortality: Circulatory

3 Under 75 mortality: Respiratory

4 Under 75 mortality: Cancer

5 Under 75 mortality: External causes

6 Under 75 mortality: Alcohol-related

7 Emergency Admissions

8 Disability: Activities limited 'a lot'

9 Smoking prevalence (modelled)

10 Physically inactive (modelled)

11 Childhood obesity - Year R

12 Childhood obesity - Year 6

13 Eat '5-a-day' fruit & veg (modelled)

14 Mental health prevalence (modelled)

15 Wellbeing: Low life satisfaction (modelled)

16 Wellbeing: Low 'things I do worthwhile' (modelled)

17 Median income (modelled)

18 Benefit claimants (out-of-work benefits)

19 Not school ready (Year R)

20 Do not achieve 5+ good GCSEs

21 No qualifications

22 Education, Training & Skills (IMD domain)

23 No car

24 Tenure: Social Rented

25 Tenure: Private Rented

26 Overcrowding

27 Shared dwellings

28 Transience: Moved in last year

29 Single parents

30 Distance to nearest GP

31 Distance to nearest pharmacy

32 Distance to nearest A&E/Urgent Care centre

33 Crime rate (per 1,000 population)

34 Living environment (IMD domain)

35 Deprivation (IMD)

    Prepared by KPHO (RK), Jan 2016

Health Inequalities: Type 3 LSOAs
Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley CCG

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Index (1=same as Kent)

H
e

al
th

 O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
H

e
al

th
 R

is
ks

/B
e

h
av

io
u

rs
W

id
e

r D
e

te
rm

in
an

ts



6 

 

  



7 

 

  



8 

 

  



9 

 

  



10 

 



11 

 

Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley CCG  
Type 4 Deprived LSOAs  

Central Gravesend 
 

 

  

Young people in poor quality 

accommodation 

MAIN ISSUES 

Characteristics 

 Young adults in private rented 

accommodation 

 Particularly high levels of overcrowding 

 Better educated than other deprivation types 

 Particularly poor living environment with 

particularly high crime rates  

 Low incomes, but not as low as other 

deprivation types 

 Particularly high levels of movement/transiency 

 

Health Risks/Behaviours 

 High smoking prevalence 

 Low levels of wellbeing 

 

Health Outcomes 

 High premature mortality rates 

 Particularly high emergency hospital 

admission rates 

 

KEY FOCUS AREAS: 

Improve living environment and good affordable 

housing 

POPULATION DISTRIBUTION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 High numbers of young adults 

 High numbers of children under 5 

 Lower numbers of older children and 

teenagers  

 

Al l  Kent 1st deci le LSOAs Type 4 (DGS CCG)

1 Under 75 mortality: All cause

2 Under 75 mortality: Circulatory

3 Under 75 mortality: Respiratory

4 Under 75 mortality: Cancer

5 Under 75 mortality: External causes

6 Under 75 mortality: Alcohol-related

7 Emergency Admissions

8 Disability: Activities limited 'a lot'

9 Smoking prevalence (modelled)

10 Physically inactive (modelled)

11 Childhood obesity - Year R

12 Childhood obesity - Year 6

13 Eat '5-a-day' fruit & veg (modelled)

14 Mental health prevalence (modelled)

15 Wellbeing: Low life satisfaction (modelled)

16 Wellbeing: Low 'things I do worthwhile' (modelled)

17 Median income (modelled)

18 Benefit claimants (out-of-work benefits)

19 Not school ready (Year R)

20 Do not achieve 5+ good GCSEs

21 No qualifications

22 Education, Training & Skills (IMD domain)

23 No car

24 Tenure: Social Rented

25 Tenure: Private Rented

26 Overcrowding

27 Shared dwellings

28 Transience: Moved in last year

29 Single parents

30 Distance to nearest GP

31 Distance to nearest pharmacy

32 Distance to nearest A&E/Urgent Care centre

33 Crime rate (per 1,000 population)

34 Living environment (IMD domain)

35 Deprivation (IMD)

    Prepared by KPHO (RK), Jan 2016

Health Inequalities: Type 4 LSOAs
Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley CCG

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Index (1=same as Kent)

H
e

al
th

 O
u

tc
o

m
e

s
H

e
al

th
 R

is
ks

/B
e

h
av

io
u

rs
W

id
e

r D
e

te
rm

in
an

ts



12 

 

  



13 

 

GP 

Practice

G82006 Dartford East Health Centre 5.3 1.2 1.6 2.2 4.8 1.5 6.0 0.2 12.9 1.1 0.5 0.4 0.8 4.4 0.1

G82028 The Cedars Surgery 4.8 2.1 2.6 3.2 6.4 2.9 6.6 0.9 18.8 2.3 0.6 0.6 0.8 5.6 0.2

G82032 Pelham Medical Practice 4.6 1.5 1.6 3.3 7.0 1.7 7.2 0.6 18.6 1.7 0.8 0.6 1.0 3.7 0.4

G82044 The Gateway Medical Practice 5.2 1.8 1.8 3.1 6.0 2.2 6.4 0.6 15.8 1.7 0.9 0.7 1.1 4.5 0.2

G82048 Horsman's Place Surgery 5.6 1.8 2.7 3.6 7.5 2.2 6.9 0.8 16.9 1.9 1.4 0.6 1.0 14.0 0.5

G82122 Swanscombe Health Centre 3.5 1.3 1.6 2.3 3.6 1.4 6.3 0.5 14.8 1.3 0.7 1.0 0.8 2.4 0.2

G82143 Lowfield Medical Centre 5.8 1.6 1.8 3.2 2.4 1.9 6.5 0.5 14.6 1.9 0.7 0.7 0.8 5.9 0.5

G82225 The Oaks Partnership 7.2 2.0 2.0 3.2 4.6 2.3 7.1 0.7 15.4 1.7 0.7 0.6 0.9 8.2 0.3

G82647 Temple Hill Surgery 3.9 0.8 1.2 1.8 3.5 1.4 5.8 0.3 9.8 1.0 1.0 1.5 0.7 4.9 0.3

G82780 Gravesend Medical Centre 4.5 1.0 1.5 1.8 5.1 1.6 5.8 0.4 9.7 1.1 0.9 0.5 0.9 2.4 0.3

G82808 Oakfield Health Centre, Practice 2 6.1 1.3 2.0 2.8 9.7 2.0 7.1 0.4 14.6 1.9 0.7 0.8 0.9 5.7 0.4

Y02826 White Horse Surgery 4.1 0.5 0.8 1.2 1.3 0.8 5.0 0.2 6.9 0.6 0.6 0.2 0.5 2.8 0.1

Denotes value is in the upper quartile for GP practices in Kent Denotes value is in the lower quartile for GP practices in Kent

Figures for chronic kidney disease (CKD), epilepsy and depression related to patients aged 18+, figures for diabetes to patients aged 17+.  Other measures (including learning disability) related to all ages

Source: HSCIC - Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) for April 2014 - March 2015, prepared by KPHO (RK), December 2015

Epilepsy Depression

Learning 

DisabilitiesDiabetes

Heart 

Failure

Hyper- 

tension

Stroke & 

TIA

Mental 

health DementiaCOPDAsthma

Atrial 

Fibrillation Cancer

Coronary 

Heart 

Disease

Chronic 

Kidney 

Disease

GP Practices 

GP Practices Serving Deprived LSOAs: Recorded Disease Prevalence 

For the GP practices that serve tenth decile LSOAs, we have analysed the recorded disease prevalence from QOF data (Quality Outcomes Framework). Note 

that the data shows recorded disease prevalence, and does not account for undiagnosed disease in the community.  

 High registered prevalence of Chronic Kidney Disease in a number of these practices. 

 The Cedars Surgery and Horsman’s Place Surgery appear to have high recorded disease prevalence across a number of 

conditions. 

  



14 

 

Data Sources 

1-6   Age-standardised mortality rates, 2006-2014.  Source: PCMD.  2 ICD10: I00-I99.  3 ICD10: J00-J99.  4 ICD10: 

C00-C97.  5 ICD10: U00-Y99. 6 ICD10: F10, G31.2, G62.1, I42.6, K29.2, K70, K73, K74, K86.0, X45, X65, Y15.   

7  Emergency admissions, 2012/13-2013/14. Source: SUS.   

8 % self-reporting day-to-day activities 'limited a lot', 2011. Source: Census . 

9  Modelled based on smoking prevalence data by Mosaic type. Source: Experian (TGI: 'Heavy', 'Medium' & 

'Light' smokers combined).   

10  Modelled based on % who do not exercise by Mosaic type.  Source: Experian (TGI).  

11-12  % children measured who were obese, 2013/14. Source: NCMP.   

13  Modelled based on % who claim to eat '5-a-day' fruit and vegetables by Mosaic type.  Source: Experian (TGI). 

14  Modelled mental health prevalence based on GP practice-level data, 2014/15. Source: QOF.   

15-16  Modelled wellbeing based on ONS Annual Population Survey (APS) data by Acorn type, 2011/12. Source: 

DCLG.  15 % scoring 0-6 for 'Overall, how satisfied are you with your life nowadays?'  16 % scoring 0-6 for 

'Overall, to what extent do you feel the things you do in your life are worthwhile?'   

17  Modelled based on median household income data by Mosaic type.  Source: Experian (ConsumerView).  

18  % claiming out of work benefits (defined as all those aged 16-64 who are jobseekers, claiming ESA & 

incapacity benefits, lone parents claiming Income Support and others on income related benefits), February 

2015.  Source: DWP (from Nomis).   

19  % Year R pupils not achieving a good level of development, 2015.  Source: KCC, MIU. 

20  % pupils not achieving 5+ A*-C GCSEs (including English & Maths) at the end of Key Stage 4, 2015.  Source: 

KCC, MIU.  

21  % with no qualifications (based on persons aged 16+), 2011.  Source: Census.  

22  Education, Training & Skills IMD domain (average score), 2015.  Source: DCLG.  

23  % of households with no car or van, 2011.  Source: Census.  

24  % of households living in social rented accommodation, 2011.  Source: Census.   

25  % of households living in private rented accommodation, 2011.  Source: Census.  

26  % of households with an occupancy rating of -2 (i.e. with 2 too few rooms), 2011.  Source: Census.   

27  % of households with accommodation type 'shared dwellings', 2011.  Source: Census. 

28  % of households not living at the same address a year ago, 2011.  Source: Census.  Please note that OAs 

E00124937 & E00166800 have been removed from this analysis due to the undue influence of Eastchurch 

prison on levels of transience.     

29  % of households with no adults or one adult and one or more children, 2011.  Source: Census.  

30-32  Distance to nearest GP/pharmacy/A&E or Urgent Care centre (in miles, as the crow flies from population 

weighted centroid of LSOA), 2015.  Source: KCC Business Intelligence.   

33  Crime rate (recorded crime per 1,000 population), Oct 2013 - Sept 2015.  Source: data.police.uk.   

34  Living Environment IMD domain (average score), 2015. Source: DCLG.   

35 Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) (average score), 2015.  Source: DCLG. 

 



DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

AUGUST 2016
Agenda Item x

______________________________________________________________________________

1

From: Anna Willson - DGS CCG & Karen Shaw – KCC Public Health

Subject: Falls update  

Classification: Unrestricted

Summary:

This paper aims to update the group on the work undertaken in DGS with regards to Falls and 
follows on form the last paper sent to the group in November 2015

Recommendations

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

Review the update and feedback any comments or requests to the CCG/KCC.

1. Background and discussion

The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and Public Health have been collaboratively reviewing the 
Falls pathway within Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley (DGS). This paper aims to update the group 
further to the report presented in November 2015 and clarify further progress.

Below is an updated summary of the work that continues within DGS, as well as any new 
developments since the last report to the group:

 Community Falls service – A therapy led community service consisting of Occupational 
Therapists, Physiotherapists and healthcare assistants has been in existence since early 
2014 and the CCG has recently agreed to continue funding the team pending a more 
detailed review of the outcomes. A revised set of KPIs have been agreed with the team 
and detailed data is being reported on a monthly basis to the CCG. The revised data 
collection will feed into the formal review of the service and the outcomes which will take 
place in 2016.

 Launch of Acute frailty pathways, ambulatory care unit and ageing health clinics 
(ongoing) - Darent Valley Hospital have created a number of new pathways internally 
designed to streamline the patient’s journey through the hospital and ensure they are dealt 
with in the appropriate way. They have 2 dedicated frailty nurses who are responsible for 
pro-actively risk assessing frail patients and offering them a comprehensive geriatric 
assessment should this be required. 

 Creation of Falls ‘Hub’ Kent Public Health  – KCC Public health has implemented a 
single point of referral for postural stability classes to collate and monitor referrals - this 
service within Public Health directly and has a dedicated  administrator to monitor all 
referrals coming into the programme. A pathway was developed to show where a potential 
referral could come into the service, how that referred person is then allocated a place and 
monitored and supported to the end of the programme.  This pathway was developed by 
working with Local Referral units (LRU), the Area Referral Management Service (ARMS) 



DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

AUGUST 2016
Agenda Item x

______________________________________________________________________________

2

and Falls Prevention/Management Services based within Kent Community Health 
Foundation Trust (KCHFT). Where applicable, all referrals both from the general public 
and other stakeholders goes directly to the ‘Single Point of Referral' where referrals are 
then triaged accordingly and directed to either PS classes or directly to a Falls Prevention 
service for a more comprehensive assessment, which could also involve housing and 
medication reviews 

 Postural stability classes – In April 2015 Kent Public Health commissioned postural 
stability classes across Kent and currently has at least one class per district. There is a 
waiting list maintained by public health’s ‘Single point of referral’ and once this reaches a 
certain number, KCC will go back out to tender for new classes (although this is currently 
under budget restraint as of April 2016). KCC operates a Dynamic Purchasing System 
(DPS) which allows the Council to commission Public Health Services from a list of 
approved providers who meet the set minimum standards for these classes. Approved 
providers will then be able to bid for the Council's contracts to deliver postural stability 
classes in identified areas across Kent. KCC launch a falls prevention/postural stability 
poster to raise the awareness of these services across Kent earlier this year (attached). 
The current providers are coming to the end of the agreed commissioned term, ending in 
March 2017. 

 Kent wide Falls group (managed by KCC) – The continuation of this group aims to build 
on the relationships we have developed across Kent. All partners in the health and social 
care system have a role to play in reducing the incidence of falls at a local level, hence 
continued working and engaging with the CCGs, Pharmacists, Optometrists, KCHFT, Kent 
Fire and Rescue Services, Kent Hospitals (Acute sector)  Voluntary Organisations and 
other partners to ensure we have a joined up approach. The aim is not just to discuss how 
to reduce the incidence of falls but to also tackle all aspects of health and social related 
issues that could potentially result in a fall and improve preventative measures where 
possible. This is done by a working to a falls action plan which shows different work stream 
or potential projects across Kent. 

 Integrated falls pilot with Kent Fire & Rescue Service (KFRS) – The CCG, Public 
Health and the community falls service continue to work with the Home Care Team at 
KFRS to deliver an integrated falls pilot. Pathways were established to allow the team 
within KFRS to risk assess people in DGS they felt were at risk of falls and refer them to 
the falls hub in public health. Patients are offered support based on their needs – this may 
be access to community postural stability classes, social care, voluntary organisation 
support or a detailed intervention from the community falls service. The pilot started on 9th 
November 2015 and following a meeting in early 2016 to review progress, KFRS agreed to 
continue with the initiative throughout 2016 with the possibility of expanding the process to 
other teams within KFRS. The group has been collecting referral data, although we are 
currently waiting for the DGS breakdown, but can confirm a total of 127 referrals from the 
KFRS initiative between November 2015 and July 2016. The team have also been 
collating case studies, two of which can be seen below:

       Polypharmacy reduction – The CCG continues to monitor polypharmacy prescribing in DGS 
and the recently developed prescribing reports remain available to practices to identify outlier 
polypharmacy patients. The link between the high number of repeat prescribed items and falls is 
proven, so we believe the review of unnecessary prescribing will help to reduce falls in the local 
area. The CCG have also recently agreed to fund a nursing home support team to focus on 
palliative support for nursing patients – part of this team will be a prescribing Pharmacist who will 
be responsible for undertaking medication reviews on nearly a thousand patients. This will of 



DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

AUGUST 2016
Agenda Item x

______________________________________________________________________________

3

course contribute to decreasing unnecessary polypharmacy which should in turn help to reduce 
falls further. 

 Care home provider forum – The provider forums are managed by KCC and attended by 
care home/extra care housing managers & staff. We have held 3 forums so far since last 
year and the CCG arranged for the community falls service to present to the homes in 
January 2016 which was very well received. We will continue to push the ‘falls agenda’ at 
the care home forum meetings and as demand dictates, the community falls service will 
work with specific homes on falls.

 NEW review of Frailty pathways and services within DGS – The CCG is in the process 
of reviewing frailty and the services available to support frail patients in primary, 
community and acute care. The review will encompass all available services and will 
identify any gaps in commissioning. The CCG are keen to work with KCC and Public 
Health to develop frailty services further and as this programme of work progresses the 
CCG are happy to keep the group updated.

 NEW improved links with District Council Housing – The CCG lead commissioner, 
community falls service lead and falls lead from Public Health recently met with the 
Dartford and Sevenoaks District Council housing team to discuss their work with falls. This 
meeting was set up following feedback at the Kent wide falls group where it was noted that 
the housing teams are not fully engaged with the community falls team. This meeting 
proved beneficial to not only network, but to firm up the referral process between the two 
services. It is hoped further meetings with other Councils can be arranged in due course. 

2. Conclusion and Recommendations

The CCG continue to collect data relating to acute activity for falls via our data warehouse called 
HISBi and directly from the acute. The charts below summarise activity at Darent Valley Hospital for 
DGS patients with regards to falls, although April 2016 is the latest data we have available for 
admissions:



DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

AUGUST 2016
Agenda Item x

______________________________________________________________________________

4

A&E attendances for Falls (excluding attendances for head injury or limb problems)

148 149

189

145

201

169 168 173

154 159

173

201
189

209

174

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
0

50

100

150

200

250

2015/16
2016/17



DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

AUGUST 2016
Agenda Item x

______________________________________________________________________________

5

Short stay non elective admissions due to a fall (24 hours or less) 

69

83
80

97

83

75

107

66

57

50
46

78

58

79

43

82

72
67

60

39 40

47
43

60

41

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Short-Stay NEL 
14/15

Short-Stay NEL 
15/16

Short-Stay NEL 
16/17



DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

AUGUST 2016
Agenda Item x

______________________________________________________________________________

6

Long stay non elective admissions due to a fall 

63 64

47

55
58

65

49
52

58

63

42

52

57
53

57

43 43

77

52
54

46

38

60

73

45

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Long-Stay NEL 
14/15

Long-Stay NEL 
15/16

Long-Stay NEL 
16/17



DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

AUGUST 2016
Agenda Item x

______________________________________________________________________________

7

Total emergency admissions for falls between 1st April 2014 and 31st March 2016

668

891

653
690

Long-Stay NEL 14/15 Short-Stay NEL 14/15 Long-Stay NEL 15/16 Short-Stay NEL 15/16
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900



DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

AUGUST 2016
Agenda Item x

______________________________________________________________________________

8

As you can see from the data above, the activity continues to fluctuate month on month; however, 
the following is true:

 There has been a substantial reduction in short stay emergency admissions for falls in 
15/16 compared to 14/15 with 201 fewer short stay admissions

 There has been a slight reduction in long stay emergency admissions for falls in 15/16 
compared to 14/15 with 15 fewer long stay admissions

 A&E attendances fluctuate month on month and during the beginning of 2016 we have seen 
an increase in attendance rates

It appears our work on avoiding admissions as a result of a fall continues to impact on the total 
admissions, particularly for short stay emergency admissions. We do however, continue to seen an 
increase in A&E attendances which confirms there is more work to do to try and address how and 
why people are falling in the first place.

All work streams identified above will continue into 2016/17 and the CCG will be working closely 
with a number of local providers to focus more on falls prevention and bone health within DGS. 
Also, as mentioned, we will be reviewing all frailty services and pathways locally with a view to 
better supporting elderly frail adults.

3. Contact details

Anna Willson – Commissioning Project Manager for Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley CCG. 
Email Anna.Willson@nhs.net or call 03000 424912

Karen Shaw – Programme Manager for Public Health, Kent County Council. Email 
Karen.Shaw@Kent.gov.uk or call 03000 416671

4. Background Papers

None

mailto:Anna.Willson@nhs.net
mailto:Karen.Shaw@kent.gov.uk


                                         
                                              
KFRS and Community Falls Team Case Study 1

A revisit for a faulty smoke alarm took place on 30th December 2015 by KFRS, during which a falls screening 
tool was completed for two patients (Husband and Wife) who both scored high (6 out of 6) for a risk of a 
falling. The completed screening tools were sent to A2R in the first week of January 2016.

Referral received from KFRS via the Local Referral Unit (LRU) and sent to the Community Falls Team. Falls 
screening tool completed and both patients scored 6/6, identifying that they:

- Has a history of fall(s) in the previous year
- Is on more than 4 different type of medication
- Has a formal diagnosis of Stroke, Parkinson’s Disease or other physical condition which may increase 

their risk of falls
- Has problems with their balance
- Is unable to rise from a chair without pushing up from their arms
- Has a fear of falling

An initial assessment was completed by an Occupational Therapist. The wife is the main carer for her husband 
who has a long-term neurological condition and requires assistance/supervision to maintain his safety. The 
husband had/still has a complex neurological condition and was active under the Community Neurological 
Rehabilitation Team. The Falls team liaised with them and it was felt that the Therapists already involved with 
this gentleman were addressing his overall needs (including falls) and that they had put a management plan in 
place because he was a complex case. As a service, along with the patient and wife, they felt it was not 
appropriate to 'double-up' on services going in to see him.

The patient and husband live in a ground floor flat with level access shower and existing grab-rails in place to 
assist with toilet transfers. Nil home hazards that required action were identified on assessment.

A multifactorial assessment was completed identifying that the patient was on a number of different types of 
medication which highlighted polypharmacy concerns. The patients GP was sent a letter requesting that they 
review the patient’s current medication and consider the patient be considered for vitamin D and Calcium 
supplements. An Osteoporosis screening tool was also completed and sent onto the patients GP.

The patient was able to transfer and mobilise independently, although due to decreased balance, the 
physiotherapist provided a walking stick to assist with safer mobility and to help reduce her risk of falls. There 
was no evidence of a history of blackouts, varying levels of consciousness or dizziness on assessment. There 
was no evidence of decreased sensation on assessment. There were no concerns raised regarding the patients 
vision/hearing. There was no identified substance misuse. 

The patient received input from both the occupational therapist and physiotherapist. Near the end of the 
intervention provided, the patient was given the opportunity to attend postural stability classes. However, 
due to the patient being the main carer for her husband and him requiring assistance and support, the patient 
declined to attend these classes. A sit-in service/befriending service was also offered, but this was also 
declined. Therefore physiotherapy input continued on a one-to-one basis with support from one of our 
rehabilitation assistants to provide further strength and balance exercises within the patients own home.

Following input from our service, the patient no longer required the use of her walking stick indoors, but does 
use the stick outdoors as she feels this maintains her level of confidence whilst walking over uneven 
pavements.





                                                  

KFRS and Community Falls Team Case Study 2

Referral from social services to KFRS highlighting male adult aged 69 living in poor conditions without fire 
alarms and specifying hoarder.

KFRS Home Safety visit notes identified male adult (R) in receipt of care 3 x daily who lives with a family 
member – R was sleeping in the dining room as he was not able to negotiate the stairs, he needed two people 
to help him out of bed in the mornings then was able to move around the house using a Zimmer frame.

Reducing levels of clutter noted throughout the ground floor and ongoing efforts to reduce this further, but 
family advised ‘this is taking time’. KFRS fitted one carbon monoxide and three smoke alarms, generic fire 
safety advice offered with specific mention of keeping exit routes and doorways clear. Falls screening tool 
form completed and sent to referring agency.

Referral received by the community falls team from KFRS via the Local Referral Unit (LRU). KFRS Screening Tool 
completed on referral, patient scored 6/6, identifying patient:

- Has a history of fall(s) in the previous year
- Is on more than 4 different type of medication
- Has a formal diagnosis of Stroke, Parkinsons Disease or other physical condition which may increase 

their risk of falls
- Has problems with their balance
- Is unable to rise from a chair without pushing up from their arms
- Has a fear of falling

An initial assessment was completed by an Occupational Therapist with the patient, along with the patient’s 
sister being present whom he lives with and is his main carer.

It was identified on the assessment that there were multiple environmental hazards: loose mats/rugs, excess 
furniture, narrow walk-ways and multiple objects/possessions increasing the gentleman’s risk of falls.  
Recommendations were made to reduce the risk to the patient, and whilst some were actioned on, the 
majority were declined by the patient. Information provided regarding the care navigation team to assist with 
organising assistance with removal of excess clutter/furniture - patient aware of the risks. 

A multifactorial assessment was completed identifying that the patient was on a number of different types of 
medication, one being Mirtazapine which is associated with a high risk of falls. GP aware and actively 
reviewing and monitoring the patient’s medication. The patient was already on bone 
strengthening/maintenance medication. There was no evidence of a history of blackouts, varying levels of 
consciousness or dizziness on assessment. There has no evidence of decreased sensation on assessment. There 
were no concerns raised regarding the patient’s vision/hearing. There was no identified substance misuse. 

The gentleman has significant past medical history and current health problems, including heart failure, which 
are likely to deteriorate, therefore the approach of the therapist was focused on falls risk reduction and 
management, as opposed to a rehabilitation approach.

The patient expressed a fear of falling and this was exacerbated by his current difficulties with his bed 
transfers. Patient was sleeping downstairs on an inappropriate bed/sofa. His sister physically had to lift 
patient, along with the help of a carer in order to complete transfers on/off the bed. A hospital bed with an air-
wave mattress and air-wave cushion for his chair was provided to reduce the moving and handling risk for the 
patient, assist with his positioning in bed, promote independence and also reduce the risk of the patient 



                                                  

developing any pressure areas. A double handed care package was also set up to reduce the moving and risk 
to his sister and also enable her to maintain her sister-brother relationship and role.

Mobility and transfer practice was completed with the occupational therapist and the outcome was that the 
gentleman was able to increase his level of mobility from approx. 5 metres with the use of a walking frame to 
approx. 12 metres. Grab-rails were fitted at the entrance to the property to assist with safer access and exiting 
to attend hospital appointments.

Patient has since been referred to a podiatrist to help manage his foot health and help to maintain his level of 
mobility.

 



Date of Meeting: 25th August 2016

Agenda Number:

Title of Report: DGS Strategic Estate Plan

Reporting Officer: Debbie Stock

This paper is for  (Please annotate)

Assurance Approval Discussion Note for 
Information

X

Summary of Issue:
(Please annotate comments / recommendations of sub-committee, if appropriate)
Introduction

The objectives of the Strategic Estate Plan (SEP) are to review the estate within the CCG 
area and align with commissioning service requirements to identify estate changes in terms 
of investment required and rationalisation opportunities which will deliver both clinical and 
financial benefits. The SEP will also enable identification of key priorities for estate 
development in primary care as part of the Estates and Technology Transformation Fund 
(ETTF) programme.

Key to determining the estate priorities and solutions is the development of the primary and 
community care clinical model which when agreed will be used to inform the services 
required, the locations and facilities to enable delivery of this model.

The development of the Strategy is an ongoing and iterative process. The SEP has been 
updated and the version being presented to the Governing Body is the third iteration. As 
thinking develops and details emerge, further updates will be produced along with detailed 
implementation plans. 

Current Position

The first draft SEP was submitted to the DoH in December 2015 with a second version 
submitted at the end of March 2016 following review by the Governing Body. 

Since these versions work has concentrated on further discussions around the emerging 
clinical model and the estates impact of these.  

The Federation and Practices have been working closely with the CCG to develop a clinical 
model which will enable the current pressures being experienced by primary care, to be 
addressed in a transformational and sustainable manner. The direction of travel and specific 
requirements are endorsed in the emerging Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) 
Urgent Care review, Digital Strategy and the attached Strategic Estate Plan.

Whilst the development of the model is at a relatively early stage there is a general 
consensus about the direction of travel and the need to transform services in this area. The 



clinical model associated with the hub and spoke model aligns with the CCGs primary care 
vision, especially in relation to the provision and development of Integrated Primary Care 
Teams within a wellbeing ‘hub’ centre. This is where the GP remains accountable for patient 
care, in partnership with health and social care and voluntary sector, including community 
nursing, social care, mental health, specialist services, pharmacists and health trainers with 
support from acute physicians and geriatricians. These teams will proactively co-ordinate and 
improve the quality of that care and the outcomes for the individuals involved. 

We are working with the CCG in respect of its Urgent Care review and we believe GPs are 
well placed to provide improved access to meet the needs of the growing population. The 
community ‘hubs’ would enable extended access and urgent same day care. However, in 
view of the significant population increase, additional resource might be required and we 
need to scope and validate this. The urgent and emergency care review has been re-started 
by the CCG and they are working closely with us to ensure that the clinical models 
developed by our members are reflected in the service redesign of urgent care.

In summary, the community integrated ‘hubs’ will provide:

 GPs at the centre of integrated multidisciplinary health and social care teams, 
coordinating and organising people’s care. 

 Proactive and responsive care, for example, urgent primary care enhanced 7 day 
access aligned with out of hours provision. 

 Interoperability of patient records will enable federated model of practices to access 
medical records of patients seeking advice both in and out of hours. 

 A focus on keeping people well and supporting them to self-manage, using risk 
stratification and other prediction tools and technology such as approved apps to 
identify those at risk of hospital admission, re-admission or long term care, and those 
who are regular users of other services;

 Joined-up support for those individuals with long-term conditions and complex health 
and social care needs.

 Provision of enhanced community diagnostics that take account of NICE guidelines, 
specifically ultrasound in relation to cancer.

 Providing care navigation service to work with the multidisciplinary teams and to 
support patients to obtain the right care and help, working closely with the voluntary 
sector and housing and benefit agencies

 Increased use of advice, information, guidance, enablement, rehabilitation and 
telecare

 Preventative care (including community facilities / gyms and pharmacies) co-located 
with physical, mental health and social care services providing a ‘one-stop’ shop for 
patients

The clinical model being developed is therefore essentially that of primary care providing the 
central co-ordinated care around the person, with support from specialist teams when 
needed. Prevention will be a significant focus picking up issues around deprivation and 
lifestyle e.g. obesity and high rates of chronic disease prevalence. 

Detailed discussion have also been underway in relation to the Estates and Technology 



Transformation Fund (ETTF) bids which have been developed by individual Practices and 
the CCG to seek funding to move forward the Strategy as set out in the SEP. 

Securing ETTF funding is critical to the CCG’s ability to deliver the required changes in a 
timely and planned manner.

This version of the SEP, the third, is aligned with the Sustainability and Transformational 
Plan (STP) and Digital Road Map and sets out in detail the following elements:

a) The rationale and approach to developing the SEP

b) The drivers in terms of commissioning strategies, health inequalities  and 
demography changes, emerging clinical model, finances and estates

c) The current estate position in terms of type of facility, ownership, condition where 
known and costs

d) Known estate needs linked to demographic changes and / or condition and capacity 
of existing estate

e) Outline detail of the potential estate solutions to meet the local drivers and needs 
which are then reflected in the submitted ETTF bids

Going forward work will concentrate on:

 Finalising the  clinical model requirements and linking this to the estate solution in 
terms of service and healthcare planning

 Carrying out detailed options analysis of locations, where required, leading to a 
determination of preferred locations

 Identifying the resource implications of individual developments based on services, 
location and size. This will include, through identification of current resource 
available, the potential funding gap for each development and the measures to 
address this gap.

 Developing robust project plans for individual developments and progressing them 
through the Business Case process i.e. developing and submitting PIDs and 
Business cases as required including considering procurement options and planning 
permission requirements

 Continuing robust engagement with our Local Authorities to review their approach to 
planning obligations and developer requirements to ensure the most appropriate 
delivery mechanisms are applied through future planning determinations. 

Proposal and / or Recommendation
The DGS HWBB are asked to note the report and further briefing reports will be 
provided as the strategy id implemented.

Link to CCG Strategic Objective(s)



SO1 – Reducing Inequalities and 
Prevention of ill Health

SO2 – Quality, Safety and 
Safeguarding

SO3 – Commissioning Comprehensive 
Healthcare

X SO4 – Value for Money X

SO5 – Effective Engagement SO 6 – Innovation, Education and 
Research

SO7 – Corporate Governance and 
Reputation

Link to CCG Corporate Objective
Q&S1 - Primary Care Quality (Understanding the gaps and requirements to make 
improvements to Primary Care quality)

Outcome of the Equality Impact Assessment Screening:

Does the EIA screening indicate the need for 
a full EIA? 

No

If yes, has a full EIA been undertaken?

Is this issue registered on the Department / Corporate Risk Register?

No Risk Register Number:

For further Information, please contact:

Name: Debbie Stock Contact number 07979506536

E-mail: Debbie.stock@nhs.net Base: Gravesend Civic Centre



Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 

Strategic Estates Plan 

Stage Three Document  

 

 

15 June  2016 



Executive Summary  Page 1-8 

 

1.0  Introduction  Page 9-10 

1.1 Objectives and Rationale  

1.2 Scope and Methodology  

 

2.0 Vision for the estate   Page 11-12 

2.1 Overarching Principles 

2.2 Commissioning Objectives   

  

3.0 Drivers for Change Page 13-49 

3.1 Socio-economic  

3.2 Service Drivers 

3.3 Emerging Clinical Model 

3.4 Information Management & Technology Strategy   

3.5 Estate 

3.6  Other Drivers  

   

4.0 Current Estate Page 50-61 

4.1 DGS :  Organisational Structure 

4.2 Nature of ownership/Tenure 

4.3 Asset Age and Condition/Suitability 

4.4 Utilisation and occupation (both building and overall site—where available) 

4.5 Financial Summary 

4.6  Estates Performance Analysis  

4.7 Surplus Assets  

5.0 Gap Analysis  Page 61-67 

   

6.0 Estates Options for  change  Page 68-71 

6.1 Summary of Estate Options 

6.2 Evaluation process and criteria 

 

 

7.0 Local Estates Strategy  Page 72-75 

7.1 Outline of preferred option  

7.2 Service Benefit    

 Analysis 

 Impact—efficiencies and benefits 

 

8.0 Implementation and Next Steps Page 76 

 

Contents  



 

 

Appendix 1  Clinical Model Information   

Appendix 2  Estate Overview  

Appendix 3  GP Premises Baseline Assessment RAG Status Overview  

Appendices  



Executive Summary  



1.0 Introduction 

The objectives of this Strategic Estate Plan (SEP) 

are to review the estate in the Dartford, 

Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 

Group (DGS CCG) area and align with 

commissioning service requirements to: 

 

 Identify estate changes in terms of investment 

required and rationalisation opportunities to 

deliver both clinical and financial benefits.  

 

 Identify key priorities for estate development in 

primary care as part of the Estates and 

Technology Transformation Fund programme. 

 

 Support the development of a new clinical 

model supporting integrated provision of 

services which will bring sustainability locally. 

 
The SEP is intended to support the health economy 
to create a fit for purpose estate that provides best 
value, specifically addressing:  
 
 Significant changes in demography and 

population demand  in a planned manner as 

there has been and continues to be extensive 

housing developments, including principally the 

Ebbsfleet Development, but to date the estate 

has not kept pace with these changes and the 

demands it brings  

 

 

 Changes in the way that health care services 

are provided - specifically reflecting plans for 

integrated health and social care, greater levels 

of care within communities, opportunities of 

technology and new commissioning models;  

 

 Challenges in funding and affordability.  

 
The plan adopts a system wide view that is 
integrated with the principles of the Sustainability 
and Transformation Plan (STP), The Digital 
Strategy and One Public Estate Programme.  
 
The options set out in this document are for 
discussion purposes. The involved NHS bodies 
understand and will comply with their statutory 
obligations when seeking to make decisions over 
estate strategies which impact on the provision of 
care to patients and the public. The options set out 
do not represent a commitment to any particular 
course of action on the part of the organisations 
involved.  
 
In respect of any request for disclosure under the 
Freedom of Information Act (FoIA), this is a 
confidential document for discussion purposes and 
any application for disclosure under the Freedom 
of Information Act 2000 should be considered 
against the potential exemptions contained in s.22 
(Information intended for future publication), s.36 
(Prejudice to effective conduct of public affairs) 
and s.43 (Commercial Interests). Prior to any 
disclosure under the FoIA the parties should 

discuss the potential impact of releasing such 
information as is requested. 
 
The SEP is being developed in an inclusive manner 
with our key stakeholders and partners who are 
shaping the emerging themes and priorities. 
Currently engagement is with our constituent GP 
practices, key Health and Social Care providers 
and local Planning Authorities. We are 
concentrating on developing the clinical model at 
this point in time as this is the lynchpin on which 
the estate strategy will be built. 
 

We will ensure we engage and consult at the 
appropriate time and in a meaningful way with our 
patients, users of service and local communities. 
We know this will influence our timescale for 
signing off the SEP but in view of the significant 
scale of change in Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley we believe it vital we take the time to 
consider the impact of the extensive housing 
developments so we can best deliver services to 
our existing and new population in an affordable 
and sustainable way.  

 

Page 1 



2.0 Commissioning Vision  

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG’s aim is 
to create a long-term sustainable health care 
system whereby primary, community, mental 
health and acute care services work seamlessly 
together with our local authority, voluntary and 
other independent sector organisations to deliver 
improvements in both health and well-being for 
local people and their communities and ensure a 
sustainable care economy.   

 

The estate needs to equally support and drive 
these aims and visions by: 

 

 Being in the right location, in good condition 
with the facilities and capacity to act as centres 
in which care can be delivered for the existing 
and new populations.  

 

 Supporting and driving the increased use of 
technology.  

 

 Influencing our local communities, existing and 
new to the benefits of sustainable healthy living. 

 

 

 

 

 

 Enabling the provision of out of hospital care 
as locally as possible, and particularly to 
support our aging population to maintain their 
health and wellbeing  in their communities as 
long as possible, ensuring they are self-reliant 
and are able to access health and social care 
advice, information and treatment as easily as 
possible. 

 

 Specifically delivering sustainable solutions to 
the new and growing populations at Ebbsfleet 
Garden City, across the Dartford, Gravesham 
and Swanley areas and in our neighbouring 
Boroughs which will place significant demands 
on our services especially primary care that are 
already under pressure. 

 

 Enabling our GPs to work differently with other 
GP practices and across the care spectrum, 
sharing back office facilities and using 
digitalisation effectively. 

 

 Supporting our PFI Hospital to become 
financially sustainable and cope with patient 
demand from both existing and new 
populations 

 

Page 2 



3.0 Drivers for Change  

3.1 Service Drivers  

 

The key drivers for change can be seen in Table 1: 

 

Table 1: Drivers for Change 

Service Drivers What How 

Five Year Forward View 
Different models of care 

System transformation 

 Integration of services 

 Community hub model providing integrated health and social care 

 Out of hospitals services and prevention of hospital readmissions for 
older people over 75 years 

Digitalisation 
Greater use of digitalisation leading to 
changing clinical models and release of 
space 

 Integrated patient records 

 Access to self-care through apps 

Primary Care Challenges 

Workforce and morale issues 

Estate Issues 

Funding Issues 

 Collaborative working across GP practices and between GP practices 
and other providers e.g. pharmacies 

 Greater multidisciplinary working with community, mental health and 
social care 

 Integrated education across peers  

 Integrated primary care records, moving to fully integrated patient care 
records 

 Understanding the current estate, reviewing utilisation and identifying 
future needs to support collaborative working across GP practices. 

 Using information to promote and improve quality and safety – 
smoothing out GP variation and improved prescribing  

Page 3 



3.0 Drivers for Change, continued..  

 

Page 4 

Demographic Drivers What How 

Increased housing targets 

Extensive housing growth in Ebbsfleet, Dartford, the 
Gravesend area and Swanley.  

Between now and 2035 our population is set to grow by 
circa 22% with the most rapid growth by 2025.  

This growth varies by area e.g. in Dartford there is an 
expected 43% population increase by 2026 

Developments identified in the adopted Local Plans will 
result in an additional population of 57,749 people 
assuming 2.4 people per unit of accommodation and  

requiring an additional 32 GPs 

This increase is the minimum expected increase and will 
further increase  following the reviews of the Core 
Strategies 

Use of Section 106 and CIL funding together with identifying other 
funding sources to enable required facilities / services to be developed 

New and expanded facilities are required to meet planned growth  across 
the CCG area 

Need to review approach to planning obligations and developer’s 
requirements to ensure most appropriate delivery mechanisms are 
applied through future planning determinations 

Greater collaboration of practices 

Clinical models of care to enable health provision to new and existing 
populations 

Better use of existing facilities  

Health Inequalities 

Dartford is ranked 170 most deprived council areas, with 
Gravesham ranked 124 and Sevenoaks is ranked 272 out 
of the 326 local authorities. 

 Areas of Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley are within the 
bottom quintile (20%) on the national deprivation scale. 

At ward level, the highest levels of deprivation are found 
within Littlebrook Joyce Green and Princes (Dartford), 
Singlewell, Northfleet North and Central (Gravesham), and 
White Oak and St Mary (Swanley). 

There is greater ethnic diversity in DGS compared with Kent 
and this brings higher risks of diabetes, heart disease, 
stroke etc. in Asian and African populations 

Obesity is a major factor– 21% of year six children and 
over 20% of adults are overweight. 

The Majority of all deaths relate to cancer, circulatory and 
respiratory disease 

Clinical model of care development and partnership working with other 
statutory agencies (including the voluntary sector). Provision of primary 
and community care facilities in appropriate place to address issues. 



3.0 Drivers for Change, continued..  

 

Page 5 

Estate Drivers What How 

Condition and suitability of current 
estate 

Location of estate may not be appropriate for population 

Space utilisation issues e.g.: 

 Void space in long-term core buildings.  

 Bookable space that is not fully utilised for example, a 
treatment room may be used by one provider for one 
session a day, three days a week.  

 Inappropriate tenants – for example, core clinical space 
is often filled with administration and support services. 

 Lack of joint working across organisations 

Condition and functionality of estate not suitable  

Opportunities to support and reflect different ways of working i.e. the 
Primary Care Integrated Teams, out of hospital care and digital 
technology. 

Ensure through better utilisation increased value for money of existing 
estate 

Offer opportunities for rationalisation which through disposals can 
release funding for use elsewhere 

Use of One Public Estate initiative to make decisions around future estate 
opportunities  

Work with providers to ensure strategies are aligned 

Ebbsfleet Garden City designated a Healthy New Town 

Through Estates and Technology Transformation Funding and capital 
grant monies work with providers to improve the condition of the estate 

Estates and Technology 
Transformation Fund 2016/17 

Opportunity for GPs and CCG to bid for funding to 
support estate and digitalisation transformation. 

CCGs to support bids which are transformational and consistent with the 
SEP. 

We are working with local Practices who are submitting bids for 
transformation funding.  



4.0 Current Estate  

The area covered by this Strategic Estates Plan 

contains:  

 

 The Acute PFI Darenth Valley Hospital  

 The Gravesham Community Hospital  

 3 other significant community health facilities 
 Livingstone Hospital, Dartford West Health Centre and 

 Dartford East Health Centre   

 34 GP practices within 44 premises  

 

The overall size of the health estate is significant. 

The combined floor area is equivalent to about 

9.7 hectares (or 16 full size football pitches).  The 

estate has an operating cost about £46m 

annually.  

 

The largest proportion of the estate is contained at 

the Darent Valley Acute Hospital.  This site 

represents 61% of the estate area and 71% of total 

annual operational costs. 

 

Further detailed analysis of the estate is provided in 

Section 4 of this Strategy. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Work in terms of the gap analysis will be on going 
until the summer 2016. The specific issues that 
need addressing are: 
 
 Finalising work on the clinical model which will 

enable us to determine the exact service make-
up of the community hubs, in which our out of 
hospital services will operate linked to GP 
practices and which feeds into our vision and 
emerging service model.  To determine this we 
will be carrying out specific work around: 

 
 Identifying the local health requirements due 

to the impact of the local housing growth 
and changes in demography  

 The services and facilities the community hub 
will contain including identifying how generic 
each hub should be or whether each hub 
should also have specialist services 

 What specialist out of hospital care services 
should be provided within the hubs e.g. 
diagnostics, maternity etc. 

 Which practices should be the base or form 
the hub and which practices should be 
linked to them 

 Work with Social Care to understand service 
strategies, integration development  and 
priorities for delivery over the next five years 

 Identifying opportunities for co-location with 
KCC services e.g. utilising Children’s 
Centres as specialist centres and using data 
from EPIMs or other relevant data sources 
e.g. GIS to support implementation of 
agreed service changes 

 

We know that for this to be effective it will 
require a level of consultation and engagement 
that will take some time. We expect that work 
will be ongoing in 2016/2017. 
 

 Detailed discussions with Planning Authorities 
and Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to 
access Section 106 funding or Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in relation to any new 
or expanded facilities.  
 

 Work to scope options around some areas of 
specific GP needs. 

 
 From a review of the previous West Kent 

Primary Care Trust Estate strategy we will give 
due consideration to some of their proposals in 
relation to Livingstone Hospital, Dartford and 
Darent Valley Hospital bearing in mind our 
service model and commissioning plans. 

 

5.0 Gap Analysis  

Page 6 



6.0 Estate Options for Change  

A set of criteria have been agreed to ensure there 
is a fair and equitable process for determining any 
requests for funding for estate development 
whether that is: 
 
 New or expanded estate to develop capacity as 

a consequence of service development, 
population growth or practice expansion 

 
 Development of community hubs to progress 

and implement our strategies  
 
 Estate and Technology  Transformation bids 

submitted by GP practices 
 
 Increased use of digital technology 
 
These criteria have been agreed as: 
 
 Fit with commissioning strategies 
 
 Opportunities for co-locating services or 

working in partnership with other services 
 
 Use of technology in an innovative manner 
 
 Value for money considering the opportunities 

the proposal offers for increased utilisation, 
economies of scale, sharing of functions e.g. 
back office functions, rationalisation of estate 

 
 
 
 

 Long term affordability and sustainability, 
including opportunities for supporting or pump 
priming funding e.g. Section 106 monies or 
CIL 

 
 Development in a priority area e.g. of 

significant deprivation or major population 
growth 

 
 Condition of current facilities 
 
We are also aware of some specific estate needs 
which can be seen in Section 4 of this document. 

 

Work to date has identified the estate need for: 

 

 Three locality integrated community hubs 
located in Dartford Town Centre (new facility), 
Gravesham (utilising Gravesham PFI Hospital) 
and Swanley Town Centre (replacement 
facility).  The hubs will provide the wider 
support to the GP practices (spokes) within the 
neighbourhood with the provision of integrated 
services, diagnostics and IT enabling patients to 
be effectively managed and treated in the 
community.  

 

 

 We will explore the potential of additional hubs 
at the White Horse site (Gravesend), Dover 
Road (Gravesend) and Greenhithe (Dartford) to 
address the significant population growth in 
these areas.  

 

 New facilities required as a consequence of the 
significant housing growth the CCG is facing. 
Details of this can be found in Section 2.3. 
New GP facilities are required at:  

 
 Castle Hill, Ebbsfleet, due to the new Garden 

City development, 
 
 Greenhithe, due to the significant growth and 

poor condition / capacity issues of the current 
facilities 

 
 Dover Road, due to the significant growth and 

capacity issues of the current facilities, and 
 
 Temple Hill, Dartford, due to the significant 

growth and poor condition / capacity issues of 
the existing facility. 

 

All of these proposals require detailed work 
around the exact requirements in terms of services, 
size and affordability but the CCG feels that they 
best meet the demands of the current and future 
populations and are suitably transformational to 
ensure sustainability going forward. 

7.0 Local Estates Strategy 

Page 7 



8.0 Delivering the Strategy :  Implementation  

Developing the Strategic Estate Plan is an 
ongoing iterative process which is aligned with 
and needs to reflect the Kent and Medway STP, 
the Digital Road Map and Five Year Forward View 
especially the GP Forward View. Changes will be 
reflected as we progress the development of the 
clinical model and the consequential estate 
solutions. Securing ETTF funding will be critical to 
supporting transformational change. 

 

In the period until late 2016 / 2017 work will 
concentrate on: 

 

 Finalising the clinical model requirements and 
linking this to the estate solution in terms of 
service and healthcare planning 

 
 Aligning the estates strategy with the STP, 

Digital Strategy and Urgent Care review 
 
 Detailed options analysis of locations where 

required leading to a determination of 
preferred locations 

 
 Working with our GP practices in relation to 

Primary Care estate issues identified though the 
baseline validations we have carried out 

 
 Submission of ETTF bids to secure capital 

funding to provide enabling resources to 
implement approved estate developments  

 
 

 Developing robust timescales for individual 
developments and progressing them through 
the Business Case process i.e. developing and 
submitting PIDs and Business cases as required 
including considering procurement options and 
planning permission requirements 

 
 Developing individual programme plans, 

milestones and risk registers for each 
development 

 
 Identifying the resources required to progress 

each development and the overall programme 
 
 Robust engagement with Local Authorities to 

review the approach to planning obligations 
and developer requirements to ensure the most 
appropriate delivery mechanism are applied 
through future planning determinations. This 
will include the need to ensure Section 106 or 
CIL contributions are sought and made 
available for health on a routine basis and 
linked to other funding sources where 
appropriate 

 
 Continuing engagement with Planning 

Authorities, Local Authorities and providers 
around Core Strategy discussions and 
implementation of new models of care 

 
 Continuing engagement with EDC around their 

plans for Ebbsfleet Garden City to inform 
health needs 

 

 

Page 8 



Main Document 



1.0 Introduction  

1.1 Objectives and Rationale  

The objectives of this Strategic Estate Plan (SEP) 

are to review the estate in the Dartford, 

Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 

Group (DGS CCG) area and align with 

commissioning service requirements to identify 

estate changes in terms of investment required and 

rationalisation opportunities which will deliver both 

clinical and financial benefits.  The SEP will also 

enable identification of key priorities for estate 

development in primary care as part of the Estates 

and Technology Transformation Fund programme 

and Sustainability and Transformation Plan. These 

will support the development of a new clinical 

model supporting integrated provision of services 

which will bring sustainability locally. 

 
The approach taken complies with the Department 
of Health and NHS England (NHSE) guidance to 
CCGs dated June 2015.  The SEP is intended to 
support the health economy to create a fit for 
purpose estate that meets the clinical needs of the 
population, optimising the estate utilisation and 
specifically addressing:  
 
 Significant changes in demography and 

population demand  in a planned manner as 
there has been and continues to be extensive 
housing developments but to date the estate 
has not kept pace with these changes and the 
demands they bring  

 Changes in the way that health care services 
are provided - specifically reflecting plans for 
integrated health and social care, greater levels 
of out of hospital care and support within 
communities, opportunities of technology and 
new commissioning models;  

 
 Challenges in funding and affordability.  
 
The plan adopts a system wide view that is 
integrated with the Sustainability and 
Transformation planning, our Digital Strategy and 
the principles of the One Public Estate 
Programme. Kent County Council is a pilot site for 
the Cabinet Office and Local Government 
Association for One Public Estate. Access to EPIMS 
or GIS will facilitate this. 
 
The options set out in this document are for 
discussion purposes. The involved NHS bodies 
understand and will comply with their statutory 
obligations when seeking to make decisions over 
estate strategies which impact on the provision of 
care to patients and the public. The options set out 
do not represent a commitment to any particular 
course of action on the part of the organisations 
involved.  
 
In respect of any request for disclosure under the 
Freedom of Information Act (FoIA), this is a 
confidential document for discussion purposes and 
any application for disclosure under the Freedom 
of Information Act 2000 should be considered 
against the potential exemptions contained in s.22 

(Information intended for future publication), s.36 
(Prejudice to effective conduct of public affairs) 
and s.43 (Commercial Interests). Prior to any 
disclosure under the FoIA the parties should 
discuss the potential impact of releasing such 
information as is requested. 

 
 

1.2 Scope & Methodology  

In developing the SEP, there are six principal 
elements to it namely: 

 

Step 1   Getting prepared 

Step 2   Identifying the current estate in terms of 
location, condition and usage 

Step 3    Identifying the estate needed taking 
into account service, demographic and 
financial drivers 

Step 4   Gap analysis i.e. identifying the gap 
between what there is and what is 
needed 

Step 5  Identification of options for meeting the 
vision and drivers and carrying out 
hypothesis testing on these options 

Step 6  Writing the Strategic Estate Plan 

 

This process can be visualised as follows: 

 
Page 9 



The SEP is being developed in an inclusive manner 
with our key stakeholders and partners who are 
shaping the emerging themes and priorities. 
Currently engagement is with our constituent GP 
practices, key Health and Social Care providers 
and local Planning Authorities (including both 
County and Borough Councils). At this time, we 
are concentrating on developing the clinical 
model at this point in time as this is the lynchpin 
on which the estate strategy will be built. 
 
A Communications and Engagement Strategy is 
emerging and will set out how we plan to consult 
with our residents on the principles and proposals 
within this SEP, in terms of clinical service model 

and the estate solutions to deliver this model. We 
will ensure we engage and consult at the 
appropriate time and in a meaningful way. We 
know this will influence our timescale for signing 
off the SEP but in view of the significant scale of 
change in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley we 
believe it vital we take the time to consider the 
impact of the extensive housing developments so 
we can best deliver services to our existing and 
new population in an affordable and sustainable 
way.  
 
 
 
 

Our Local Estates Forum is proving to be a very 
useful in terms of engaging our partners and to 
fulfil its remit to: 
 
 oversee our plans and ensure proposals are 

driven forward in a timely manner 
 
 ensure high level engagement and consistency 

with our partners in terms of their estate needs 
and our commissioning strategies 

 
 challenge assumptions to ensure plans are 

robust, affordable and necessary 
 
 

Page 10 



2.0 Vision for the Estate  

2.1 Overarching Principles   

DGS CCG’s vision is to be a clinically led and 
innovative commissioning organisation that puts 
patients first, improves their healthcare outcomes, 
and operates with minimal bureaucracy. For 
effective delivery a whole system approach to the 
delivery of care is imperative.  
 
Our aim is to create a long-term sustainable 
health care system across DGS whereby primary, 
community, mental health and acute care services 
work seamlessly together with our local authority 
(including social services), voluntary and other 
independent sector organisations. This will deliver 
improvements in both health and well-being for 
local people and their communities and ensure a 
sustainable care economy.   
 
The estate needs to equally support and drive 
these aims and visions by: 
 
 Being in the right location, with the facilities 

and capacity to act as centres in which out of 
hospital care can be delivered for the existing 
and new populations.  

 Supporting and driving the increased use of 
technology.  

 Influencing our local communities, existing and 
new, to the benefits of self-care and sustainable 
healthy living. 

 Enabling the provision of out of hospital care 
as locally as possible, and particularly 
supporting our aging population to maintain 

their health and wellbeing in their communities 
for as long as possible. The aim will be to 
ensure they are self-reliant and are able to 
access health and social care prevention 
advice, information and treatment as easily as 
possible and to prevent readmission to 
hospital. 

 Specifically delivering innovative healthcare 
solutions to the new populations at Ebbsfleet 
Garden City, across the Dartford, Gravesham 
and Swanley areas and for our neighbouring 
Boroughs to reduce the demands on our acute 
and primary care services. 

 Enabling our GPs to work differently with other 
GP practices and across the care spectrum 
including sharing functions e.g. patient records, 
back office, use of digitalisation etc. 

 Supporting our PFI Hospital to become 
financially sustainable and cope with patient 
demand from both existing and new population  

 

2.2 Commissioning Objectives  

The Kent Joint Health and Well-Being Strategy sets 
out the following challenging outcomes delivered 
through four priority areas:   

 

 

 

 

The outcomes are: 

 

 Every child has the best start in life 

 Effective prevention of ill health by people taking 
greater responsibility for their health and 
wellbeing 

 The quality of life for people with long term 
conditions is enhanced and they have access to 
good quality care and support 

 People with mental health issues are supported 
to ‘live well’ 

 People with dementia are assessed and treated 
earlier, and are supported to live well 

 

These are being addressed through identified 
priorities which are to: 

 

1. Tackle key health issues where Kent is 
performing worse than the England average 

2. Tackle health inequalities 

3. Tackle the gaps in provision 

4. Transform services to improve outcomes, 
patient experience and value for money 

 

 

Page 11 



The CCG’s approach is to deliver these outcomes 
by providing: 

 

 Proactive, coordinated care: anticipating 
rather than reacting to need and being 
accountable for overseeing a patient’s care, 
particularly if they have a long-term condition.  

 

 Holistic, person-centred care: addressing 
physical health, mental health and social care 
needs in the round and making shared 
decisions with patients and carers.  

 

 Fast, responsive access to care: giving 
patient’s the confidence that they will get the 
right support at the right time, including much 
greater use of telephone, email, video 
consultations and other digital technologies.  

 

 Health-promoting care: intervening early to 
keep them healthy and ensure timely diagnosis 
of illness - engaging differently with 
communities to improve health outcomes and 
reduce inequalities.  

 

 Consistently high-quality care: removing 
unwarranted variation in effectiveness, patient 
experience and safety in order to reduce 
inequalities and achieve faster uptake of the 
latest knowledge about best practice. 

Kent is a “Pioneer” in the Department of Health’s 
Integration Pioneer Programme, which will 
establish new ways of delivering coordinated care. 
Through the Pioneer work, over the next five years, 
across Kent and across all health and social care 
agencies, we will re-design models of care to put 
the individual more in control of their health and 
make a real difference to the way people 

experience health and social care in Kent.  

 

Our Commissioning priorities can be best shown 
in the following diagram 

2.0 Vision for the Estate , continued .. 

Page 12 



3.0 Drivers for Change  

3.1 Socio-economic Drivers 

3.1.1 Current Position   

DGS CCG has a registered population of 258,000 (2015/16) but an 
estimated actual population of 261,579 indicating the housing growth impact. 

It covers the geographical area shown below: 

 

SOURCE:  SHAPE DATABASE 

 

The population is expected to increase by a minimum of 22% as shown in 
Section 3.1.2. This increase will vary across the CCG’s localities for in Dartford 
by 2026 there is an expected 43% increase of population. A key challenge for 
the CCG will be to ensure that the rapid development pace does not result in 
health inequalities for the new populations or the existing communities.  

 

The current population profile of the CCG can be seen in the chart below: 

 

 

 Page 13 



In line with the national picture, Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley has an ageing 
population with a predicted 8% increase in the 
local population by 2020, which means a total of 
20,800 more people, with the largest percentage 
increases expected in the 0-4-year-old group and 
over 65 age group, for example. This increase 
includes 2,800 more people aged 85+ (34% 
increase).  

 

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 

which sets out local health priorities tell us that the 

predicted increase in older people is coupled with 

an increasing prevalence of chronic diseases as 

follows:  

 

Adults 

 

 The prevalence of obese adults in Dartford 

(28.2%) and Gravesham (28.5%) is significantly 

higher than England (24.2%); 

 

 There are significantly fewer physically active 

adults in Dartford (8.6%) compared to England 

(11.5%).  The rate for Gravesham is 10.4%; 

 

 The number of admissions to hospital due to 

alcohol specific conditions has been rising year 

on year, particularly for males. 

Children 

 

 There are significantly fewer physically active 

children in Gravesham (47.1%) compared to 

England (55.1%).  The rate of Dartford is 

significantly higher at (62.0%); 

 In Dartford (22.7%) the proportion of Year 6 

children who are obese is significantly greater 

than that for England (18.7%).  The rate for 

Gravesham is 19.9%; 

 Dartford and Gravesham are also projected to 

have a significant increase in the 0-19-year 

population in the next 16 years unlike other 

areas in Kent except Ashford.  

 Infant mortality rates for the CCG are lower 

than those for Kent but it is important for the 

CCG to ensure good breastfeeding rates, 

reduce smoking in pregnancy and other factors 

that impact on the prevalence of immaturity 

related diseases for babies. 

 

Data for Swanley is reported within the Sevenoaks 

health profile, which means that the local needs 

are masked by more affluent /healthier areas. 

However, more detailed data demonstrates that 

Swanley has: 

 High levels of smoking prevalence in the most 

deprived areas, at over 35%; 

 

 Many practices have higher levels of obesity for 

adults, dementia, diabetes hypertension, chronic 

heart disease and chronic respiratory diseases 

than reported for Kent and Medway, and 

England. 

 

 

Prevalence 

 

 The population of Dartford, Gravesham and 

Swanley has a higher prevalence of 

hypertension, hypothyroidism, chronic kidney 

disease and obesity, than England; 

 

 The population of Dartford, Gravesham and 

Swanley is more ethnically diverse that the rest 

of Kent with a larger Asian population. As 

southern Asians have a higher risk of 

developing some conditions such as diabetes, 

this may go part way to explain the increased 

prevalence. 

 

 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 14 



Morbidity 

 

Emergency hospital admissions can be an 

indicator of how well patients are being managed 

within primary care: 

 

 Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley has a higher 

emergency admission rate than Kent and 

Medway for diabetes, dementia and coronary 

heart disease; 

 

 The trend for Coronary Heart Disease shows a 

decline in emergency admissions.  Emergency 

admissions for the other conditions mentioned 

are increasing. 

 

Mortality 

 

The main causes of death (73.4%) are attributable 
to three main diseases:  

 Circulatory disease (31.3%); 

 

 Cancer (28.9%) – specifically cancers of 

digestive organs, respiratory organs, breast and 

prostate; and 

 

 Respiratory diseases (13.1%). 

Relative Deprivation 

 

Poor health outcomes are associated with relative 

deprivation and are generally seen in populations 

that live in more deprived areas. Relative 

deprivation is the single biggest contributor to 

health inequalities. 

3.0 Drivers for Change, continued..   

Page 15 



Using a rank of one to indicate the most deprived 

district council area in England, Dartford is ranked 

170 most deprived council areas and Gravesham 

is ranked 124 out of 326 local authorities.  

Sevenoaks is ranked 272 out of the local 

authorities. Within Kent, Dartford is ranked the 

seventh most deprived and Gravesham fifth, out of 

a total of 12 districts. In addition, areas of 

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley are within the 

bottom quintile (20%) on the national deprivation 

scale. This level of deprivation has been identified 

as contributing to lower life expectancies.  

 

At ward level, the highest levels of deprivation are 

found within Littlebrook Joyce Green and Princes 

(Dartford), Singlewell, Northfleet North and 

Central (Gravesham), and White Oak and St Mary 

(Swanley) as shown below: 

 

The poorer 

people 

are, the 

more likely 

they are to 

experience early onset disability and chronic 

disease and a shorter lifespan. This is because 

people with low socio-economic status are at 

greater risk of behaviours causing ill health - 

smoking, poorer diet, less opportunity to take part 

in social activities and poorer mental health. 

 

This difference in equity between those living in the 

most deprived areas compared with those living in 

the least deprived areas can be shown as a slope 

on a graph. Below is the slope index of inequality 

for Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley. 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 16 



People living in DGS have a life expectancy of 
80.9 which is lower than the Kent and Medway 
average of 81.1 years. DGS also has a slightly 
higher Slope Index of Inequalities (SII) score of 5.8 
compared with Kent and Medway average of 5.6. 
 
Although the ambition is to improve health 
outcomes for all residents of Dartford, Gravesham 
and Swanley, it is essential that the gap between 
the most and least deprived is reduced otherwise 
there is a risk of only improving health outcomes 
for those in the least deprived areas who are often 
already engaged with health services. 
 
Local Priorities 

Priorities in DGS include improving the levels of 
healthy weight, enhancing the quality of care 
around mental health, reducing the prevalence of 
smoking, alcohol and drug misuse, and reducing 
the incidence of falls. 

 

3.1.2 Demographic Changes  

The boroughs of Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley are planning for significant housing 
growth and economic development between now 
and 2030 with growth starting now but with the 
most rapid increase between 2015 – 2025. 

 

The Developments identified in the adopted Local 
Plans for each Council can be summarised as 
shown in Table 2: 

 

Table 2:  

Summary of Developments identified in the 

adopted Local Plans in DGS CCG Area up to 

2030  

Source: Local Plan Core Strategies for Dartford Borough 

Council adopted 2011, Gravesham Borough Council 

adopted 2014, and Sevenoaks District Council adopted 

2011 

 

Using the information available on SHAPE which 
maps the 10 years housing trajectories we know 
that the number of dwellings per area to the end 
of 2025 is currently set for: 
 
Dartford 11,177 
Gravesham 3,277 
Swanley 306 
 
 

As we will show below we know that the 
Developments identified in the adopted Local 
Plans are the minimum increase and will base our 
estimates on the Local Plan figures rather than 
SHAPE.  
 
The major development sites based on the current 
Local Plans are shown on the maps below and 
broken down as shown in Table 3: 
 
 

Borough Total Homes New Population 

Dartford 17,270 41,448 

Gravesham 6,170 14,808 

Swanley 622 1,493 

Total 24,062 57,749 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 17 



Major Development Sites in Dartford: Major Development Sites in Gravesend 

Ebbsfleet Garden  

City Development  

Page 18 



Borough Development Number Total Timescale 

Dartford Dartford Town Centre 1,030 17,270  

 Northern Gateway 2,040     

 Ebbsfleet Garden City (Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry) to Stone 7,850   
2015 – 2030 with average  
1,000 dwellings pa 

 The Thames Waterfront, including on the Swanscombe Peninsula 3,750     

 Other Sites North of the A2 2,400     

 Sites South of the A2 200   

       

Gravesham Northfleet Embankment and Swanscombe Peninsula East 1,030 6,170 
At least: 

325 dwellings pa up to 2018/19, 

 363 dwellings pa for 2019/20 – 
2023/2024, 

438 dwellings pa for 2024/2025 
– 2027/2028. 

We know that these targets have 
not been met in recent years due 
to a number of factors.         

  Gravesend Riverside East and North East Gravesend 780   

  Gravesend Town Centre 890   

  Ebbsfleet (Gravesham) – Springfield Quarter  690   

  

Rest of Borough 

Identified (including 500 dwellings on Land at Coldharbour Road 
key site)  

Unidentified 

  

1,550 

1,240 

  

     

Swanley Swanley Town Centre regeneration   622 
160 units pa across the whole  
Borough 

Table 3: 

Breakdown of Developments identified in the adopted Local Plans in DGS CCG Area up to 2030 from Local Plans 

Source: Local Plan Core Strategies for Dartford Borough Council adopted 2011, Gravesham Borough Council adopted 2014, and Sevenoaks District Council adopted 2011 



Assuming a population growth of 2.4 per unit 
these figures give an anticipated additional 
population of 57,749 however we know that these 
figures are a minimum and will be expected to 
increase: 
 
 Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) 

considers there is scope for more intensive 
development and is carrying out master 
planning work to assess how this could be 
achieved but have indicated to us they are 
looking to increase from 11,000 dwellings to 
15,000 dwellings. 

 
 Gravesham Council is currently undertaking a 

Strategic Housing and Economic Needs 
Assessment This will inform a consultation on 
Growth Options in 2016. It is anticipated that 
the number of dwellings needed in the Borough 
by 2028 will increase.  

 
 Sevenoaks Council is currently undertaking a 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment which 
demonstrates a need to increase housing 
targets from 160 units per annum (pa) to 
around 600 units pa.  

 
 This figure does not take account of green belt 

land (93% of the Council’s area) or Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) (60%) 
which will reduce the targets. Swanley Town 
Centre and Hextable is one of the areas in the 
Borough which does not fall into AONB and a 
master plan is being developed to consider 

potential for development. The timescale for the 
master plan is around 18 – 24 months but an 
indication of development should be available 
within 12 months. 

 
 This does not take account of permitted 

developments which do not require planning 
permission or families sharing facilities. Data 
on concealed households which compares 
populations between the 2001 and 2011 
census, suggests an increase of 80% for 
Gravesham and 140% for Dartford. We know 
that in areas of high deprivation as market 
prices rise concealment levels increase.  This 
places an unquantifiable demand on health 
services. 

 
 
This scale of development will bring significant 
challenges in terms of health and health facilities 
and will require a robust response to ensure health 
needs can best be met in the right place and at 
the right time.  It is expected that new or greatly 
expanded facilities will be required to 
accommodate these patients.  Based on the 
57,749 population growth and assuming that an 
average GP manages a patient list of 1,800 
patients, over time an estimated additional 32 
GPs would be required. This does not take into 
account the likely increase in numbers across the 
patch or GPs required to replace retiring or 
departing GPs as this is not quantifiable at this 
point. 
 

We also know that the scale of development is 
accelerating. We know that the Ebbsfleet 
developments have averaged 25 a year to date 
but in 2016 it is expected that over 2,500 
dwellings will be constructed. Plans for health 
provision will need to be flexible enough to 
respond to the phasing of the demands and the 
changing nature of the demands. Facilities will 
need to be capable of growth to accommodate 
the new populations throughout the duration of 
the development years.  
 
In terms of Section 106 Contributions and / or 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Contributions 
we understand that: 
 
 It is worth noting that a specialist health 

developer at the Eastern Quarry site within 
Ebbsfleet Garden City has been appointed and 
is currently putting some pressure on the CCG 
to commit to a new facility. However, we have 
indicated that this needs to be part of the 
Strategic Estate Planning process.     

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 20 



 In relation to the Eastern Quarry site, there are 
triggers to build a health facility to a 
specification agreed with an operator but for 
those facilities to be rented at a market value 
rate to be determined by a District Valuer.   

 
Furthermore, the Section 106 sets out 
requirements around the need for a health 
impact assessment at a certain point if 
agreement has not been reached over a facility 
and if the findings show health needs not 
adequately met then a small GP centre is 
required to be constructed by the developer.  

 

Therefore, there is no specific financial 
planning gain however EDC has access to 
£310m of funding for specific projects and has 
indicated their commitment to working with the 
CCG around the potential for health facilities 
accessing this funding if possible.  Points to 
note include: 

 

 The potential need to repay 75% of the 
funding over a 10-year period but to be 
determined on a project by project basis 

 This facility can be sited within the EDC red 
line area or within the wider impact area 
which includes Dartford and Gravesend.  

 

Discussions have commenced to identify need 
and how to access. 

 In terms of Dartford Council, we know that: 
 They operate a CIL and the allocation of CIL 

funding will be decided by the Council. 
There will be an opportunity to negotiate for 
funds for the health developments required.  

 There are also 2 agreed Section 106 
Contributions: 

Northern Gateway East and Mill Pond 
Development (north of the town centre) 
£320,000 towards cost of a new facility to 
be paid after 150th unit (this will be 
triggered soon) 

 

Stone House Hospital (Stone) £230,000 for 
health provision –  paid and held by the 
Council 

 A further development at St James Lane Pit 
at Stone has recently had approval in 
principle subject to signing the Section 
106.  The Heads of Terms for the Section 
106 includes a requirement for the 
developers to masterplan a site for a 
medical centre on normal commercial terms 
i.e. constructed by the developers and 
rented at market value. There is no 
opportunity to influence this as the CIL is 
now the mechanism for health provision. 

 

 

We are working closely with Dartford Council 
to ensure that for developments going forward 

there is appropriate planning gain to recognise 
the impact of the extensive housing growth and 
impact on health service provision, to ensure 
the CCG is able to provide health services to 
meet the needs of the new populations. 

 

 NHS England local team is holding £137k in 
relation to housing developments at West Hill 
which are available for use for suitable 
developments in that locality 

 
 Gravesham Council currently does not have a 

CIL and Section 106 contributions for health 
have been limited to date due to financial 
viability discussions. 

 
 Sevenoaks District Council have an adopted 

CIL Charging Schedule and have started 
receiving money. They will be looking to 
allocate funds through their CIL Spending 
Board once £250k is available for spending, 
following directions as required by the CIL 
Regulations. To date around £160k has been 
collected from liable developments within the 
District. There will be an opportunity to apply to 
the CIL Spending Board for capital funding, to 
improve health or medical infrastructure within 
the DGS CCG area which operates in the 
Sevenoaks District. Any funding given cannot 
be spent outside of the Sevenoaks District area 
and can be spent on Infrastructure only.  

 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 21 



Paramount Development 

Paramount are planning a major theme park 

within the DGS boundaries.  A planning 

application is likely to be submitted in summer 

2016. If this is approved, the theme park is 

expected to take around 5 years to build with over 

6,000 workers constructing it. During the 

construction phase these workers and their families 

would need to be housed and access health 

services. Once operational in 2021 the park 

would be likely to attract between 60,000 – 

90,000 visitors a day. These numbers exclude staff 

who are likely to reside locally. 

 

If the Paramount Development does not go ahead 

EDC would look at the site as a potential 

opportunity for further housing. Two Ebbsfleet 

Garden City Framework Masterplans will be 

developed– one with Paramount and one without 

Paramount. 

 

Bexley 

In addition to these developments within our CCG 

area, Bexley which is our neighbouring Authority 

has a significant growth agenda which will have a 

cross boundary impact on our services. 

Table 4 sets out Bexley’s plans are for 

development: 

 

Table 4: 

Bexley Council’s Developments identified in the 

adopted Local Plan 

We know that: 

 

 Residents of Erith, Slade Green and Crayford 

are most likely to use our services 

 In the period 2016 – 2020 Bexley are seeking 

to meet their local plan targets of 450 new 

units per year 

 The most rapid and intensive development is 

expected to be after 2025 and is most likely to 

be subject to major infrastructure projects 

3.2 Service Drivers  

3.2.1 Five Year Forward View  

 

The Five Year Forward View sets out proposals for 

transforming the NHS through a range of 

measures most significantly by: 

 

 A radical upgrade in prevention and public 

health 

 Breaking down barriers in how care is provided  

 Investment in primary care especially with 

funding to upgrade primary care infrastructure 

and scope of services 

 Locals health communities deciding which care 

delivery model best suits them e.g. Multi-

speciality community providers; primary and 

acute care systems; integrated urgent and 

emergency care networks 

 Prevention of readmissions for older people 

over 75 years 

 Utilising digital technology to support providers 

and patients and address capacity issues  

 

The vision set out in the Five Year Forward View is 

shared by our CCG and work has already 

commenced on developing integrated service 

provision around GP practices and interoperability 

of the patient record between GPs and the Acute 

Hospital to improve patient care.  

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 22 

Development New Units 

Erith 2,500 

Slade Green 2,000 

Belvedere 11,000 

Thamesmead / Abbey Wood 5,000 

Crayford 1,000 

Rest of Borough 3,000 

Total 24,500 



3.2.2 Sustainability & Transformation Plan  

The purpose of the STP is to support and facilitate 
transformation locally by enabling: 
 
 Local leaders coming together as a team 
 Developing a shared vision with the local 

community which involves local government 
 Programming with a coherent set of activities to 

make it happen 
 Execution against the plan 
 Learning and adapting 

 
A Kent and Medway STP is being developed and 
will include the strategic change proposals 
contained in this Strategy. The 4 main focus areas 
of the STP are: 
 
 Self-care and prevention with identified health 

and finance benefits 
 Strengthened primary care and integrated out 

of hospital care (including mental health and 
social care) 

 Acute hospital strategy (including mental 
health): 
 East Kent Strategy Board 
 A21 / A229 
 Pan Kent and Medway services (e.g. hyper 

acute stroke and vascular surgery) 
 Cost reduction measures (including “Carter” 

efficiencies) 
 
The enabling measures to deliver this are: 
 Digital: 

 To support direct care, including prevention 
and self-care 

 To support the sharing of patient 
information (including more electronic 
information in hospitals) 

 To support us to develop a better 
understanding of how the system is 
operating and the demands being placed 
upon it (informatics) 

 Workforce:  
 Recruiting and retaining the required staff  
 Initiatives to address the challenge that the 

number of posts that local organisations 
are seeking to fill is greater than the 
number of people within the employment 
market) 

 Transforming the roles of our staff to deliver 
new care models. 

 Estates: optimise utilisation 
 Leadership: develop shared system leadership 
 
The STP will become the single application and 
approval process for being accepted onto 
programmes with transformational funding for 
17/18 onwards. The next steps for the STP are: 
 
 Modelling to better understand financial and 

capacity gap 
 Work-up four focus areas 
 30th June 2016 checkpoint submission 

(stocktake of work in progress) 
 July review meeting with NHS England and 

NHS Improvement 
 

3.2.3 Urgent Care Review   

In response to the Five Year Forward View, DGS 
CCG in liaison with Medway and Swale CCGs 
established a programme to review and redesign 
urgent care services across the North Kent areas.  
However, following the national directive in July 
2015 to suspend all procurements of NHS 111 
and Out of Hours (OOHs) services, all activities 
related to Urgent Care redesign and procurement 
were put on hold until late 2015, when new 
commissioning standards for an Integrated OOHs 
and 111 Service were published.  
 
The three CCGs are now reviewing timescales for 
re-start of their respective redesign programmes, 
ensuring integration with the primary care clinical 
model and are implementing programme 
governance structures to take the work forward. 
The contracts for existing NHS 111 services and 
Out-of-Hours providers have been extended to 
March 2018 in order to enable completion of the 
redesign programme, with potential for new 
services to be procured and in place by autumn 
2017. 
 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 23 



Potential local solutions to meet the guidance are 
being reviewed including procurement of a single 
111 service across North Kent, functionally 
integrated with the three local Urgent Care /
primary care Models in Swale, DGS, and Medway 
which would provide economy of scale in terms of 
the 111 service, whilst enabling local solutions for 
service configuration. The local APMS contract 
which includes the Walk in Centre is being 
reviewed as part of this process. 

 

During 2016/17, the North Kent CCGs will 
engage and consult with patients and other 
stakeholders in the review of current services and 
design of the urgent care system in line with the 
guidance.  

 

3.2.4 Better Care Fund Programme 

The North Kent Better Care Fund (BCF) 
Programme has been set up to transform the 
delivery of health and social care in a more 
integrated way, through the use of a single pooled 
budget to support closer working between local 
organisations. It offers an important opportunity 
for CCGs to work with its partners to meet the 
needs of a rapidly ageing population better, and 
by doing so, ease the pressure on the system more 
generally, enabling it to provide better services to 
the whole population.   

 

This initiative is focused on supporting people, 
wherever possible, to live as independently as 
possible, with person-centred and professionally-

led primary, community, mental health and/or 
social care.  There are 3 key strands to the Better 
Care Programme and all are underpinned by 
Digital technology: 

 

Integrated Primary Care Teams 

Integrated Discharge Team 

Integrated Dementia Service 

 

Strand One - Integrated Primary Care Teams 

Within these Teams, the GP will remain 

accountable for patient care, but with increasing 

support from other health and social care staff, to 

co-ordinate and improve the quality of that care 

and the outcomes for the individuals involved.  

The aim is to provide: 

 

 GPs at the centre of integrated multidisciplinary 
health and social care teams, coordinating and 
organising people’s care.  

 
 Proactive and responsive care with flexible 7-

day provision; 
 
 A focus on keeping people well and supporting 

them to self-manage, using risk stratification 
and other prediction tools and technology to 
identify those at risk of hospital admission, re-
admission or long term care, and those who 
are regular users of other services; 

 Joined-up proactive as well as re-active support 
for those individuals with long-term conditions 
and complex health and social care needs. 

 
 Provision of care navigation services to work 

with the multi-disciplinary teams and to support 
patients to obtain the right care and help, 
working closely with the voluntary sector, 
housing and benefit agencies. 

 
  Increased use of advice, information, 

guidance, enablement, rehabilitation and 
telecare. 

 

 

 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 24 



This can be visualised as follows:  

 

To enable this the core integrated Primary Care 
neighbourhood team will comprise the following: 

 

 District Nursing Service  

 Care Managers who together with district 

nurses will take responsibility for case 

management (inclusive of enablement and 

reablement services) 

 Named Community Pharmacy of patient’s 

choice 

 Primary Care Mental Health Practitioner  

 Primary Care Dementia Practitioner  

 Primary Care Health Visitor linked to 

vulnerable adults using public health skills 

(NHS England responsibility) 

 Palliative Care Nurses 

 Health & Social Care Navigators 

 Outreach Acute Physicians and Geriatricians 

 Future consideration depending, the teams 

may also include, Paramedic Practitioners 

 

 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 25 



Strand Two - Integrated Discharge Team  

Work is progressing on developing an approach 

to joint commissioning to accommodate the 

multiple services working into one team from 

different providers.  There is also a major review 

and re-procurement exercises on community care, 

on NHS 111 and on out of hour’s care to improve 

access to care services out of core hours and 

focused on avoiding unnecessary attendance at 

hospital and subsequent admissions. 

 

Strand Three - Integrated Dementia Service  

The current community service provision remains 

fragmented for older adults with dementia and the 

Acute Hospital is experiencing high numbers of 

admissions for people with physical problems 

coupled with dementia that results in longer 

lengths of stay. When interventions are focussed 

on one aspect of a person’s care needs they 

commonly enter the health system in crisis and 

contribute to long lengths of stay in or early 

admission to long term care. 

 

The scheme seeks to improve both the 

coordination and consistency of care through 

implementation of an integrated care pathway for 

dementia. The pathway sets out the process of 

assessment, care and treatment for service users 

with dementia with a particular focus on diagnosis, 

post diagnostic support, crisis management and 

supporting carers to maintain their caring role 

 

The care pathway outlines the need for mental 

health expertise to become an integral function 

within Integrated Primary Care teams to provide 

post diagnostic support and effective case 

management for people with dementia in the 

community.  The ambition is to treat dementia 

under the long term condition model of care 

where a person’s needs are treated holistically 

factoring in physical and mental health needs 

together where services are responsive to 

individual need and carers are supported through 

the journey with dementia. 

 

IT as the Enabler for these three strands 

 In order to support the delivery of high quality 
care within all health settings, it is necessary to 
ensure that sharing of records across health and 
social care becomes routine. As part of the BCF 
Programme, work is underway to develop 

interoperability across organisational boundaries 
i.e. between health and social care database 
systems, to enable shared care planning and data 
intelligence to support clinical care and decision-
making at the time it is needed, whether that is in 
the patient’s home, GP practice, community 
services or acute hospital.  

 

Currently we have implemented interoperable 
patient records between the majority of our GP 
practices and our acute hospital. A second phase 
is now under development to enable the sharing 
of appropriate patient records with community, 
mental health and social care providers. 

 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 26 



3.2.5 Primary Care Strategy   

 

The CCGs Primary Care Strategy is an evolving 
strategy acknowledging the strengths and 
pressures of general practice locally. Key 
challenges in DGS are: 

 

 GP workload is increasing driven by 
unprecedented rise in number of patients and 
growing complexity of their health needs. 

 

 GPs and other healthcare professionals 
working longer hours  

 

 Recruitment concerns of GPs and practice 
nurses as increasing numbers are looking to 
leave the professions 

 

 The NHS budget for general practice has 
reduced by 20% over the last decade. 

 

 The need for practical local arrangements to be 
developed, particularly between GPs and 
consultants to enable more effective working 

 

The strategy can be visualised as  

 

 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 27 



It links closely with the Integrated Care Strategy as 
shown below: 

Workforce capacity is a key issue for the CCG 
especially in terms of the ability to attract and 

retain staff due to the 
CCG’s proximity to 
London. From the autumn 
2015 Workforce return we 
know that: 

 

 There is a reduction of 

the number of GPs over 

55 with an increase by 3% 

in the 25-30 age range 

and a 3% increase in the 

45-55 age range.  

 There are 21 (61.7%) 

GP training practices 

which may help with 

recruitment of the younger 

age range however as 

DGS is so near to London 

many return there making 

retention difficult and also 

may account for the static 

number of GPs in the 35-44 age range.  

 There are also 2 paramedic training practices  

 There is an increased feminisation of trainee 

GPs  

 The number of GPs to fill each post is 1.3 

 The age profile of GP Practice Nurses is 

reducing with only 30% being over 55. The 

number of GPNs under 35 is now 19% from 

14% previously.  

 The number of GP Practice Nurses to fill each 

post is 1.5 

 There are 7 (20.4%) nurse training practice. 

This number needs to continue to increase to 

promote General Practice Nursing in DGS 

 While 2 practices train paramedics and there is 

one pharmacist working within a DGS practice 

there is still a lack of diversity within the 

workforce reducing the employment pool.  

 

Using information available to us from SHAPE and 
from the Health and Social Care Information 
Centre, we have been reviewing current GP 
provision by ward to determine the areas of 
shortfall and have then mapped the position in 
relation to the 10-year housing trajectories. This 
shows us that: 

 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 28 



 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 
WARD 

Number 

of LSOA 

Estimated 

Population 

by LSOA 

(2,000 

residents 

per LSOA) 

Number of 

Housing 

Units Next 

10 Years 

Estimated 

Increase in 

Population  

2.4 

patients 

per 

Housing 

Unit 

10 Year 

Projected 

Populatio

n 

Number of 

GP 

Practices 

per Ward 

(incl  

Branches) 

Name of GP Practices 

Current 

Patient List 

Size Per 

Ward 2  

GP WTE In 

Ward 
GPs over 60 Comment 

Ash and New Ash 
Green 

4 8000 25 60 8060 1 
G82097001:  The 
Surgery (BRANCH) 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

  

Bean and Darent 4 8000 0 0 8000 3 

G82710:  Bennett Way 
Surgery 
G82122:  Bean Village 
Surgery  
G82221001:  The 

16026 3.5 0.2 

  

Insufficient provision based on 
GPs per list size and GPs per 
ward population 

Brent 4 8000 257 616.8 8617 2 

G82006:  Dartford East 
Health Centre 
G82212:  Pilgrims Way 
Surgery 

21198 9.8 0 

Sufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward population but 
insufficient based on GP per list 
size 

Castle 1 2000 340 816 2816 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward population 

Central 4 8000 154 369.6 8369.6 1 
 G82062:  Parrock Street 
Surgery 

2741 1.7 1.7 

Insufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward but sufficient 
provision based on GPs per list 
size 

Chalk 1 2000 0 0 2000 1 
G82690:  Lower Higham 
Road Surgery 

2824 1 0 
Insufficient provision based on 
GPs per list size and GPs per 
ward population 

Coldharbour 3 6000 0 0 6000 1 
G82021:  The Shrubbery 
Surgery 

14788 6 0 

Sufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward population but 
insufficient based on GP per list 
size 

Crockenhill and Well 
Hill 

1 2000 0 0 2000 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward population 

Eynsford 1 2000 0 0 2000 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward population 



 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

WARD 1  
Number 

of LSOA 

Estimated 

Population 

by LSOA 

(2,000 

residents 

per LSOA) 

Number of 

Housing 

Units Next 

10 Years 

Estimated 

Increase 

in 

Population  

2.4 

patients 

per 

Housing 

Unit 

10 Year 

Projected 

Populatio

n 

Number of 

GP 

Practices 

per Ward 

(incl  

Branches) 

Name of GP Practices 

Current 

Patient List 

Size Per 

Ward 2  

GP WTE In 

Ward 
GPs over 60 Comment 

Farningham, Horton, 
Kirby and South 
Darent 

3 6000 0 0 6000 1 
G82218:  Braeside 
Surgery 

5652 1.6 0 
Insufficient provision based on 
GPs per list size and GPs per 
ward population 

Fawkham and West 
Kingsdown 

4 8000 0 0 8000 1 
G82124:  West 
Kingsdown Medical 
Centre 

4057 1.6 0.8 
Insufficient provision based on 
GPs per list size and GPs per 
ward population 

Greenhithe 3 6000 270 648 6648 2 

G82156:  Ivy Bower 
Surgery  (No Workforce 
Data) 
G82122002:  
Greenhithe Surgery 
(BRANCH) 

2497 
Not 

available 
Not 

available 
  

Hartley & Hodsoll 
Street 

4 8000 0 0 8000 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward population 

Heath 4 8000 0 0 8000 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward population 

Hextable 3 6000 0 0 6000 1 
G82722:  Hextable 
Surgery  (No Workforce 
Data) 

3511 
Not 

available 
Not 

available 
  

Higham 3 6000 0   6000 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward population 

Istead Rise 2 4000 0 0 4000 1 
G82809:  Downs Way 
Medical Centre 

12396 7.1 0 
Sufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward population and 
per list size 

Joyce Green 2 4000 1395 3348 7348 1 
G82647:  Temple Hill 
Surgery 

5906 2 1 
Insufficient provision based on 
GPs per list size and GPs per 
ward population 



 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 
WARD 1  

Number 

of LSOA 

Estimated 

Population 

by LSOA 

(2,000 

residents 

per LSOA) 

Number of 

Housing 

Units Next 

10 Years 

Estimated 

Increase in 

Population  

2.4 

patients 

per 

Housing 

Unit 

10 Year 

Projected 

Populatio

n 

Number of 

GP 

Practices 

per Ward 

(incl  

Branches) 

Name of GP Practices 

Current 

Patient List 

Size Per 

Ward 2  

GP WTE In 

Ward 
GPs over 60 Comment 

Joydens Wood 4 8000 0 0 8000 2 

G82206:  Joydens Wood 
Medical Centre 
G82809002:  
Summerhouse Surgery 
(BRANCH) 

2224 0.7 0.7 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per list size and GPs 
per ward population 

Littlebrook 3 6000 681 1634.4 7634 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per ward population 

Longfield, New Barn 
& South Fleet 

4 8000 32 76.8 8076.8 1 
G82097:  Jubilee 
Medical Centre 

16794 13.2 0 
Sufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward population and 
per list size 

Meopham North 3 6000 0 0 6000 1 
G82073:  Meopham 
Medical Centre 

9542 6.1 0 
Sufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward population and 
per list size 

Meopham South & 
Vigo 

3 6000 0 0 6000 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per ward population 

NewTown 4 8000 133 319.2 8319 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per ward population 

Northfleet North 4 8000 1105 2652 10652 1 
 G82648001:  Beaumont 
Drive Surgery (BRANCH) 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

  

Northfleet South 5 10000 589 1413.6 11413.6 3 

G82044:  The Gateway 
Medical Practice 
Y02826:  White Horse 
Surgery  
 G82096:  The Forge 
Surgery 

20701 11.5 0.5 
Sufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward population and 
per list size 

Painters Ash 4 8000 0 0 8000 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per ward population 



 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 
WARD 1  

Number 

of LSOA 

Estimated 

Population 

by LSOA 

(2,000 

residents 

per LSOA) 

Number of 

Housing 

Units Next 

10 Years 

Estimated 

Increase in 

Population  

2.4 

patients 

per 

Housing 

Unit 

10 Year 

Projected 

Populatio

n 

Number of 

GP 

Practices 

per Ward 

(incl  

Branches) 

Name of GP Practices 

Current 

Patient List 

Size Per 

Ward 2  

GP WTE In 

Ward 
GPs over 60 Comment 

Joydens Wood 4 8000 0 0 8000 2 

G82206:  Joydens Wood 
Medical Centre 
G82809002:  
Summerhouse Surgery 
(BRANCH) 

2224 0.7 0.7 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per list size and GPs 
per ward population 

Littlebrook 3 6000 681 1634.4 7634 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per ward population 

Longfield, New Barn 
& South Fleet 

4 8000 32 76.8 8076.8 1 
G82097:  Jubilee 
Medical Centre 

16794 13.2 0 
Sufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward population and 
per list size 

Meopham North 3 6000 0 0 6000 1 
G82073:  Meopham 
Medical Centre 

9542 6.1 0 
Sufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward population and 
per list size 

Meopham South & 
Vigo 

3 6000 0 0 6000 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per ward population 

NewTown 4 8000 133 319.2 8319 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per ward population 

Northfleet North 4 8000 1105 2652 10652 1 
 G82648001:  Beaumont 
Drive Surgery (BRANCH) 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

  

Northfleet South 5 10000 589 1413.6 11413.6 3 

G82044:  The Gateway 
Medical Practice 
Y02826:  White Horse 
Surgery  
 G82096:  The Forge 
Surgery 

20701 11.5 0.5 
Sufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward population and 
per list size 

Painters Ash 4 8000 0 0 8000 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per ward population 



 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

WARD 1  
Number 

of LSOA 

Estimated 

Population 

by LSOA 

(2,000 

residents 

per LSOA) 

Number of 

Housing 

Units Next 

10 Years 

Estimated 

Increase in 

Population  

2.4 

patients 

per 

Housing 

Unit 

10 Year 

Projected 

Populatio

n 

Number of 

GP 

Practices 

per Ward 

(incl  

Branches) 

Name of GP Practices 

Current 

Patient List 

Size Per 

Ward 2  

GP WTE In 

Ward 
GPs over 60 Comment 

Pelham 5 10000 370 888 10888 2 

G82067:  Old Road West 
Surgery 
G82032:  Pelham 
Surgery 

25577 10.4 1.5 

Sufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward population but 
insufficient based on GP per 
list size 

Princes 4 8000 0 0 8000 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per ward population 

Riverside 4 8000 968 2323.2 10323.2 2 

 G82780:  Gravesend 
Medical Centre 
G82648:  Rochester 
Road Surgery 

13633 5.2 0.6 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per list size and GPs 
per ward population 

Riverview 3 6000 0 0 6000 1 
G82021001:  Riverview 
Surgery 

0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per ward population 

Shorne Cobham & 
Luddesdown 

3 6000 0 0 6000 1 
 G82809001:  Shorne 
Village Practice 
(BRANCH) 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

  

Singlewell 5 10000 0 0 10000 1 
G82067001:  Mackenzie 
Way Surgery (BRANCH) 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

  

Stone 4 8000 1163 2791.2 10791 1 
G82221:  Horns Cross 
Surgery 

6056 1 0 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per list size and GPs 
per ward population 

Sutton at Hone and 
Hawley 

3 6000 0 0 6000 1 
G82088:  Devon Road 
Surgery 

6493 2.8 0 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per list size and GPs 
per ward population 

Swanley Christchurch 
& Swanley Village 

4 8000 231 554.4 8554 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per ward population 

Swanley St Marys 3 6000 50 120 6120 2 

G82028:  The Cedars 
Surgery 
G82225:  The Oaks 
Partnership 

20229 9.6 0.7 

Sufficient provision based on  
GPs per ward population but 
insufficient based on GP per 
list size 



 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 
 WARD 1  

Number 

of LSOA 

Estimated 

Population 

by LSOA 

(2,000 

residents 

per LSOA) 

Number of 

Housing 

Units Next 

10 Years 

Estimated 

Increase in 

Population  

2.4 

patients 

per 

Housing 

Unit 

10 Year 

Projected 

Populatio

n 

Number of 

GP 

Practices 

per Ward 

(incl  

Branches) 

Name of GP Practices 

Current 

Patient List 

Size Per 

Ward 2  

GP WTE In 

Ward 
GPs over 60 Comment 

Swanley White Oak 4 8000 0 0 8000 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per ward population 

Swanscombe 4 8000 7072 16972.8 24972.8 1 
 G82122001:  
Swanscombe Health 
Centre (BRANCH) 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

  

Town 3 6000 841 2018.4 8018 2 

G82048:  Horsmans 
Place Surgery 
G82143:  Lowfield 
Medical Centre 

16394 9.8 1.3 
Sufficient provision based on 
GPs per ward population and 
per list size 

West Court 5 10000 0 0 10000 1 
G82032001:  116 St 
Gregorys Crescent 
(Branch) 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

  

West Hill 4 8000 111 266.4 8266 3 

G82056:  The Orchard 
Practice 
G82639:  Maple Practice 
(No Workforce Data) 
G82185:  Dartford West 

20150 9.4 0 

Sufficient provision based on  
GPs per ward population but 
insufficient based on GP per 
list size 

Whitehill 3 6000 33 79.2 6079.2 1 
 G82197:  Lamorna 
Surgery 

2610 1 0 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per list size and GPs 
per ward population 

Wilmington 3 6000 22 52.8 6053 0 None 0 0 0 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per ward population 

Woodlands 4 8000 500 1200 9200 1 
 G82808:  Oakfield 
Health Centre 

7988 3.2 0 
Insufficient provision based 
on GPs per list size and GPs 
per ward population 

Notes  See over 

 



 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Notes   

1. Whilst not all Wards have premises within them the population receives services from local Practices based in adjacent wards. Equally some wards have only 

branch premises sited in them but patients may receive care from other practices based outside that ward.  At this point we do not have access to the bounda-

ries of each GP practice. 

2. Patient List Sizes/Workforce Data:  The patient list sizes and workforce data for individual branch surgeries is not indicated, this information is held at the main 



3.2.6 Community Pharmacies  

Pharmacies are a key provider for delivering 
health and wellbeing messages and support in 
their community. Public Health England’s view is 
that pharmacy teams should be fully integrated 
into local primary care networks, playing an 
appropriate and pivotal role in improving the 
health of people. They are embedding pharmacy 
in their leading public health programmes of:  
 
 Blood pressure - prevention, early detection and 

management  

 NHS Health Checks  

 Dementia awareness programme  

 Flagship diabetes prevention programme  
 

Pharmacies are well placed to reduce some of the 
pressure on primary care and unscheduled care 
through such schemes as Minor Ailments 

 

Kent County Council (KCC) is promoting the 
national Healthy Living Pharmacy Scheme whereby 
Pharmacies are accredited once they have 
demonstrated compliance with quality standards. 

 

Within the CCG area there are 52 Pharmacies. 
Their location can be seen in the map below 

 

 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 35 

Integrated Primary Care Team 

Hub Level Services 

Specialist Services 



Page 36 

3.3 Emerging Clinical Model  

 

Building on the work around all of the above, we 

have been working very hard with our GPs and 

with the Federation to agree the integrated 

primary and community clinical model for the 

CCG going forward. This is actively under 

discussion and we envisage having an agreed 

model by the end of March 2016.  

 

The principles of this model can be visualised as:  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Integrated Primary Care Team 

Hub Level Services 

Specialist Services 

Integrated Primary Care Team 

 GP Practice(s) working in a federated / collaborative network to provide an  

 integrated primary care service 

 

 Attached community team including community nursing i.e. DNs, HVs and Mid-

wives; CPNs; Dementia care; Voluntary Sector; Pharmacists; Paramedic Practi-

tioners; social care support; care navigators 

 

 Focus on prevention - linked to Public Health and Local Authority / health ine-

qualities work 

 

 Focus on complex and long term condition and palliative care patients 

 

 Requirement for robust medicine management; shared patient records and utilis-



 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 37 

Hub Level Services  

 Providing primary care out of hospital services covering a population of 

30,000—50,000, potentially sharing functions and staff. 

 To provide sustainability for GPs in DGS  providing a collaborative approach to 

same day urgent care provision 8am to 8pm.  

 Multi-disciplinary team (how does this link to the GP practice team?) 

 Diagnostic provision required e.g. Ultrasound; triponin (blood marker); faecal 

calprotectin; hot x-ray reporting; CT; MRI 

 Rapid access teams need to be present here to include community and social 

care  

 Elderly frailty unit (over 75+ patients) – to include: Consultant clinics; falls 

prevention; supportive management; step – up beds?; voluntary support to 

address social isolation;  

Specialist Services  

 

 Planned care specialist services 

 

 Acute care non-elective services 

 

 Cancer services 

 

 Step down and Step up provision? 

 

 Consultant services  



Page 38 

There is much more work to do before the model 

is fully defined and accepted and this work at 

continuing at a pace with review of similar models 

and scoping of exactly how this would operate in 

practice being progressed.  Emerging thinking 

indicates:  

The detail around the discussions can be seen at 
Appendix 1.  However our clinicians have 
indicated the need for:  

 A hub in Dartford, potentially in Dartford Town 
Centre but dependent upon appropriate 
facilities around the Temple Hill area to 
address the growth in Northern Gateway and 
Mill Pond and the health inequalities in the 
Joyce Green area 

 A hub in Gravesend most likely utilising the 
facilities more appropriately at Gravesham PFI 
Hospital and possibly incorporating a Multi-
Agency Specialist Hub for disabled children 

 A potential additional hub in Gravesend 
around the White Horse area consequent upon 
the significant growth and linking into the 
urgent care review 

 A potential additional hub in the Greenhithe 
area picking up the significant housing growth 
in this area 

 New facilities (spokes) picking up the significant 
housing growth in Ebbsfleet Garden City and in 
the Temple Hill area of Dartford. 

 A hub at Swanley Town Centre addressing the 
population growth 

 An additional health and wellbeing hub in 
Gravesend picking up the prevention agenda 
and addressing the population growth 

Bids for Estates and Technology Transformation 
Funding (previously Primary Care Transformation 
Funding) have been developed to progress these 
requirements and are supported in principle by the 
CCG. At the time of this Strategy the bids are 
being reviewed and prioritised by the CCG before 
submission to NHS England for  funding. 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 



3.4 Information Management & Technology 

Strategy  

The CCG is developing an IM and T strategy 
which is based around the following principles and 
themes: 
 Estate management principles:  i.e. 

understanding infrastructure asset ownership 

and investment responsibility 

 Health & Care Provider organisation role/

responsibilities picking up end user devices, 

single point access and clinical service model 

requirements designed to support Care pathway 

design. 

 Network connectivity i.e. current provision, 

commissioning intentions, access and security to 

remote host services and availability of Wi-Fi 

 Back office services 

 Telehealth/ Telemedicine – i.e.  virtual 

consultations between patients / Care-nursing 

Homes / Other clinicians; Telemedicine and 

Apps 

 Records sharing / clinical systems integration 

 Document management services i.e. releasing 

storage space in clinical facilities by digitising 

the paper based records and/or using a records 

storage management provider. 

 GP Systems –standardisation to support 

federation and integration to enable more 

effective means to work collaboratively and in a 

more integrated way both federally and with 

other health and care providers in delivering 

efficient and cost effective care.  

 Business & Clinical intelligence / Knowledge 

management 

 

The purpose of the Digital Road Map is to: 

 

 Ensure there is a digital component to all 

transformation initiatives  

 Identify the board, clinical and informatics 

digital champions in DGS & Swale 

 Support local strategic decisions, prioritisation 

and investment 

 Reveal potential for common approaches to 

deliver underpinning infrastructure and solution 

architecture 

 Clarify deployment schedules, critical paths, 

risks and constraints, opportunities for  building 

networks and forming collaborations, common 

knowledge management and benefits 

realisation approaches 

 Facilitate national investment prioritisation, 

identifying ‘economies of scale’ opportunities 

within a region,  and supplier product roadmap 

development 

 Ensure robust on-going governance of delivery 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The vision and outcomes are: 

and the opportunities being considered are:  

Technology bids have been developed for Estates 

and Technology Transformation Funding.  These 

are supported in principle by the 

CCG and are being reviewed and 

prioritised for submission to NHS England.  

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 39 



3.5 Estate 

 

The current NHS estate is in a variable condition. 
It is not always in the right location to deliver local 
services to the population whether existing or new 
and it is often not fully utilised. We need to make 
better use of the existing estate, where issues can 
include:  
 
 Void space in long-term core buildings.  

 

 Bookable space that is not fully utilised for 
example, a treatment room may be used by 
one provider for one session a day, three days 
a week.  

 

 Inappropriate tenants – for example, core 
clinical space is often filled with administration 
and support services. These services could be 
relocated, in most cases more cheaply and the 
space could be used to accommodate 
integrated clinical services.  

 

 Lack of joint working across organisations - 
this can lead to parochial decisions, for 
example, where new buildings are 
commissioned close to existing estate, which 
could have been utilised, potentially negating 
the need for the new estate.  

 

We also know that the public sector estate as a 
whole is not always utilised effectively. There is an 
opportunity to better understand this and develop 
solutions which enable better efficiencies from the 
wider public sector estate. 

 

There is therefore an opportunity to look at the 
estate we have and make decisions, sometimes 
difficult and challenging decisions around what 
estate we need and in what location. By doing so 
the estate can be turned into a significant driver 
for change in that it offers the following: 

 

 Opportunities to support and reflect different 
ways of working i.e. the Primary Care 
Integrated Teams, out of hospital care and 
digital technology. 

 

 Ensure through better utilisation increased 
value for money of existing estate 

 

 Offer opportunities for rationalisation which 
through disposals can release funding for use 
elsewhere 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 40 



3.6 Other Drivers 

As well as these general opportunities there are a 
number of specific drivers in DGS which are 
extremely important: 

 

3.6.1 Ebbsfleet Garden City 

On 16th March 2014 proposals for a ‘locally-led’ 
garden city of up to 15,000 homes, creating a 
new community in the Ebbsfleet, Northfleet, and 
Swanscombe areas of North Kent was announced 
by the Government.  To take this forward the 
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation was 
established with a remit to coordinate investment, 
drive forward development and provide a new 
high quality and well-designed environment. The 
EDC has powers to determine planning 
applications over its designated areas and is 
developing a shared vision and master plan for 
the Garden City reflecting the views of local 
people. 

 

As well as needing to address the health care 
needs of the new population caused by this 
development, there are opportunities to influence 
the design to address health needs by developing 
a healthy community and hence tackle conditions 
such as obesity. Ebbsfleet Garden City has been 
awarded Healthy New Town status. Key elements 
are: 

 

 A commitment to healthy place making in the 
built environment encouraging residents to 
adopt healthy behaviours by making healthy 
options the easiest available.  

 

 Building homes for life to allow residents to age 
in a flexible, adaptive space that meets future 
health and social care needs and contributes to 
supporting a population to maintain 
independence for the long term. 

 

 Innovative use of green space to promote 
health, non-car modes of transport and 
improving physical and mental wellbeing  

 

 Promoting physical activity, healthy eating and 
community engagement through allotments 
and small holdings integrated with schools and 
school facilities  

 

A framework Masterplan for Ebbsfleet Garden City 
is being developed and expected to be ready for 
adoption in July 2016. Consultation has now 
commenced on the plans for Ebbsfleet as part of 
this Master Planning process and we are engaging 
actively with the EDC. Health has featured as one 
of the greatest areas of concern by local residents 
and community leaders i.e. the need for existing 
and new health providers to accommodate the 
expanding population. We need to work together 

to ensure the right services are provided in the 
right place and at the right time. 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 41 



3.6.2 Estat6es and Technology  

Transformation Fund 

 

The intention of the Estates and Technology 

Transformation Fund, is to support and enable 

system wide transformation of primary and 

community services through dedicated resource to 

support practices in developing estate and digital 

infrastructure plans which can demonstrate: 

 

 increased capacity for primary care services out 

of hospital 

 

 commitment to a wider range of services as set 

out in the CCG’s commissioning intentions to 

reduce unplanned admissions to hospital 

 

 improving seven-day access to effective care 

 

 increased training capacity 

 

Seven practices submitted applications for funding 

for the 2015/16 funding. Of these 6 applications 

were not supported by NHSE and 1 application 

was supported in principle but deferred due to the 

need for further work.   

 
 
 

For 2016/17 funding CCGs are required to work 
with practices to agree proposals and submit bids 
for consideration.  Bids will not be considered if 
the need does not feature in the SEP and the CCG 
is required to ensure the bids include phased 
funding plans up to March 2019 which take into 
account long term affordability. 
 
The national deadline for the ETTF bids 
submission has now been pushed back to the end 
of June 2016. The CCG is currently reviewing the 
bids which have been submitted. As part of this 
review the CCG will be required to identify the 
bids they support as meeting the national and 
local criteria and contributing to the proposals in 
this Strategy and prioritise them. The local criteria 
can be found in Section 6 of this document. 
The CCG will support bids which are 
transformational in nature and which meet the 
direction of travel set out in this Strategy. They will 
support and prioritise bids which address: 
 
 The overarching development of the integrated 

primary care community hubs and spokes in 

terms of options appraisals, feasibility studies 

and development costs. 

 

 IT particularly digitalisation, 

 

 individual premises developments as a 

consequence of the need for additional 

capacity due to housing developments  

 
 

 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 42 



3.6.3 One Public Estate  

 

The One Public Estate programme is designed to 
allow local authorities to work with central 
government and local agencies to release assets 
and share land and property information across 
the public sector. Its objectives are to: 

Kent County Council (KCC) is one of the pilot sites 
for One Public Estate and there are opportunities 
for co-location which offer better value for money 
and would release facilities no longer needed. 
Locally there is a commitment to work closely with 
the One Public Estate agenda and to see this as a 
solution to estate issues where appropriate.  Work 
has been underway to map the KCC estate as 
shown below: 

 

We are now working together to link this to the 
mapping work we have been undertaking so that 
we can identify specific opportunities for joint 
working e.g. co-location of services. There are 2 
specific opportunities we are considering: 

 

 Potential for a GP development for a Health 
and Wellbeing Hub utilising KCC land at 
Dover Road Gravesend 

 

 Potential for an integrated health and social 
care hub with associated council services in 
Dartford. This would involve the relocation of 
a number of GP Practices and potentially 
council and mental health services into a new 

purpose built facility. A 
task group has been set 
up to develop this 
proposal and determine 
affordability and value 
for money. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Both schemes are at a very early stage but we are 
working jointly to identify the demand and 
opportunities. We will develop a programme 
approach to delivering efficiency and effectiveness 
across the public estate. 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 43 



3.6.4 Healthcare Provider Strategies 

Our key healthcare providers are: 
 
 Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust (DGT) at 

Darent Valley Hospital (DVH) for acute services 
 
 Kent Community Health NHS Foundation Trust 

(KCHfT) for community services but in 2016 for 
children community services only 

 
 Virgin Healthcare for adult community services 

in 2016 
 
 Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care 

Partnership Trust (KMPT) for mental health 
services 

 
The CCG is working with all its main providers to 

ensure that the estate strategies are aligned and to 

ensure that the clinical model is effectively 

developed and efficiencies identified in terms of 

disposals etc. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Our main providers have shared with us their 

strategic estate plans and we know that: 
 
 
Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust’s strategic 
plans indicate the following intentions: 
 
 Reducing unscheduled care activity by 

supporting primary care providers to support 
patients with long term conditions will create 
space in the estate to develop their tertiary 
care hosting arrangements 

 
 Maximising the use of our existing assets in the 

short to medium term to move towards an 
efficient, generic and flexible asset base laying 
the foundation for strategic service 
development in the longer term. This includes 
ensuring the right capacity is in the right place 
and improving productivity of the assets 
through consolidation and better utilisation. 

 
 Embracing technology to facilitate new ways of 

working including providing services in off-site 
locations.  

 
DGT have identified 3 core development priorities: 
 
 Quality: Providing the best patient 

accommodation possible within financial and 
other constraints to improve healing 
environments, patient experience, and respond 
better to patient choice. 

 
 Flexibility: Moving towards a generic flexible 

model for capacity and space across sites with 
more shared multi-use and less dedicated 
capacity for individual services and 
departments. This will provide more agility to 
rebalance across services and accommodate 
growth and service reconfiguration in the 
future. 

 
 Efficiency: Making the most efficient use of the 

property base including off-site properties and 
non-clinical support space. This will be 
facilitated by embracing IT potential and new 
technologies. 

 

Having said this, DGT’s 5 - 10 Year Plan sets out 
proposals for significant development amounting 
to in excess of £120m taking into account 
National Service Standards requirements, the 
impact of Ebbsfleet Garden City and Paramount 
developments. These are: 
 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 44 



3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 



We also know that: 

 

 Bexley CCG is looking to repatriate activity 
from DVH into Erith Hospital and that currently 
30% of Bexley residents use DVH 

 

 The Better Care Fund priorities have been 
developed to support the reduction in acute 
admissions  

 

 Activity review work undertaken by the Oaks 
Group in 2013 indicated that 38% admissions 
via through A&E could have been treated at a 
different – usually lower level of care to meet 
the patient’s needs. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Further analysis of actual needs and the 
transformational changes to be delivered on 
improving patient care outcomes are being carried 
out to enable system wide agreement on what will 
be strategically required over the next 5 – 10 
years. 

 

 

 

Kent Community Health NHS Foundation Trust  

provides services from properties either owned by 
them or leased from other NHS and non NHS 
Landlords. Their strategic plans based on their 
2013 – 2018 strategy are to ensure the following 
in relation to the estate used by them: 

 

 It is in good condition 

 It is aligned to serve clinical needs 

 The costs are reduced 

 

They have a clear plan to vacate property owned 
by NHS Landlords to find cheaper 
accommodation citing their intention to vacate 4 
properties a year across the entire estate. From a 
CCG perspective we will work closely with them to 
understand the impact of this approach on service 
provision and costs especially if this results in void 
costs in core buildings. On the other hand, this 
can of course be a driver to rationalisation and 
those opportunities will be fully explored. 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page  46 



Virgin Healthcare will be a new provider in 2016 
and we will work with them to understand the 
opportunities in terms of the clinical model, 
digitalisation and estate. 

 

Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care 

Partnership Trust’s strategic aims are to: 

 
 Provide high quality estate fit for purpose 

estate which is shaped by the Trust’s Clinical 
Strategy. 

 
 Reduce the current cost of the estate through 

optimising space utilisation, efficient facilities 
management and sustainability measures 

 
 Modernise the in-patient service units to ensure 

a therapeutic environment for service users 
and a safe workplace for staff. 

 
To achieve this, the following principles inform 
KMPT’s estate action plans. 

 
 The estate must support delivery of the Clinical 

Strategy and services. 
 
 Most people will access their service in primary 

and community settings.  For those people 
requiring higher level, more specialised 
assessment or treatment, modern fit-for-
purpose hospital environments will be 
provided. 

 

 Services will be provided within settings most 
appropriate to the delivery of an effective 
service, in facilities which are cost efficient, 
accessible and comfortable for both staff and 
service users. 

 
 Services will be provided in the least restricted 

environments, as close to home as possible, in 
a way which promotes local access to services. 

 
 For community services a “service hub” model, 

has been developed where most local clinical 
and admin activity is based.  The service 
model is being supported by the establishment 
of major building hubs in local centres.  In 
addition, a number of smaller “satellite” 
buildings will continue to be established to 
maintain and, where possible, improve local 
access for service users and their carers.   

 
 Future service and estate developments will be 

planned and developed jointly with key 
stakeholders, in line with the priorities 
identified in service strategies and will take full 
account of the environmental impact of the 
development, including carbon management 
and sustainability. Particular attention will be 
paid to the views of staff, service users and 
their families 

 
 

 

Specific plans include: 

 

£4.4m on improving acute service facilities in 
Dartford of which 2 wards have been completed 
and the remainder is due for completion in in 
2016 

Discussions with KMPT have indicated the 
potential to relocate community mental health 
services based in a leased facility in Dartford Town 
Centre. They will be included in the feasibility 
considerations in relation to the potential 
development in Dartford. 

KMPT also host Kent and Medway Facilities (KMF) 
who provide planned preventative and reactive 
maintenance for sites owned / leased by NHS 
Property Services, KCHfT and KMPT across the 
County.  A review is currently underway to identify 
how best this service should be provided in the 
future and this will have an impact on CCG 
revenue. 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 47 



3.6.5 Kent Accommodation Strategy 

We are in active discussion with KCC in relation to 

the Kent Accommodation Strategy which is a joint 

strategy between KCC, the CCG and the District / 

Borough Councils and sets out the social care 

requirements across the County. In particular we 

have been discussing the scoping work for 

residential placements for older people taking 

account of population growth and health 

inequalities, to ensure that where possible 

opportunities for integrated developments and co-

location of appropriate services can be achieved.   

Tables 6 a – d provide an overview of KCC’s 

analysis: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 6a  

Older People – Extra Care Housing Requirements 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 48 

District Schemes Units 2021 +/- Known Comments  

Dartford 0.5 20 217 197   40 Manorbrooke 

Gravesham 1 58 172     50 
Wimborne House 
(60 units, 10 LD) 

Swanley 0.5 20  62 42   50 

1. Honeyfields? 
Discussion 
regarding private 
OP retirement 
provision 

2. Whiteoak Court 
EC remodelling 

3. 22 bungalows - 
Kier Kent 



 

Table 6b  :Older People General Frailty Residential  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 6c : Dementia Residential Care   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 6d  : Nursing Care  Home 

3.0 Drivers for Change , continued.. 

Page 49 

District 
Care 

Homes 
Beds 2021 +/- Known Comments 

Dartford 3 93 133 40 0  

Gravesham 5 140 131 -9 0  

Swanley 3 91 86 -5 0  

District 
Care 

Homes 
Beds 2021 +/- Known Comments 

Dartford 6 198 235 37 37   

Gravesham 8 284 231 -53   Approached for dementia care home in Northfleet and Gravesend 

Swanley 1 51 141 90  74 Honeyfields 

District 
Care 

Homes 
Beds 2021 +/- Known Comments 

Dartford 6 427 364 -63     

Gravesham 5 304 357 53   Potential for either dementia care home to be nursing 

Swanley 3 82 219 137   Honeyfields Assuming dementia 



4.0 Current Estate  

The area covered by this Strategic Estates Plan 

contains:  

 The Acute PFI Darent Valley Hospital  

 The Gravesham Community PFI Hospital  

 3 other significant community health facilities  

(Livingstone Hospital, Darford West HC and Dartford 

East HC) 

 34 GP practices within 44 premises  

 

The overall size of the health estate is significant. 

The combined floor area (GIFA) is equivalent to 

about 9.7 hectares (or 16 full size football 

pitches).  The estate has an operating cost of 

about £46m annually.  The largest proportion lies 

with the Acute Hospital as illustrated below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 sets out a detailed schedule of the 

estate, location of its main sites, with key financial 

and performance data.  

APPROXIMATE SPLIT OF ESTATE BETWEEN HEALTH SECTORS 

(based on estimated annual running cost) 

Page 50 



4.1 Dartford, Gravesham & SWANLEY: 

Organisational Structure  

 

Lead responsibility within the NHS for the estate 

lies with the following organisations: 

 

 NHS Property Services for Gravesham PFI 

Hospital, Livingstone Hospital, Dartford West 

Health Centre, Dartford East Health Centre 

 Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust for Darent 

Valley Hospital 

 Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care 

Partnership Trust (KMPT) for acute and 

community mental health facilities 

 GP Practices 

 

We will continue to work closely with these 
organisations to understand their plans for the 
estate and in relation to NHS PS estate, we will 
seek to understand their proposals to reduce the 
cost of the estate e.g. through sustainability 
measures and other programmes focused  at 
improving efficiency and reducing running costs 
and void costs.  

 

The relative proportions are given on the following 
graphics. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

HEALTH DISTRIBUTION BY ORGANISATION  

(based on floor area m²) 

4.0 Current Estate , continued.. 

Page 51 



Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley : Premises 

Summary 

 

 

The total floor area for Dartford, Gravesham and 

Swanley is 97,065 square metres.   

 

Health provision is undertaken at 66 locations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

HEALTH DISTRIBUTION BY PREMISES  

(based on floor area m²) 

4.0 Current Estate , continued.. 

Page 52 



4.2 Nature of Ownership/Tenure 

 

17 % of the health estate is freehold with 11% 

leasehold properties.  

 

There are three significant PFI assets: 

 

 AMH Dartford at Littlebrook Hospital, Dartford 

(KMPT) 

 Gravesham Community Hospital (NHS PS) 

 Darent Valley Hospital (DG NHS) 

 

These three buildings represent 72% of the overall 

estate ownership. 

 

 

Community Health Assets 

 

Overall there are 4 separate community health 

assets of significance, they are concentrated in 4 

locations. They are: 

 

 Gravesham Community Hospital  

 Livingstone Hospital 

 Dartford West Health Centre  

 Dartford East Health Centre 

 

They comprise 67% the total floor area of the 

community care estate and 77% of the running 

costs. They are therefore key to improving services 

and reducing costs across the whole 

estate.  

A summary of Community Health 

Assets is shown in the charts below 

based on annual cost and m². 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SUMMARY OF COMMUNITY ESTATE :  

(based on annual cost) 

SUMMARY OF COMMUNITY ESTATE :  

(based on m²) 

4.0 Current Estate , continued.. 

Page 53 



4.3 Asset Age & Condition/Suitability 

 

We have completed baseline assessments to 
update the information available to us in terms of 
the condition and functionality of the GP premises 
in DGS. 

 

Every surgery has been reviewed against the 
following criteria:  

 

 GP Premises Condition  

 Type of building construction. 

 Patient and staff safety and access 

 Compliance with minimum standards set out in 

the NHS (GMS Premises Costs) Directions 

2013 

 

 GP Premises Capacity to accommodation 

population growth  

 Potential for further development of the site to 

provide additional surgery accommodation. 

 Potential of the surgery premises to be altered/

extended to increase services 

 Practice views around the ability of the premises 

to support the practice in service delivery now 

and in the future 

It is important to note that the ability of the 
premises to be developed to accommodate 
increased populations does not imply the 
availability of workforce. 

 

From this review we have developed two overall 
ratings based on condition of the current facility 
and capacity for growth. The Charts below show 
the RAG rating in both of these areas: 

 

 

 

 

 

The detail by Practice can be seen at Appendix 3. 
We will now work with our Practices to agree how 
we address the issues raised by this assessment 
including wider discussions around workforce. In 
relation to capacity for growth we are factoring 
into this the demands of housing growth. 

 

 

 

4.0 Current Estate , continued.. 

Page 54 



4.4 Utilisation / Occupation  

 

From the information made available to us, there 
has been a lack of information in relation to 
occupation and utilisation across the estate. We 
do know that there is likely to be capacity across 
much of the estate due to the following:  

 

 Clinical space used as admin space 

 

 Underutilisation of bookable treatment 
facilities 

 

 General under-utilisation particularly indicated 
where community teams are based 

 

Consequently, we have requested that utilisation 
reviews of the 4 main assets Gravesham PFI 
Community Hospital, Livingstone, Dartford West 
Health Centre and Dartford East Health Centre be 
carried out. The outcomes of these reviews should 
be available by end of June 2016 and this will 
further inform estate options in relation to the 
clinical model. 

 
We do know from the information provided to us 
that Darent Valley Hospital is advised to be greater 
than 80% utilised. 

4.0 Current Estate , continued.. 

Page 55 



4.5 Financial Summary   

 

Summary of Information on current Dartford, 

Gravesham and Swanley collected and stored on 

SHAPE by Provider  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Notes 

Total  

Number of 
Sites 

Total Floor 
Area GIA 

m² 

Total Floor 
Area GIA 

m² % 

Annual Cost  
£m 

Annual 
Cost 

% 

GP Premises   44 11,622.00 11.98% 2,076,077.00 4.54% 

NHS Property Services Sites  14 19,810.41 20.41% 8,638,256.00 18.87% 

Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust  2 60,193.00 62.01% 33,438,614.00 73.03% 

Kent and Medway Partnership Trust 1 6 5,439.61 5.60% 1,631,883.00 3.56% 

       

TOTAL   66 97,065.02 100.00% 45,784,830.00 100.00% 

       

4.0 Current Estate , continued.. 

Page 56 



SUMMARY OF TOTAL HEALTH ESTATE  

 

 SUMMARY OF COMMUNITY HEALTH ESTATE  

 

 Notes 
GIFA 

M² 

COST 

£ 

DGNHS - Darent Valley 2,6 59,238.00 32,511,967.00 

Gravesham Community Hospital  11,036.00 7,207,213 

AMH Dartford 5 3,036.76 911,028 

Other Community Health Facilities  12,132.26 3,078,545.00 

GP Practices  11,622.00 2,076,077.00 

TOTAL  97,065.02m² £45,784,830.00 

    

 Notes 
GIFA 

M² 

COST 

£ 

Livingstone Hospital (Note 6)  1,980.41 287,221.00 

Gravesham Community Hospital  11,036.00 7,207,213 

Dartford West Health Centre  1,485.00 235,749 

Other Community Health Facilities  7,542.85 2,438,493.00 

Dartford East Health Centre  1,124.00 117,082.00 

TOTAL  23,168.26m² £10,285,758.00 

    

Assumptions 

This data has been sourced from the SHAPE database and has the following key assumptions:   

 

 An assumption of a cost of £300 m² for KMPT properties has been made in this analysis 

 The only Acute site in this region is the Darent Valley Hospital 

 No cost data is available for the 12 Kent Community Health NHS Foundation Trust sites and therefore these sites are currently excluded from this analysis 

 There are 3 PFI buildings  (Darent Valley Hospital , Gravesham Community Hospital and Acute Mental Health (AMH) Dartford)  and no LIFT buildings in this area 

 AMH Dartford has currently been classified separately in the analysis below.   

6. The costs for Livingstone Hospital have been provided by the CCG.  This site also provides 24 Intermediate Care Beds 

7. GP services are provided by 34 Practices from 44 premises.  The costs shown above are based on rental costs provided by NHS PS. 

4.0 Current Estate , continued.. 

Page 57 



 

 

 

TOTAL HEALTH DISTRIBUTION BY ORGANISATION  

(based on annual running cost) 

4.0 Current Estate , continued.. 

Page 58 



4.0 Current Estate , continued.. 

Breaking this down further and based on 
information relating to 2014/15, Tables 7 – 9 tell 
us that for facilities owned or leased by NHS 
Property Services: 

 

Table 7 Indicative Property Costs Per Annum  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The premises costs and occupancy detailed within 

the Tables 7 and 8 are based on information 

provided by NHS Property Services Ltd during 

2015. The SEP will be updated for 2016-17 

information once this has been received. 

  

Premises costs are not yet agreed, as NHS PS are 

changing the way in which they charge 

tenants.  From the 1st April 2016, NHS PS will be 

charging based on a commercial market rent 

(CMR). This change has been agreed by NHSE, 

but the full details of the financial impact of the 

move to CMR have not yet been made available 

to the CCG. Initial indications are that there will 

be an increase in rents, but the overall financial 

impact is not expected to be material to the CCG. 

  

In conjunction with this, NHS PS are undertaking a 

lease regularisation process to issue formal leases. 

From this process, the CCG will receive updated 

tenant occupancy details. 

  

Page 59 

Location 
Property 
Cost £ 

Gravesend Civic Centre 119,178 

Dartford East HC 117,082 

Dartford West HC 235,749 

Gravesham PFI 7,207,213 

Livingstone Hospital 287,221 

New Ash Green 45,184 

Rochester Road 42,798 

Temple Hill Medical Practice 21,497 

Vale Road, Northfleet 242,716 

Summer House Medical Practice 107,363 

Wrotham Road 76,098 

Rainbow Lodge 58,506 

The Oaks, Swanley 71,964 

Total 8,632,569 



4.0 Current Estate , continued.. 

Table 8  

Tenant Occupancy Detail   

 

Tenant Location 
Occupancy  

% 

DGS CCG 
Gravesham Civic  
Centre 

100.00% 

KCHFT Dartford East HC 15.14% 

KMPT Dartford East HC 0.00% 

DR PATEL & DR KASINA-
THAN 

Dartford East HC 22.43% 

DR SHIMMINS & PARTNERS Dartford East HC 50.68% 

BOOKABLE ROOMS Dartford East HC 11.75% 

KCHFT Dartford West HC 41.17% 

MAPLE MEDICAL PRACTICE Dartford West HC 5.00% 

ORCHARD MEDICAL  
PRACTICE 

Dartford West HC 20.09% 

REDWOOD MEDICAL 
PRACTICE 

Dartford West HC 19.56% 

VOID Dartford West HC 1.84% 

MCH Dartford West HC 12.34% 

KCHFT Gravesham PFI 35.33% 

Tenant Location 
Occupancy 

 % 

DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM Gravesham PFI 3.17% 

BEACONSFIELD DENTAL PRAC- Gravesham PFI 0.21% 

BOOKABLE ROOMS Gravesham PFI 6.49% 

MCH Gravesham PFI 1.09% 

SOUTH EAST HEALTH Gravesham PFI 0.45% 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL Gravesham PFI 49.95% 

LEAGUE OF FRIENDS Gravesham PFI 0.29% 

PAULA CARR TRUST Gravesham PFI 0.22% 

CRUSE BEREAVEMENT SER- Gravesham PFI 0.21% 

GROVESNOR FM Gravesham PFI 1.85% 

RADIO NORTH KENT Gravesham PFI 0.18% 

VOLUNTARY SERVICE Gravesham PFI 0.11% 

HEALTH INFORMATICS SER- Gravesham PFI 0.11% 

NHS PS Gravesham PFI 0.33% 

Tenant Location 
Occupancy  

% 

KCHFT Livingstone Hospital 100.00% 

KCHFT New Ash Green Clinic 90.39% 

KENT COUNTY 
COUNCIL 

New Ash Green Clinic 9.61% 

KCHFT Rochester Road 100.00% 

MCH Temple Hill MP 100.00% 

Fleet Healthcare Vale Road, Northfleet 100.00% 

Summer House MP 
Summer House Medi-
cal Practice 

100.00% 

KCHT Wrotham Road 65.17% 

VOID Wrotham Road 34.83% 

KENT COUNTY  
COUNCIL 

Rainbow Lodge 100.00% 

KCHT The Oaks Swanley 88.21% 

DR WS POMEROY The Oaks Swanley 11.79% 



4.0 Current Estate , continued.. 

Table 9 GP Practices Rent and Abatements 

 

Footnote 

Abatements are where the rent reimbursed to the 
Practice is abated due to the use of public funds to 
improve / expand the facilities i.e. reduced for a 
specific period of time in compliance with the 
requirements of The NHS GMS Premises Costs 
Directions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.6 Surplus Assets 

  

Each provider has responsibility for disposing of 
assets no longer required and for obtaining better 
value. Potential for utilising sites of housing is a 
key consideration. 

 

We are aware that NHS PS has declared the 
following sites surplus to requirements: 

 

 M Block in Gravesend. The CCG does not 
incur any costs in relation to this surplus site. 
NHS PS are actively engaged in disposing of 
this site and subject to planning approval will 
be looking to take to market in early summer 
2016.  It is expected that this site will 
accommodate 80 flats. The capital receipt will 
be returned to the Centre by NHS PS and they 
will benefit from any revenue savings.  

 

 Wrotham Road Clinic in Gravesend. This site is 
being temporarily used for some admin and 
clinical services but NHS PS have advised of 
their requirement for the site to be vacated so it 
can be disposed of. 

 

Going forward there may be opportunities for 
other assets to be declared surplus. 

Rent Type Number of Rent £ Abatements 

Not Stated 4     

Actual (leased) 18 1,266,124 
1 practice 

(£9,447 abated – no end date) 

Notional (owner occupied) 22 809,953 

2 practices 

(Practice 1 – abatement to 95.57% until 
2022 

Total 44 2,076,077   

Page 61 



5.0 Gap Analysis  

The work we are currently undertaking will provide 
us with the foundation for the gap analysis which 
will in turn, inform the estates options and 
ultimately the estate solution.  

 

The specific issues we are currently working on 
are: 

 

 Finalising work on the clinical model which will 
enable us to determine the exact service make-
up of the community hubs, in which our 
Integrated Primary Healthcare Service and 
Teams will operate and which feeds into our 
vision and emerging service model.  To 
determine this we will be carrying out specific 
work around: 

 Identifying the local health requirements due 
to the impact of the significant local housing 
growth and changes in demography  

 The services and facilities the community 
hub will contain, including identifying how 
generic each hub should be or whether 
each hub should also have specialist 
services 

 What specialist services should be provided 
within the hubs e.g. diagnostics, maternity 
etc. 

Which practices should be the base or 
be part of the hub and which 
practices should be linked to them 

 Work with Social Care to understand service 
strategies and priorities as part of one public 
estate and the integration agenda 

 Opportunities for co-location with KCC e.g. 
utilising Children’s Centres as specialist 
centres 

 

We know that for this to be effective it will require 
a level of consultation and engagement that will 
take some time. We expect that work will be 
ongoing into the summer of 2016. 

 Impact of all housing developments to ensure 
there is a co-ordinated and planned approach 
to meeting the needs going forward and to 
ensure that health is prioritised as part of 
Section 106 and / or CIL determinations. 

 

We know that if we plot the deprivation make-up 
of the CCG and overlay this with the growth areas 
(based on a 10 year trajectory) and the positioning 
of local GP Practices we can build up a picture of 
the areas of intense need as shown below.  

Page 62 



Taking each of the localities separately we see 

that: 

 

 

 

 

DARTFORD 

This tells us that for example in Dartford 

deprivation is highest around the Temple Hill area 

which is where the greatest housing growth will be 

and that there is a current lack of GP Facilities in 

this area. 

5.0 Gap Analysis , continued.. 

Page 63 



GRAVESHAM 

 

In Gravesham we see that the areas of greatest 
growth are also in the areas of highest health 
inequalities and where there is a lack of GP 
facilities especially west of Northfleet. 

5.0 Gap Analysis, continued...  

Page 64 



SWANLEY 

This tells us that areas of highest growth are 
also the areas of highest health inequalities  

 

 

 

 

 

 

We are currently in the process of linking this 
to the condition and capacity assessments of 
our GP Practices and once completed, we will 
update this Strategy and use this to inform 
priorities for investment / disinvestment. 

 

As stated above, we need to understand the 
potential to access Section 106 funding or 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in relation 
to any new or expanded facilities and will 
work with our local Planning  Authorities and 
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to do so. 
We also need to understand how 
requirements for developers to build health 
facilities impacts on CCG revenue and how 
CIL can be used to support these new 

facilities.  

 

 

5.0 Gap Analysis, continued...  

Page 65 



We know there are the following specific GP 
needs: 
 

Stone / Greenhithe, Dartford 

 

There are 3 practices providing services in this 
area, Elmdene, Ivy Bower and Swanscombe 
(branch) which is subject to extensive housing 
development. Existing sites are not adequate to 
address the new populations. We are working 
with the GP Practices to facilitate a solution which 
is appropriate in both the short and longer term. 
This includes a bid for Estates and Technology 
Transformation Funding to develop a new facility 
leased under a 3PD (Third Party Developer) 
agreement to the Practices. The CCG is 
supportive in principle of the need for this 
development subject to affordability. 
 
We will also look to utilise other funding services 
to assist with affordability as far as possible e.g.  
CIL funding if available.   
 
We are also in discussion with Dartford Borough 
Council (DBC) around a separate Section 106 
agreement in relation to Stone and the 
opportunities to review the current obligations. 

 
Bean, Dartford 

The practices providing services at Bean also have 
facilities at Greenhithe. Bean is a very distinct 
community and is situated within Green Belt land 
although close to Ebbsfleet Garden City and 
Greenhithe. There are issues with the practices’ 

tenure of the current facilities at both Bean as well 
as its standards. We will work with the Practices to 
facilitate a solution which is appropriate in both 
the short and longer term. 

 
Dartford West Health Centre, Dartford 

The 3 Practices based in this Health Centre have 
advised that they have a lack of space for their 
current population and would not be able to meet 
the needs of the new population. We also know 
that there are issues in relation to condition and 
parking. There is funding available in relation to a 
previous Section 106 Contribution and we will 
work with the Practices, NHS PS and DBC to 
determine how best to address these needs i.e. 
develop the existing site or look to relocate the 
Practices and release the site. We are working 
closely with DBC around the potential for an 
integrated development in the Town Centre as 
part of One Public Estate discussions. See Section 
7.1 for further details. 

  
Temple Hill, Dartford 

The Practice is located in a small leased facility 
which has current space constraints and would 
not be able to meet the needs of the new 
populations being developed close by in the 
Northern Gateway development. 
The CCG considers this a priority area for 
development based on current need and 
inequalities together with significant growth.   
This facility also provides services for the Joyce 
Green area and we know that the local 
community have expressed concerns around 

health provision especially in relation to the new 
development. We are committed to working with 
this Practice and the local community to develop 
an appropriate solution. 
 

Pelham Practice, Gravesend  

The Practice is exploring opportunities to purchase 
a KCC site at Dover Road, Gravesend and 
relocate the main and branch surgeries. It is being 
reviewed as part of One Public Estate discussions. 
We need to agree with the Practice the funding 
requirements, capacity and services to be 
provided at the potential new site but in principle 
the ethos of this Practice is fully consistent with the 
CCG’s ethos around prevention and healthy 
lifestyles and subject to affordability we would 
support such a development. The Practice is 
looking to submit an Estates and Technology 
Transformation Fund bid in relation to this 
development. 
 
Should this development site not be viable or 
available we would work with the Practice to 
identify an alternative solution. 

5.0 Gap Analysis, continued...  

Page 66 



Swanley Town Centre, Swanley 

We know that the level of housing in Swanley is 
likely to increase significantly and that the Swanley 
Master Plan which is being developed will scope 
this out in more detail. We also know that the 
existing Practices would require additional 
capacity to meet the needs of the new population.  
We will work with the Practices and the Council to 
deliver a viable solution subject to affordability 
and need. 

 
Hextable Village, Swanley 

We are aware that there is local feeling of the 
need for improved local facilities and we have 
had some preliminary discussions with a 
developer in relation to this. Subject to evidencing 
need and affordability we would look to develop 
increased capacity. 

 
We have reviewed the previous West Kent Primary 
Care Trust (PCT) estate strategy and note the plans 
for new facilities as a consequence of the 
population growth. In addition, West Kent PCT 
identified other sites requiring a solution as set our 
below and we will give due consideration as to 
appropriateness bearing in mind our service 
model and commissioning plans: 
 
 Review of the Livingstone Hospital to determine 

options around future use. We know there are 
some restrictions on constructing additional 
facilities on the land in terms of location and 
adjacencies to other buildings. We also know 
that much of the site is not is use and the 

condition / functionality of the buildings in use 
are not optimal. We will look to determine 
need in terms of services, location and 
opportunities for this site. We are aware of 
KCC social Care site adjacent to this and will 
look at opportunities for a joint approach using 
the One Public Estate approach, to ensuring 
best use of this site. 

 
 Review of potential for a walk in facility at 

Darent Valley Hospital as part of the Urgent 
Care review. 

 
 We are working closely with DVH in relation to 

its plans for expansion to address the significant 
population increase and to ensure optimal use 
of core clinical space.  

 
 Gravesham PFI is a significant resource for the 

CCG but we know that its utilisation is not 
good and we are carrying out a robust 
utilisation study specifically on this resource 
considering the potential for this to be utilised 
as one of our community hubs 

 
 KMPT’s lease on their community mental health 

team base in Dartford is due for renewal 
in2017. There is a good opportunity to seek a 
solution which drives forward the One Public 
Estate and integrated primary healthcare team 
strategies. 

 

5.0 Gap Analysis, continued...  

Page 67 



6.0 Estate Options for Change 

6.1 Summary of Estate Options  
(Incl Non Estate solutions, where appropriate) 

 

The detail of the estate options will be developed 
once the clinical model has been refined and 
agreed however we do know that purely from an 
estate perspective the following premises issues 
require resolution and will be taken into account 
as part of the estate options for change as shown 
in Table 10: 

Table 10 Estate Issues  

Page 68 

Site Issues 

Gravesham PFI Community 
Hospital 

Expensive resource 

Potentially underutilised  

Office accommodation for domiciliary staff   

Opportunity to develop a primary care led integrated hub on this site working with surrounding GP practices 

Opportunity for relocation of local GP practices and / or development of a Multi-Agency Specialist Hub for children with disabilities  

Livingstone Hospital and Site 

 

Large but underutilised site 

Condition of main facility poor and unlikely to be best value for money solution 

Energy efficiency low 

Ebbsfleet – new facility 

New facility for new garden city 

Land identified and developer on board 

Potential funding may be available from  EDC 



6.0 Estate Options for Change 

 

Page 69 

Site Issues 

Greenhithe / Swanscombe area: 

GP Practices 

Elmdene 

Ivy Bower 

Swanscombe 

Area of high growth and need for improved and expanded facilities 

Premises condition / size probably unable to cope with growth 

Willingness of GPs to work collaboratively together 

Need to consider net financial impact of ETTF bid (re decommissioning existing and building new)  

Temple Hill 

Area of large growth at adjacent Northern Gateway development and clear need for improved facilities / expanded capacity 

Small practice with lack of facilities 

Leased property – some issues with landlord and current capacity  

Dartford Town Centre 

Potential for One Public Estate development with Dartford Council, HCA, KCC and KMPT 

Potential to relocate local practices within condition and capacity issues / release sites 

Potential to utilise Section 106 and CIL  funding  

Bean Village GP Practices 

Potential termination of leases 

Suitability of current practices’ condition and capacity 

Need to review if opportunity to share facilities  

Pelham Place GP Practice 
Gravesend 

GP keen to develop new health and wellbeing centre 

Potential for One Public Estates solution in terms of development in Dover Road or potentially a move to Gravesham PFI 

CCG supports in principle clinical model 

ETTF bid submitted and clarity is needed on financial impact.  

Gravesend Medical Centre 

Adjacent to housing development – 300 homes 

Need to increase clinical capacity 

ETTF bid submitted to increase clinical space  

White Horse  Practice 

Future of walk in centre under review as part of Urgent Care Centre 

Discussion between practices to merge (to include one practice not currently within the White Horse practice 

Opportunities for other services to be co-located on the site 

Potential location for a primary care integrated hub 

Potentially underutilised clinical space  



6.0 Estate Options for Change 

 
Page 70 

Site Issues 

Dartford West Health Centre 

Condition and capacity unlikely to be sufficient for the increase in population growth 

Lack of space 

Lack of parking 

Practice wanting to extend clinical area 

Concern re KCHFT moving podiatry to site 

Opportunity to relocate to new Dartford Town Centre development and release site for housing  

Dartford East Health Centre Functionality and capacity needs to be determined 

Swanley Town Centre 

Growth expected but quantity unknown 

Masterplan being developed for area – likely to be 12 months before clear indication of additional requirements known 

Potential for new co-located facility – possible primary care integrated hub 

Hextable 
Demand from the local community for a new facility. 

Potentially some space available with planning gain in terms of land but not development costs 

Red RAG practices / growth area Information only just available – we will review the practices which fall into this category and agree plans to address the issues raised 

Amber RAG practices / growth area Information only just available – we will review the practices which fall into this category and agree plans to address the issues raised 

Red RAG practices / no growth Information only just available – we will review the practices which fall into this category and agree plans to address the issues raised 

Amber RAG / no growth Information only just available – we will review the practices which fall into this category and agree plans to address the issues raised 

Green RAG practices / Growth Area Information only just available – we will review the practices which fall into this category and agree plans to address the issues raised 

Green RAG practices/ no growth Information only just available – we will review the practices which fall into this category and agree plans to address the issues raised 



6.0 Estate Options for Change 

6.2 Evaluation process and criteria 
 

In order to ensure there is a fair and equitable 
process for determining any requests for funding 
for estate development whether that is: 

 

 New or expanded estate to develop capacity as 
a consequence of service development, 
population growth or practice expansion 

 Development of primary care integrated 
community hubs to progress and implement our 
strategies  

 Estate and Technology Transformation Fund bid 
submitted by GP practices 

 Increased use of digital technology 

 

We have developed an agreed set of criteria 
against which all applications or options will be 
assessed. These are: 

 

 Fit with commissioning strategies 

 Opportunities for co-locating services or 
working in partnership with other services 

 Use of technology in an innovative manner 

 Value for money considering the opportunities 
the proposal offers for increased utilisation, 
economies of scale, sharing of functions e.g. 
back office functions, rationalisation of estate 

 Long term affordability and sustainability 
including opportunities for supporting or pump 
priming funding e.g. Section 106 monies or CIL 

 Development in a priority area e.g. of 
significant deprivation or major population 
growth 

 Condition of current facilities 

 

Plans will be submitted to the CCG and reviewed 
by the Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
which is a Board Committee.  

 

 

 

 

Page 71 



7.0 Local Estates Strategy 

7.1 Outline of preferred option 
 

Taking into account the CCG’s strategies, the 

growing population and the views of our member 

practices we have developed the following 

transformational estates options as the solution to 

enable the development of the clinical model: 

An integrated primary care community hub in 

Dartford Town Centre 

As highlighted previously we are working closely 

with Dartford Borough Council, the Homes and 

Communities Agency (HCA) and the GP 

Federation in an initiative consistent with the One 

Public Estate banner. This would see a new facility 

in the heart of Dartford Town Centre on land 

currently owned by DBC and by HCA. This new 

facility would be a health and wellness facility with 

DBC relocating its Council offices, potentially up 

to 6 local GP Practices relocating into this centre 

(including 3 based at Dartford West Health 

Centre. This potentially could release further estate 

but this is subject to further detailed feasibility 

planning and full agreement with all relevant 

parties which, subject to appropriate investigations 

and consultation, could potentially be released).  

KCC and KMPT, who provide social care and 

mental health services respectively, are also 

interested in co-locating in this facility.  

The HCA is looking at the inclusion of starter 

homes and the CCG has discussed with them the 

potential for extra care homes for the elderly. This 

will be subject to a detailed option appraisal which 

could include the potential for other services in the 

area to be provided on this site.  This option 

would require comprehensive and detailed public 

engagement and consultation before any decision 

is reached. 

This hub would fulfill a number of key strategic 

objectives including: 

 Preventative support and increased use of 

technology to improve self-care and self- 

management 

 GP Practices working at scale and optimally 

integrating service provision to provide 

sustainable and appropriate access for 

patients 

 Provision of additional capacity for the 

significant housing growth locally 

 Co-ordinated and seamless care 

 One Public Estate – providing efficient 

utilisation of buildings across statutory and 

voluntary organisations 

 Reducing demand on acute emergency 

services 

 Improving further integrated support for the 

frail elderly, including virtual MDTs with 

Consultant Geriatrician support and enabling 

patients to remain independent 

 Provision of social and voluntary support 

including dementia cafes; crèche facilities; etc. 

to maximise the potential of a place where 

people can meet and community power can 

be developed to support people to prevent 

social isolation 

 Potentially providing accommodation for key 

workers which may aid the recruitment 

issues locally 

An integrated primary care community hub at 

Gravesham PFI Hospital 

This is an existing facility joint funded by health 

and social care through KCC. As well as inpatient 

services for the elderly it provides outpatient 

services e.g. physiotherapy, Minor Injuries, X-Ray 

and some diagnostics e.g. phlebotomy. It also 

provides office accommodation for community 

nursing staff.  We know that the clinics have the 

potential for more intensive use and the office 

accommodation for community nursing staff could 

be more effectively utilised. Page 72 



7.0 Local Estates Strategy 

We believe there is a good opportunity to use this 

facility more intensively and effectively and are 

looking at whether there is the potential to 

relocating local GP Practices and / or a Multi-

Agency Specialist Centre (MASH) for children with 

disabilities being sited here. As there is already a 

Minor Injuries Unit and X-Ray facilities this will be 

part of the urgent care review to identify how we 

can maximise the utilisation of this facility, improve 

the primary care services provided collaboratively 

by GP practices across the area and enable 

extended access. 

This hub would fulfil a number of key strategic 

objectives including: 

 Improved prevention services, providing 

support to reduce social isolation and to 

create a healthy community 

 GP Practices working at scale and optimally 

integrating service provision to provide 

sustainable and appropriate access for 

patients 

 Provision of additional capacity for the 

significant housing growth locally 

 Co-ordinated and seamless care 

 One Public Estate – providing efficient 

utilisation of buildings across statutory 

organisations 

 Reducing demand on acute emergency 

services 

Improving further integrated support for the frail 
elderly, including virtual MDTs with consultant 
Geriatrician support and enabling patients to 
remain independent 
 

An integrated primary care community hub in 

Swanley Town Centre 

Swanley is facing significant growth and a master 

plan is being developed for the Town Centre 

which would see the need to relocate the local GP 

Practices. It is also the only area of the 3 localities 

without easy access to A&E facilities. The 

development of a primary care community hub 

would enable the provision of increased access 

and would address the new population needs. 

The 2 GP premises within Swanley do not have 

enough capacity to meet current demand for 

primary care as well as allied services e.g. 

therapies, mental health and certainly could not 

accommodate the new populations.   The 

Practices are keen to work with the Sevenoaks 

District Council and Swanley Town Council to 

develop a central health and wellbeing hub for the 

population of Swanley.   

The council is currently consulting with the general 

public on proposals for a transformation of 

Swanley town centre.  The current proposal is to 

consider a new facility in the centre of the town 

which would house both Practices and potentially 

the local Leisure Centre. This ‘hub’ would become 

the health and wellbeing hub for the community. 

GP Practice spokes in the rural parts of this patch 

could access additional healthcare within the 

‘hub’, for example diagnostic provision which 

could proactively support the elderly population, 

 

This hub would fulfil a number of key strategic 

objectives including: 

 

 Improved prevention services, providing 

support to reduce social isolation and to 

create a healthy community 

 GP Practices working at scale and optimally 

integrating service provision to provide 

sustainable and appropriate access for 

patients 

 Provision of additional capacity for the 

significant housing growth locally 

 Co-ordinated and seamless care 

 One Public Estate – providing efficient 

utilization of buildings across statutory 

organisations 

 Reducing demand on acute emergency 

services 

 Improving further integrated support for the 

frail elderly, including virtual MDTs with 

consultant Geriatrician support and enabling 

patients to remain independent 

 

  Page 73 



7.0 Local Estates Strategy 

New Facilities 

 

As a consequence of the significant housing 

growth within DGS, we know that there is a 

requirement for new or replacement facilities in a 

number of key areas.  

 

Castle Hill, Eastern Quarry, Ebbsfleet 

A Healthy New Town is being developed at 

Ebbsfleet with an expected minimum of 11, 000 

new homes and potentially increasing to 15,000. 

The housing is being constructed up to 2030, with 

the most intensive phases of development by 

2025. Whilst some patients will register at existing 

practices there is a clear and pressing requirement 

for a new health facility to accommodate much of 

this population.  

 

In relation to this site, there is a Section 106 

agreement which has triggers to build a health 

facility to a specification agreed with an operator 

but for those facilities to be rented at a market 

value rate to be determined by a District 

Valuer.  Furthermore, the Section 106 Agreement 

sets out requirements around the need for a health 

impact assessment at a certain point if agreement 

has not been reached over a facility and if the 

findings show health needs are not adequately 

met, then a small GP centre is required to be 

constructed by the developer.  Therefore, there is 

no specific financial planning gain. 

We are in ongoing discussions with the Ebbsfleet 

Development Corporation, local Councils and the 

Developer around the health facility in terms of 

size and funding. It is likely that the Developer will 

look to charge a rent higher than that normally 

approved by the NHS and so discussions around 

the use of capital to reduce the lease cost are 

underway. 

 

Temple Hill, Dartford 

This is an area of high deprivation with only 1 GP 

Practice currently covering the population. It is 

also the site of an extensive new development. The 

existing site does not have the capacity and is 

incapable of expansion to support this new 

population. Whilst there is potential for relocation 

into the new Dartford hub, this would 

disadvantage the existing population especially in 

the Joyce Green area. There is therefore a 

pressing need to find a more suitable facility to 

accommodate the existing and new populations.  

There is some Section 106 funding which could be 

applied to a new facility (circa £320k). However 

we need to determine the location and size before 

being able to determine whether this is sufficient 

for such a facility. 

 

 

 

Greenhithe, Dartford 

This is an area of high deprivation, significant 

housing development and GP Practices with no 

capacity to expand and / or of poor condition. 

The local Practices have been working with a 

developer to identify a suitable site although 

indicative lease costs provided indicate that the 

new centre would be unaffordable.  Another 

developer has submitted a planning application 

with a GP practice but it is not certain if the size of 

the proposed facility would meet the demands. 

There is some Section 106 funding that could be 

applied to a new facility (circa £230k) and a 

further development has recently had approval in 

principle subject to signing the Section 106.  The 

Heads of Terms for the Section 106 includes a 

requirement for the developers to masterplan a 

site for a medical centre on normal commercial 

terms i.e. constructed by the developers and 

rented at market value. There is no opportunity to 

influence this. 

 

There is a need to work through the various 

options to find an option that meets the needs of 

the existing and new population and is affordable.  

 

Dover Road, Gravesend 

This is also an area of high deprivation and health 

inequalities, significant housing 

development and GP Practices Page 74 



7.0 Local Estates Strategy 

Dover Road, Gravesend 

This is also an area of high deprivation and health 

inequalities, significant housing development and 

GP Practices with no capacity to expand and / or 

of poor condition. The local GP practices in this 

area are working with Kent County Council, a 

care home provider and a developer to provide a 

health and wellbeing centre in this area of 

Gravesend under the ‘one public estate’ strategy. 

This centre proactively address prevention and 

supports patients to remain independent reducing 

impact on the acute provider. 

 

All of these proposals require detailed work 

around the exact requirements in terms of services, 

size and affordability but the CCG feels that they 

best meet the demands of the current and future 

populations and are suitably transformational to 

ensure sustainability going forward. 

 

 

7.2 Service Benefit 

 

The detail above has indicated where these 

developments meet the CCG’s strategies and the 

benefits in high level terms. In the development 

phase of the individual business cases we will 

ensure we address these benefits in sufficient detail 

as well as quantifying the outcomes expected from 

each development and the impact in terms of 

efficiencies and non-financial benefits. 

 

Page 75 



Delivering the Strategy  



8.0 Implementation and Next Steps 

Developing the Strategic Estate Plan is an ongoing 
iterative process which is aligned with and needs 
to reflect the Kent and Medway STP, the Digital 
Road Map and Five Year Forward View especially 
the GP Forward View. Changes will be reflected as 
we progress the development of the clinical model 
and the consequential estate solutions. Securing 
ETTF funding will be critical to supporting 
transformational change. 
 
In the period until late 2016 / 2017 work will 
concentrate on: 
 

 Finalising the  clinical model requirements and 
linking this to the estate solution in terms of 
service and healthcare planning 

 

 Aligning the estates strategy with the STP and 
Urgent Care review 

 

 Detailed options analysis of locations where 
required leading to a determination of 
preferred locations 

 

 Health planning work to identify the “hub and 
spoke” size 

 

 Ongoing engagement with: 
 our local providers to ensure their estate 

plans are consistent and aligned with our 
agreed vision, commissioning strategy and 
are affordable 

 our patients and public to inform and seek 
their views on transformation plans 

 Developing robust timescales for individual 
developments and progressing them through 
the Business Case process i.e. developing and 
submitting PIDs and Business cases as 
required including considering procurement 
options and planning permission requirements 

 

 Developing individual programme plans, 
milestones and risk registers for each 
development 

 

 Identifying the resources required to progress 
each development and the overall programme 

 

 Robust engagement with Local Authorities to 
review the approach to planning obligations 
and developer requirements to ensure the 
most appropriate delivery mechanism are 
appl ied through fu tu re  p lanning 
determinations. This will include the need to 
ensure Section 106 or CIL contributions are 
sought and made available for health on a 
routine basis and linked to other funding 
sources where appropriate 

 

 Continuing engagement with Planning 
Authorities, Local Authorities and providers 
around Core Strategy discussions and 
implementation of new models of care 

 

 Continuing engagement with EDC around 
their plans for Ebbsfleet Garden City to inform 
health needs 

 

A detailed implementation plan will be developed 
to progress this work. 

Page 76 



Glossary 

 

AMH  Acute Mental Health 

AONB  Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

BCF  Better Care Fund 

CIL  Community Infrastructure Levy 

DBC  Dartford Borough Council  

DGS CCG  Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group 

DGT  Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust 

DVH  Daren't Valley Hospital 

EDC  Ebbsfleet Development Corporation 

ETTF  Estates and Technology Transformation Fund 

FoIA  Freedom of Information Act 

GIFA  Gross Internal Floor Area 

HCA  Homes and Community Agency  

KCC  Kent County Council 

KCHFT  Kent Community NHS Foundation Trust 

KMPT  Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care Partnership Trust 

NHSE  NHS England 

NHS PS  NHS Property Services 

PCT  Primary Care Trust 

PFI  Private Finance Initiative 

SEP  Strategic Estate Plan 

 

 



Appendix 1 

Clinical Model Information  



Clinical Model Discussions  

 

Feedback from DGS PLT on 2 February 2016 

 
Service Issues 
 
 Patients prefer small practices 

 Physio / smoking cessation clinics locally would be helpful 

 Bring urgent care back into primary care e.g. minor injury services 

 CT scans – have direct access but need on site radiographer to review 

 Make better use of diagnostic facilities at DVH e.g. longer opening hours for 

phlebotomy, x-ray, CT, MRI 

 Clinical model – do not need  hub for investigations but just more space for GMS 

services 

 Bring OPD services into a community hospital setting – need good parking 

 AQP needs to work more effectively 

 Biggest issue need support with are patients with complex needs e.g. elderly, 

housebound, memory problems and patients needing access to support services e.g. 

Mental Health, Social Services 

 Need to look at community nurses working with and being located within GP 

practices 

 
Premises Issues 
 
 Biggest priority Elmdene, Swanscombe and Ivy Bower as this is where the majority of 

the growth is and Elmdene has the worst surgery facilities in the CCG 

 Dartford West HC – wooden sink and carpets in Consulting rooms 

 Both Dartford East and Dartford West HCs have outgrown the space available to 

them 

 Need more space to provide services within practices 

 Facilities need to be designed and future proofed for the future 

 Practices want to retain their individuality but may be happy for co-location and 

possibly some sharing of back office functions; potentially working together in a 

federated way 

 

Funding Issues 
 
 Ring-fence funding  from moving services from the acute and make it sustainable 

 Lack of funding for primary care is a significant issue 

 

 

Workforce Issues 
 
 Is a recruitment issue in primary care 

 Primary care is at breaking point  

 Use Nurse Practitioners and physicians assistants 



Write up of table top feedback following  

Urgent Care Model Presentation on 7th June PLT 

 
 
 
Table One – Feedback given from Dr Von Fraunhofer: 

 

 General feeling that large hubs will be attractive for new workforce. 

 

 New workforce from the larger hubs to undertake sessions in smaller ‘spoke’ 

practices too, in order to ensure an inclusive approach with spoke practices and to 

provide a consistency and understanding of services across a hub area. 

 

 Felt that the Walk-in-centre needs to be based at the front door of A&E in order to 

truly keep the ‘walk in’ patients out of casualty. 

 

 Colleagues on the table were open in principle to the 8am-8pm model, but felt it 

would be tricky to get right in terms of ensuring fairness of each GP’s contribution 

to the later hours. 

 

 One way of tackling the availability of later appointments between 6:30 and 8pm is 

for practices to work together to provide alternative practice locations for patients 

who cannot be seen at their own practice (due to the later list already being full). 

This could be particularly important for the smaller ‘spoke’ practices that have 

fewer GP’s. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table Two – Feedback from Dr Jones: 

 

 In terms of the 8-8 model, one idea was put forward around having the hub 

practice providing all 6:30-8pm appointments, but with the possibility of an out of 

hours provider actually offering those appointments from within that hub. 

 

 Once all OOH appointments filled, could then be offered a late appointment at 

another hub within DGS as an alternative? This could be complex to get right due 

to the different sizes of the hubs. 

 

 Issue around certain areas (e.g. Swanley) possibly finding it more difficult to cover 

the 8-8 model due to having less GP’s available, whereas could be potentially 

easier to manage in areas such as Gravesend due to much higher GP numbers. 

 

 Table felt that all practices had to contribute equally to the model – 8-8 could be 

covered on a rota basis. 

 

 General query as to whether the 8-8 model will do enough to impact demand on 

urgent care. 

 

 

Table Three – Feedback from Dr Osadiyai: 

 

 Initial feedback from the table was that there was a real concern that GP’s were 

being phased out. The new model of care proposed by NHS England had the 

potential risk of having a negative impact on continuity of care. 

 

 On a positive note, liked the idea of practices reducing administrative paperwork 

where possible and sharing administration across practices would help. 

 

 Like the idea of integrated neighbourhood teams but there was a need for practices 

to be able to maintain their individuality whilst at the same time sharing services 

 

 Integrated IT links will be integral to a new model working – could we have IT 

functions in place for patients to virtually speak to a doctor / clinician if they cannot 

access a same-day face to face appointment? Could this be something the 

Federation provide? 



Write up of table top feedback following  

Urgent Care Model Presentation on 7th June PLT 

 
 

Table Four – Feedback from Director of Transformation: 

 

 All agreed that doing nothing is not an option - we must evolve the model in some 

way in order to cope with demand longer-term. 

 

 Debated the evidence of various models and the fact that none of them have been 

up and running long enough to give a clear steer on the ‘best’ model to use. 

 

 Current evidence doesn’t indicate the optimal number of hubs needed for a 

particular population size, but the table felt that four was a good number for the 

size of DGS population. 

 

 Continuity of care and staffing within the hubs plus access to the hubs – e.g. 

booked patients and / or same day urgent care patients. Need to identify the 

required staffing level. There has been evidence from PM challenge fund that 30% 

of patients triaged from A&E to primary care appointments but these have not 

necessarily been on the same day. 

 

 Would be good for all practices to have access to mental health specialists, physio, 

other AHP’s etc. at the four hubs to make the best use of resources, and also make 

the model more attractive to existing GPs and in order to attract new workforce. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table Five – Feedback from Dr Sewell: 

 

 Need to think about patient access to the chosen hubs. 

 

 One idea of splitting the ‘same day’ appointments (to be provided by the hubs) 

and ‘booked’ appointments for next day or longer to be managed by the patient’s 

practice. 

 

 

 The group supported the idea around the increased use of Paramedic Practitioners. 

 

 Need to explore the option around A&E staff being able to divert patients into 

booked appointments in the GP hubs. 

 

 Another idea put forward by Dr O – whether we could explore the merging of 

OOH funding to provide 24-hour hubs? 



Appendix 2 

Estates Overview 



Property Name Town Main Occupation Tenure Lead 

Organisation 
Holding Area 

NIA (m2) 

Capital 

Value of 

Owned 

Asset 

Total Annual 

Property Cost 
Building 

Utilisation 

RAG 

Darent Valley Hospital Dartford Acute PFI 
Dartford & 
Gravesham 
NHS Trust 

        52,156.00 132,000,000 32,511,967 Excellent 
>80% 

Elm Court (Priory Mews) Dartford Acute 3rd Party 
Dartford & 
Gravesham 
NHS Trust 

955.00 Unknown 926,647 Excellent 
>80% 

AMH Dartford CRHT  
Dartford 

 
Unknown 

 
Freehold 

 
KMPT 

              
2,898.26  

Unknown 
Data not provided Data not 

provided 

Arndale House 
Dartford 
 

Unknown Leasehold KMPT 1,046.41 Unknown Data not provided Data not 
provided 

Civic Centre Gravesend Office CCG HQ Leasehold NHSPS              516.00 Unknown Data not provided Data not 
provided 

Dartford East Health Centre Dartford Health Centre Freehold 
NHSPS 
 

          1,041.00 Unknown Data not provided Data not 
provided 

Dartford West Health Centre 
Dartford 
 

Health Centre 
 

Freehold 
 

NHSPS 
 

          1,398.00 Unknown Data not provided Data not 
provided 

Gravesham Community Hospital Gravesend Community 
Hospital Freehold 

NHSPS 
 

 

        10,194.00 Unknown Data not provided Data not 
provided 

Livingstone Hospital Dartford Community 
Hospital Freehold 

NHSPS 
 

 

1,980.00 Unknown Data not provided Data not 
provided 



Property Name Town Main Occupation Tenure Lead 

Organisation 
Holding Area 

NIA (m2) 

Capital 

Value of 

Owned 

Asset 

Total Annual 

Property Cost 
Building 

Utilisation 

RAG 

Whitehorse Surgery Gravesend GP Surgery Leasehold GP 701.11 Unknown Data not provided Data not 
provided 

Bean Village Surgery Bean GP Surgery Freehold GP 769.00 
(GIA) 

Data not 
provided £169,992 Data not 

provided 

Downs Way Medical Practice Gravesend GP Surgery Freehold 
GP 
 

654.00 
(GIA) 

Data not 
provided £232,264 Data not 

provided 

Gravesend Medical Centre 
Gravesend 
 

GP Surgery Leasehold 
GP 
 

635.00 
(GIA) 

Data not 
provided £154,800 Data not 

provided 

Oakfield HC 
Gravesend 
 

GP Surgery Leasehold Unknown 612.00    
(GIA) 

Data not 
provided Data not provided Data not 

provided 

Swanscombe HC Dartford GP Surgery Freehold GP 629.00 
(GIA) 

Data not 
provided Branch Data not 

provided 

Temple Hill Surgery Dartford GP Surgery Leasehold NHSPS 692.00 
(GIA) 

Data not 
provided Data not provided Data not 

provided 

Forge Surgery Northfleet GP Surgery Leasehold GP 574.00 
(GIA) 

Data not 
provided £103,074 Data not 

provided 

Gateway Medical Practice Northfleet GP Surgery Leasehold GP 660.00 
(GIA) 

Data not 
provided £162,360 Data not 

provided 

TOTAL     78,110.78m²   
£34,261,104  



Appendix 3 

GP Premises Baseline Assessment RAG Status Overview 



Name of GP Practices CONDITION CAPACITY 

G82221001 :  Bean Branch  (Branch Horns Cross) AMBER GREEN 

G82122:  Bean Village Surgery (Branch Swanscombe) AMBER GREEN 

G82710:  Bennett Way Surgery AMBER RED 

G82648001:  Beaumont Drive Surgery RED RED 

G82218:  Braeside Surgery RED GREEN 

G82028:  Cedars Surgery AMBER AMBER 

G82690 :  Chalk (Lower Higham Road Surgery) AMBER GREEN 

G82212 : Dartford East Pilgrims Way Surgery Dr Patel AMBER GREEN 

G82006:  Dartford East Health Centre (Dr Shimmins) AMBER GREEN 

G82056 :  Dartford West : Orchard Practice AMBER AMBER 

G82639 :  Dartford West : Maple Practice AMBER AMBER 

G82185:  Dartford West Health Centre: Redwood AMBER AMBER 

G82088 : Devon Road Surgery AMBER GREEN 

G82089 : Downs Way Medical Practice   AMBER GREEN 

G82221 : Elmdene (Horns Cross Surgery)  AMBER RED 

G82780 :  Gravesend Medical Centre AMBER GREEN 

G82122002 : Greenhithe Surgery AMBER RED 

G82096 : The Forge Surgery AMBER, PLUS GREEN 

G82044 :  The Gateway Medical Practice AMBER, PLUS GREEN 

G82722 :  Hextable Surgery AMBER GREEN 

G82048:  Horsman's Place Surgery AMBER AMBER 

G82156 :  Ivy Bower Surgery  AMBER RED 

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley:  RAG Analysis Summary  



Name of GP Practices CONDITION CAPACITY 

G82206 :  Joydens Wood Medical Centre AMBER RED 

G82097 :  Jubilee Medical Centre AMBER GREEN 

G82197 :  Lamorna Surgery   AMBER, PLUS AMBER 

G82143 :  Lowfield Medical Centre AMBER AMBER 

G82067001 :  Mackenzie Way Surgery AMBER AMBER 

G82073 :  Meopham Medical Centre AMBER RED 

G82097001 :  The Surgery (New Ash Green) AMBER GREEN 

G82808 : Oakfield Health Centre AMBER GREEN 

G82225 : The Oaks Partnership AMBER AMBER 

G82067 :  Old Road West Surgery AMBER GREEN 

G82062 :  Parrock Street Surgery AMBER RED 

G82032 : Pelham Medical Practice AMBER AMBER 

G82021001 :  Riverview Park Surgery AMBER GREEN 

G82648 : Rochester Road Surgery AMBER RED 

G82809001 :  Shorne Village Surgery AMBER GREEN 

G82021:  The Shrubbery Surgery AMBER RED 

G82032001:  116 St Gregory's Crescent AMBER AMBER 

G82809002 :  Summerhouse Surgery AMBER GREEN 

G82122001 :  Swanscombe Health Centre AMBER AMBER 

G82647 : Temple Hill Surgery AMBER RED 

G82124:  West Kingsdown Medical Centre AMBER GREEN 

Y02826:  White Horse Surgery AMBER, PLUS GREEN 

Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley:  RAG Analysis Summary  



To: The Dartford, Gravesend & Swanley Health and Wellbeing Board

Subject: One Public Estate - Update

Submitted by: Carol Patrick- Strategic Infrastructure Partnerships Manager

Date: 25th August 2016

Summary

Kent County Council has been involved in the One Public Estate (OPE) Initiative 
since September 2014. Since then we have been working closely with a range of Kent 
partners across the Public Sector to ensure that opportunities are identified and that 
benefits are maximised. This paper provides an update on the OPE programme 
including the ongoing collaboration with Health organisations across the County.   

1. Background

1.1 The One Public Estate (OPE) programme is designed to facilitate and enable 
public sector organisations to work collaboratively on property and land matters.
Public sector partners are encouraged to adopt OPE principles and reap strategic 
benefits including the development of joint accommodation plans.

1.2 Over the last three years KCC Infrastructure and numerous Estate partners across 
the NHS have continued to support each other and work in a co-ordinated way. This 
has included attendance at joint meetings such as the Local Estates Forums, OPE and 
e-PIMS workshops and individual catch ups. 

1.3 KCC has also supported the Kent CCG’s in the development of their local Digital 
Roadmaps.

2. Progress to date

OPE Bid

2.1 In May 2014 KCC made a successful application to be part of Round 2 of the One 
Public Estate Programme. The funding was used to support on-going asset 
collaboration and additional graduate resource for six months. 

2.2 A further submission was made in July 2016 as part of Round 4. One of the 
projects ‘The Dartford Health and Wellness Facility’ was included on behalf of the 
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley GP Federation incorporated as DGS Health Ltd in liaison 
with Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG. In addition the group is working closely with 
Kent County Council, Kent Partnership Trust, Dartford Borough Council (DBC) and the 
Homes and Communities Agency (HCA).  



2.3 The project would result in a new facility in the heart of Dartford Town Centre on land 
currently owned by DBC and the HCA. Early discussions are underway with DBC relocating its 
Council offices and up to 6 local GP Practices relocating into this centre (including 3 based at 
Dartford West Health Centre which could then be released). 
In addition to the GP practices Kent County Council (KCC) and Kent and Medway Partnership 
Trust, who provide mental health services, have also expressed a possible interest in co-
locating in this facility. Funding of £50,000 has been requested from the OPE Round 4 bid to 
support the provision of a feasibility study in Year 1 and support costs towards a project 
manager in Year 2. 

2.4 In addition to the individual projects the bid also includes a proposal to establish a new 
countywide cross organisational group focussed on joint estates issues. Called the ‘Kent 
Estates Partnership’ governance will be via a ‘Kent Estates Partnership Board’ endorsed by 
an extended Joint Kent Chief Executives Group.  

2.5 It is intended that various health sector representatives will be invited to become Board 
members and help take the OPE programme forward across the County and achieve shared 
objectives including:
•Effect culture change
•Encourage and champion the digital worker
•Facilitate opportunities for asset sharing
•Engage more fully with other partnership models, such as the South East Local Enterprise 
Partnership
•Develop a Kent wide strategic asset management plan 
•Embed OPE deliverables in all local partner asset management plans

Other OPE activities

2.6 A joint OPE workshop  on the 28th June was facilitated by Kent County Council and 
supported by the Cabinet Office and the Local Government Association. Some 41 delegates 
from a range of public sector organisations including Health attended and discussed a range 
of estates issues. Feedback suggested that a range of topics could be better tackled 
collectively and it is intended that these will form part of the initial agenda of the Kent 
Estates Partnership Board.

2.7 Further work is underway to ensure that opportunities, proposals and live projects are 
better tracked and progress information disseminated more widely. By improving 
engagement and communication between all partners the mechanisms for wider 
collaboration will be strengthened.
 
2.8 The use of technology to support more co-locations via the sharing of properties 
increased flexible and mobile working and increased availability of network facilities is also 
under discussion. Both Kent Connects (the county’s strategic IT Partnership) and the Kent 
Public Services Network Partnership (KPSN) have been working with their partners to 
improve access  to technologies ( including PSN Roam) that support OPE priorities. The 
South East Strategic Commissioning Unit (NHS) is a partner of both Kent Connects and KPSN 
and is a provider of the service to other organisations including Medway Community Health. 
The East Kent Hospitals University NHS Foundation Trust (EKHUFT) is a member of KPSN and 
they purchase network services for themselves. Discussions have also been held with other 
Health colleagues to see if participation in Kent Connects or purchasing KPSN services would 
be beneficial and help support greater collaborative and cost effective working.



2.9 The e-PIMS system provides the ability for us to share estates and property data across 
the County. Although Health has their own SHAPE system they could use the national system 
to better identify opportunities. An e-PIMS workshop was held on 2nd August that provided 
an update on the new e-PIMS lite offer as well as the enable data owners to share and 
discuss estates records   . A further practitioner’s workshop and estates data group is 
expected to be established to bridge the knowledge gap and support the better utilisation of 
the data.    

3. Conclusions

3.1 Further work has been underway to strengthen the estate and property links between 
public sector partners. The development of the Kent Estates Partnership offers us the 
opportunity to collaborate further, collectively look at issues and provide joint solutions to 
shared issues.

3.2 It is anticipated that we will know the outcome of the OPE Round 4 bid by mid-
September. If successful, the funding will contribute to the delivery of the projects 
identified, support the Kent Estates Partnership Board and provide better communication 
and engagement tools and materials. However, given the overarching partner needs it is 
anticipated that ongoing partnership working will continue and be developed further 
through the Kent Estates Partnership.           





DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

25 AUGUST 2016
Agenda Item 

______________________________________________________________________________

1

From: Executive Group 

Subject: DGS Health Inequalities Groups Progress Report – August 2016
Classification: Unrestricted

Summary:
This report summarises the work of the three district Health Inequalities Groups for 
2015/16.

Recommendations

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note the progress of the three Groups.

. 

1. Background and discussion

1.1 The Board has previously agreed that it will receive regular update reports from its 
thematic sub-Groups including the district based Local Children’s Partnership 
Groups and Health Inequalities Groups. 

1.2 This report sets out in Appendix 1 the progress made on the work of the three 
Health Inequalities Groups, through co-ordinated partnership working and delivery 
of each district’s Health Inequalities Action Plan.

2 Contact details

Lesley Bowles, Chief Officers Communities & Business, Sevenoaks District Council, 
email: Lesley.bowles@sevenoaks.gov.uk 

4. Background Papers - None





APPENDIX 1

Page 1 of 18

DGS Health Inequalities Groups Progress Report - August 2016 

2015/16 - April 2015 – March 2016

LOCALITIESOBJECTIVES DETAIL
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

Local Priority: Promote Healthy Weight for 
Children

A healthier more cohesive 
community where children 
have the best start in life.

Promote Healthy Weight for 
Children

Actions:  Support families to maintain 
a healthy weight

 Improve local healthy weight 
care pathways

 Maximise opportunities with 
health visiting teams

 Support families to maintain 
a healthy weight

 Increase interaction between 
parents and children

 Create new opportunities to 
build physical activity into 
daily lives 

 Support families to maintain 
a healthy weight

 Increase interaction between 
parents and children

 Create new opportunities to 
build physical activity into 
daily lives

 Maximise opportunities with 
health visiting teams

Objective 1:
Give every child 
the best start in 
life

Progress: Don’t Sit, Get Fit!
 Don’t Sit, Get Fit! Delivered 

in 5 schools targeted by 
NCMP, supported by 
projects/events for NCMP, 
Kent Public Health, Dartford 
Libraries and The British 
Heart Foundation

 Summer Sizzler programme, 
a free sports interactive 
programme engaging 
families ran across the 
Borough.

Families First
180 families achieved positive 

outcomes in educational 
attendance, reduced anti-
social behaviour and/or 
criminality, and gaining 
employment as part of Phase 
1. 
Phase 2 of the programme 

has been running since June 
2015, with a much broader 
range of family issues 
addressed, 4 families in 
Gravesham deemed to have 
met all these criteria, while 

Fun, Fit and Active
• The Fun, Fit and Active was 

affected by a budget revision 
during the 2015-2016 financial 
year leading to a focus on 
limited one to one sessions 
with families rather than 
programmes.  

• 9 families have received 
healthy weight information and 
support through the Fun, Fit 
and Active (FFA) programme.

Sports Development



APPENDIX 1

Page 2 of 18

OBJECTIVES DETAIL LOCALITIES
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

over 50 families received 
intensive support.

• SDC ran over twenty different 
sports programmes for 
communities in New Ash 
Green, Hartley and West 
Kingsdown, including: 
Archery, Badminton, 
Basketball, Boccia, Cycling, 
Dance, Netball, Table Tennis, 
and Volleyball

Outcomes: Weight Management Services 
for Families (Don’t Sit Get Fit)
 3 Dynamo clubs ran during 

2015/16.
 19 families took part
 22 children completed the 

program (who were above 
the 91st centile) 

 61 families engaged (Annual 
target 50)

 16 Children reduced or 
maintained their BMI Z-score 
(Children above 91st centile) 
(72.7%)

Community Chef 
 19 Families were given 

cookery sessions
 The Community Chef linked 

up with Sure Start to offer 
cookery session.  

Summer Sizzler 
 Approximately 100 children 

attended.  Dartford Early 
Help workers linked in to the 
Summer sizzlers and 

Sport Relief
 150 people attended the Sport 

Relief Mile event.  21 young 
people helped marshal the 
event on the day, 15 of which 
completed a First Aid 
certificate. 

Community Chef (Pilot 
finished December 2015)
 27 families were taught how to 

cook 
 38 young people taught how 

to cook 

Weight Management Services 
for Families (Don’t Sit Get Fit)
 54 Families engaged
 14 young people reduced or 

maintained BMIz score. 

Fun, Fit and Active
 6 of these families attended a 

cookery session learning how 
to cook healthier meals.

 The remaining 3 families 
attended 1-1 sessions with a 
nutritionist.  Between them 
they lost a total of 8.1kg. 

Be Inspired, Be Active
1940 attendances at sports 

programmes.  951 were young 
people.



APPENDIX 1

Page 3 of 18

OBJECTIVES DETAIL LOCALITIES
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

engaged with children under 
5 years and their families.

Issues: The funding for the Community 
Chef has now finished.  This 
worker had previously supported 
local authorities, schools and 
health promotion activities.

The budget revisions in this year 
lead to a change in the 
methodology from a group to an 
individual.  This reduced the 
number of people that could be 
seen.

Local Priority: Support older people to 
keep them safe & living 
fulfilled independent lives

Support residents to 
engage in positive 
activities. 

Support older people to 
keep them safe, 
independent and living 
fulfilled lives

Objective 2: 
Enable all 
children, young 
people and adults 
to maximise their 
capabilities and 
have control over 
their lives

Action:  Develop Dementia Friendly 
Communities, provide 
services and activities to 
support sufferers and carers

 Support individuals to 
improve self-management of 
long term conditions

 Deliver effective local 
services for falls prevention

 Support the Dartford’s 
Elder’s Forum

 Improve provision of 
adaptations and equipment 
in the home to prevent 
accidents and improve the 
quality of life.

 Support individuals with 
learning disabilities to access 
services

 Support Shopsafe ID 

 Commit to turning round the 
lives of local families taking 
part in the Gravesham Families 
First programme.

 Raise the aspirations of young 
people. 

 Develop Dementia Friendly 
Communities, provide 
services and activities to 
support sufferers and carers

 Support older and vulnerable 
people to remain in their own 
homes. 

 Establish a programme of 
targeted community events 
and engagement 

 Develop Dementia Friendly 
Communities, provide 
services and activities to 
support sufferers and carers 

 Partnership working to 
promote and develop self 
help services 

 Increase referrals for home 
adaptations and falls 
prevention pathways to 
reduce falls risks 

 Support older and vulnerable 
people to remain in their own 
homes 



APPENDIX 1

Page 4 of 18

OBJECTIVES DETAIL LOCALITIES
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

Scheme opportunities for a more 
cohesive community.  

Progress: Dementia Friendly 
Communities
Ongoing support for local 

Dementia awareness support 
groups and links with 
organisations who require 
Training such as the leisure 
Centre  

Assertiveness Courses
Assertive Courses and Health 

Walks supported by DBC 
enabling  individuals to 
improve self-management of 
long term conditions

Postural Stability
 2 Free Community based 

Postural Stability class during 
the Week at different locations 
in the Borough.

Elders Forum
Elders Forum has grown to 

become one of the most 
successful events of its kind in 
the South East.

Climbing Fit
 3 cohorts of 12 young people 

to take part in the Climbing Fit 

Events
 57 activities and events were 

delivered by or with the 
voluntary sector 

Young People
 The Gr@nd engaged 8400 

young people in positive 
activities (65% of young 
people)

Gifted Young Gravesham 
(GYG) 163 young people 
were involved. 400 people 
were in the audience to watch 
the show, raising £2329 in 
ticket sales for Active 
Listening Service sessions. 

43 young people were 
supported to achieve a bronze 
Arts Award Accreditation 
through their involvement in 
GYG 

Dementia Friendly 
Communities
 There are five dementia cafes 

active in the District

KCC Arts, Libraries and 
Registration offer Pictures to 
Share resources and provide 
Dementia Sessions.

Mental Health
KCC Arts, Libraries and 

Registration deliver a ‘shelf 
help’ scheme as part of the 
‘books on prescription’ 
national programme.  

Postural Stability
SDC run three Yoga and four 

Falls Prevention programmes 
for older people.

Outcomes: Dementia awareness 
 Training set up for DBC 

frontline staff and local 

Drug Awareness Month
 The Gr@nd spoke to 1200 

young people about  the 

Dementia Awareness
 1021 attendances across 5 

dementia cafes. These 



APPENDIX 1

Page 5 of 18

OBJECTIVES DETAIL LOCALITIES
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

groups. Attend, signpost and 
promote the Dementia 
meetings and Cafes 

.
Being Assertive  Course
 11 people attended.  100% 

of individuals completed the 
course reported an 
improvement in 
assertiveness.

Health Walks
 5 walks in the Borough 
 1181 attendances

Of those surveyed (18 returned 
evaluation forms):

 33% have improved their 
health

 33% have improved their 
fitness

 33% have improved their 
social connectivity

 33% have improved their 
mental wellbeing

 100% people have had a 
positive outcome not listed 
above, for example 
reductions in blood pressure 
and help with joint pains.

Free Community based 
Postural Stability class 

growing issue of legal highs, 
their effects and dangers and 
where to get support. 

Postural Stability/Older 
People
 135 people aged 60-104yrs 

took part in Gentle Exercise or 
Active Seniors classes. 

As a result 18 people reported 
an improvement in their blood 
pressure and lowered their 
cholesterol. 17 people 
reported Improved or 
maintained sit to stand 17 and 
40 people sustained or 
improved ability to march 1 
minute.

All 91 older people who The 
Gr@nd taught how to use the 
internet reported being 
confident in using a computer 
independently at the end of 
the course. After six months 
31% reported that they were 
still using the internet regularly 
and independently.

included carers and people 
affected by Dementia.

 80 people attended a “Coping 
with Dementia Event” 

Mental Health
 1200 people accessed the 

Home Library Service last 
year to receive books from 
Kent Libraries, including the 
Shelf Help scheme.

Postural Stability
 3563 people attended the 

Yoga and Postural classes 
from SDC.



APPENDIX 1

Page 6 of 18

OBJECTIVES DETAIL LOCALITIES
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

 631 attendances and 76 
sessions were run.

 
Of those surveyed (30 returned 

evaluations)
 Over 40% people have 

improved their health, fitness 
and social connectivity

 40% people have improved 
their levels of physical 
activity

 30% people have improved 
their mental wellbeing

Six Ways To Wellbeing
 February 2016, event at 

Dartford Library promoting 
Six Ways of Wellbeing.

 50 engagers received 
information about the Six 
Ways to Wellbeing.

Elders Forum 
 200 active senior members 

of the Community.  
Examples of the topics 
presented are:

 Kent Fire Authority – safety 
in the home

 NHS – integration of 
services consultation

 Solar heating – benefits/cost 



APPENDIX 1

Page 7 of 18

OBJECTIVES DETAIL LOCALITIES
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

savings    
 KCC – Adult social care
 Natwest Bank – banking 

fraud prevention

Switch and Save 
 Energy Switch initiative for 

cost savings
 800 people have been seen, 

saving a total of £108,000, 
the average saving has been 
£135.

Support Shopsafe ID Scheme
 318 people have signed up 

to this scheme, and over 50 
businesses.

Troubled Families
• 44% of families engaged in 

the project improved their 
emotional wellbeing.

Issues:

Local Priority: Support businesses to 
have healthy workplaces

Create a thriving and 
sustainable local economy

Support businesses to 
have healthy workplaces

Objective 3: 
Create fair 
employment & 
good work for all Action:  Support Kent Healthy 

Businesses Award to 
increase the number of local 
businesses 

 Reduce the smoking 

 Support Kent Healthy 
Businesses Award to 
increase the number of local 
businesses 

 Improve levels of inward 

 Support Kent Healthy 
Businesses Award to 
increase the number of local 
businesses 

 Work with employers to 



APPENDIX 1

Page 8 of 18

OBJECTIVES DETAIL LOCALITIES
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

prevalence among routine 
and manual workers

 Ensure businesses and 
workplaces are safe 

investment to help provide a 
greater number, variety and 
quality of jobs

 Encourage economic 
participation through the use 
of apprenticeship schemes 
and support for those looking 
to get back into work.

 Work with education and 
training providers to raise 
local skill levels

support physical and mental 
health of their workforce

 Reduce the smoking 
prevalence among routine 
and manual workers

Progress: Kent Healthy Business Award
 7 Businesses are currently 

working with DBC, with 5 
signing a declaration of intent 
to achieve the Healthy 
Business Award with 1 
(Wellbeing Link) currently 
being assessed.

Town Centre Efficiency
 Town centre retail vacancy 

rate 8.7%.  This compares 
favourably with national retail 
vacancy figures which are in 
the region of 12%.

Youth Unemployment
Unemployment rate- 2.1%.  

This is higher than the 
national figure of 1.9% and 
1.6% for Kent.
Youth Unemployment rate- 

3.4%

Kent Healthy Business Award
 This has been a challenge 

due to the business landscape 
within Sevenoaks, which are 
predominantly small, 
independent companies who 
do not have the staff time to 
be able to complete a healthy 
workplace portfolio.

Outcomes: Kent Healthy Business Award
 3 (one with two sites) which 

have shown interest in the 
award, which could not 
immediately start the award 
due to current workload, but 
hope to start looking at the 
award in the near future 

Kent Healthy Business Award
 7 business’ signed up to 

Healthy Business Award. 
GBC awarded Excellence in 
Health and Safety. 

Economic Development
 25% of new business 

Kent Healthy Business Award 
 1 business has signed a 

declaration of intent to 
become a healthy business, 
with an additional 3 engaged 
with the process.

 The awards continue to be 



APPENDIX 1

Page 9 of 18

OBJECTIVES DETAIL LOCALITIES
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

(Watts Farm in Dartford, and 
the Catering Department run 
by Carillion at Darent Valley 
Hospital.

A quit club with a small group 
of employees at BDP on 
Crossways was set up with 
positive outcomes

enquiries converted to 
business start-up

 100% of GBC apprenticeship 
found employment when their 
apprenticeship finished. 

 32% of attendees at The 
Gr@nds job club found work 
(full / part time / voluntary / 
apprenticeship)

advertised through food 
hygiene visits, mailshots, 
networking events, and the 
Sevenoaks Business Show.

Economic Development
Economic development team 

produces 12 newsletters a 
year to inform businesses of 
the health and wellbeing 
services for their staff. 

Issues: Difficulties in engaging 
businesses in Dartford. In 
Dartford hundreds of 
businesses have been 
contacted and either had no 
response or been told that they 
do not have the staffing 
capacity to commit to putting a 
portfolio together.

There has been reluctance from 
partners to engage with this 
project, which combined with the 
business landscape has led to 
KCC reducing the targets for the 
project.

Local Priority: Provide the right support at 
the right time including 
financial & debt support 

A Safer Gravesham:
where local residents and visitors 
can live, work and travel in a safe, 
clean and green borough”

Meet the housing needs of 
people living in the District 
including affordable and 
appropriate housing

Objective 4: 
Ensure healthy 
standards of living 
for all

Action:  Improve outcomes for 
families identified through the 
troubled families programme

 Promote sources of 
information and where 
people can get help with 
benefits and financial support

Reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour with a particular 
focus on; violent crime, 
including domestic abuse; 
theft and robbery; drug and 
alcohol related misuse; 
reducing reoffending. 

 Carry out an Older Persons 
Housing Needs Assessment 
to better understand the 
needs of older people 

 Provide affordable housing to 
meet identified needs of 
vulnerable groups



APPENDIX 1

Page 10 of 18

OBJECTIVES DETAIL LOCALITIES
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

 Provide information for older 
people who may struggle to 
heat their home

 Provide financial advice and 
training on how to best 
manage debts and 
household budgets as part of 
the HERO project

Enforce the licensing 
requirements for premises 
selling alcohol, providing 
entertainment and also for 
taxi/private hire licences. 

 Tackle the housing waiting list 
by providing arrange of 
properties including actively 
procuring private housing for 
future housing tenants. 

 Improve standard and 
efficiency of GBC housing 
stock. 

Meet the housing needs of all 
residents including vulnerable 
people. 

Ensure open green spaces in 
future development areas and 
that any new external spaces 
prioritise walking, cycling and 
mass transit.

 Work with developers, 
landlords and owner 
occupiers to provide 
appropriate housing suitable 
for all demographics

Progress: Dartford HERO Project
Between 14 Nov 2015 and 24 
March 2016.
 41 Customers referred since 

the 14th of November 2015 
to 24th of March 2016

 29 Customers engaged with 
Service (71%)

 25 Currently Live with 

Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment
 The Strategic Housing Market 

Assessment was undertaken 
in the year 2015-2016 and 
was completed. 

Affordable Housing
SDC works with partners to 



APPENDIX 1

Page 11 of 18

OBJECTIVES DETAIL LOCALITIES
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

HERO. (61%) monitor the rate at which 
affordable housing is built in 
the District 

Disabled Facilities Grants
SDC works with West Kent 

Housing to deliver Disabled 
Facilities Grants for residents 
in the District.

Outcomes: Dartford HERO Project
• Direct Income to rents 

account £4506.04 
• 10 negotiated Arrears offers 

(34%), 12 Housing benefit 
claims including back dates. 
(41.%)

• 3 cases cleared rent arrears 
since engaging with HERO in 
excess of £3000 rent arrears.

•

Crime Prevention
 Total recorded crime incidents 

7555. This is a small 1.3% 
increase on 14/15 but to be 
noted in the context of a 3% 
increase across Kent as a 
whole.

 26.6% repeat victims of 
Domestic Abuse. Close to the 
Kent average of 25%. The 
Community Safety Unit 
provides funding to the 
Sanctuary scheme to support 
victims to remain in their own 
homes. Domestic Abuse one 
stop shop well used.

 1752 fixed penalty notices for 
environmental enforcement

Housing
 4 multiple Occupancy houses 

bought up to standard. 

Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment
 The SHMA has now been 

completed.  It will be used to 
inform the Older People’s 
Housing Needs Assessment 
which will be written in 2017-
2018.  (The tender for the 
OPHA is currently being 
reviewed)

Affordable Homes
 121 Affordable Homes were 

built in this year, which was 
the expected rate.

Disabled Facilities Grants
 168 Disabled Facilities Grants 

(DFGs) were issued by SDC 
and WKHA.

Sevenoaks HERO Project
 159 people where referred 

into the HERO project by 
varies partners, with 103 



APPENDIX 1

Page 12 of 18

OBJECTIVES DETAIL LOCALITIES
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

 27.7% presented households 
prevented from becoming 
homeless. 

 20 private sector homes 
achieved Decent Homes 
Standard as a result of council 
assistance



Disabled Facilities Grants
 38 disabled facilities grants 

were delivered in private 
sector/owner occupied 
housing, with £150,380 of 
modifications completed.

Fuel Poverty
 The Kent Fuel Poverty 
Strategy is nearing completion 
and will be available on the 
council website early 
Autumn. 2016.

 Since the launch of the 
Energy Deal scheme (June 
2013 – Feb 2016) 1479 
households have registered in 
Gravesham 

Child Protection
Programme of Child 

Protection Basic Awareness 
training begun in March. 31 

receiving support.

 2 Received training or 
retraining

 2 Volunteered
 1 Helped with Interview Skills
 24 were given advice relating 

to back to work
 24 where given benefit advice
 9 were given advice related to 

debt
 19 were given advice relating 

to housing
 22 were given advice relating 

to miscellaneous topics



APPENDIX 1

Page 13 of 18

OBJECTIVES DETAIL LOCALITIES
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

officers completed the training 
by end of March 2016, with 
programme continuing into 
following year. 

Programme of Child Sexual 
Exploitation training delivered 
to 101 GBC officers and wider 
partners.

Issues:

Local Priority: Develop our communities to 
be healthy places 

Sustainable Gravesham Sustain and support safe 
communities

Objective 5: 
Create & develop 
healthy 
sustainable places 
& communities

Action:  Provide and promote 
opportunities for sport, 
leisure and active recreation

 Improve and minimise the 
effects of poor air quality on 
vulnerable groups 

 Develop parks, green 
spaces, and public rights of 
way 

 Reduce the impact of poor 
housing and noise pollution 
on health

 Ensure development in the 
borough provides a good 
quality of life and creates the 
conditions for communities to 
flourish.

 Ensure businesses and 
commercial premises 
promote and maintain high 
standards of food safety and 
health and safety for 
employees and customers 
alike. 

 Increasing the levels of 
recycling and reduce the 
amount of residual 
household waste. 

 Deliver a quality built and 
green environment; keeping 
streets clean and 
maintaining a high standard 
of local horticulture. 

 Improve road safety
 Tackling crime and anti-

social behaviour



APPENDIX 1

Page 14 of 18

OBJECTIVES DETAIL LOCALITIES
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

 Use all available powers to 
pursue anyone damaging 
the health of the local 
environment (e.g. dog 
fouling, littering, fly-tipping 
etc). 

 Deliver a robust 
environmental protection 
service to address; air 
quality issues, contaminated 
land and noise, flood and oil 
pollution. 

Progress: Sport and Leisure
 35,000 people attended the 

Dartford Festival.
 25 Dartford clubs registered 

with Kent Sport Connect.
 11 new Dartford coaches 

registered on the Coaches 
Register.

 Project 500, a project 
encouraging more females 
into coaching, with 3 from 
Dartford registering in 
2015/16.

 A total of £14,100,000 of 
investment has been 
brought to Dartford Borough.

 13 schools from Dartford 
attended a Kent wide Sport 
conference.

 Kent School Games & 

Road Safety
SDC organised Speedwatch 

Training for local residents 
and loans these trained 
members of the public 
equipment to enable them to 
carry out their own speed 
checks in their areas.



APPENDIX 1

Page 15 of 18

OBJECTIVES DETAIL LOCALITIES
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

Sainsbury’s School Games, 
168 pupils from four schools 
took part, in the Sainsbury’s 
School Games, and 164 in 
the Kent School Games.

Outcomes: Sport and Leisure
 Sporting provision is a 

priority for Dartford’s 
community grant scheme 
Holiday activity programme 

 Summer Sizzler’s Promotion 
of free or low cost physical 
activity opportunities in the 
borough through Get Active 

 For a Healthier Happier 
Dartford initiative

 Co-ordination and expansion 
of GP exercise referral 
scheme in the borough

 Implementation of Dartford 
Core Strategy  - part of the 
Local Development 
Framework

 Improve facilities and 
activities in parks and open 
spaces

 Supporting communities to 
enhance, look after, be 
actively involved in and 
access their local green 
spaces e.g. environmental 
projects or ‘Friends of’ 
groups

 Deliver a programme of 

Environmental Health
 35% reduction in council CO2 

emissions

 35% household rubbish 
recycled.

 93.6% food establishments 
broadly compliant with 
hygiene legislation. 
Implementation of the national 
Food Hygiene Rating scheme 
has been a driver for 
improvement of standards. 

 875 allegations of nuisance 
dealt with during the course of 
the year (507 noise 
complaints and 368 other 
categories including 
accumulations, smoke, 
bonfires, pests).Majority 
resolved informally. 51 formal 
Abatement Notices served 
plus 17 Prevention of Damage 
by Pests Act notices.

Road Safety
Speedwatch training sessions 
were run throughout the year, 
and were featured in local 
publications.

Victim based crime was down 
3% in the first two quarters of 
the year compared to the 
previous year figures, but rose 
in Quarters 3 and 4 ending the 
year 3.7% over from the 
previous year’s figures.



APPENDIX 1

Page 16 of 18

OBJECTIVES DETAIL LOCALITIES
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

activities and events to 
increase accessibility e.g. 
educational and health walks 
across the borough, 
Naturally Active project

 Promotion of annual Dartford 
Festival to encourage 
community involvement

Issues:

Local Priority: Reduce the gap in health 
inequalities across social 
gradients 

Reduce the gap in health 
inequalities across social 
gradients

Reduce the gap in health 
inequalities across social 
gradients 

Objective 6: 
Strengthen the 
role and impact of 
ill health 
prevention Action:  Focus on improving the 

health of those at the bottom 
of the social gradient fastest

 Reduce smoking prevalence 
particularly in areas or 
among groups with of high 
prevalence

 Deliver services and promote 
the benefits of a healthy diet 
and active lifestyle to reduce 
obesity and related co-
morbidities

 Promote sensible drinking 
and ensure treatment 
services are accessible for 
all

 Reduce smoking prevalence 
particularly in areas or 
among groups with of high 
prevalence

 Deliver services and promote 
the benefits of a healthy diet 
and active lifestyle to reduce 
obesity and related co-
morbidities

 Promote sensible drinking 
and ensure treatment 
services are accessible for 
all.

 Deliver an improved leisure 
offer; activities and facilities 
that increase sporting 
participation rates and 
address local health 
inequalities. 

 Reduce smoking prevalence 
particularly in areas or 
among groups with of high 
prevalence

 Reduce the prevalence of 
Type 2 diabetes through 
early detention and 
prevention

 Deliver activities to increase 
physical activity levels and 
reduce obesity

 Deliver inclusive fitness with  
opportunities for people with 
disabilities



APPENDIX 1

Page 17 of 18

OBJECTIVES DETAIL LOCALITIES
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

Progress: Adult Weight Management
 15 Adult healthy weight 

programmes were run in 
deprived locations in the 
Dartford Area.

 A total of 273 people were 
recruited.  Of these 273, 195 
had a BMI of 28 or more.  

 Good links are maintained 
with GP’s and Key partners to 
encourage referrals.  Health 
Trainer drop in sessions are 
run  3 days a week at the HLC

Stop Smoking
 Kent Libraries, Registration 

and Archives host Stop 
Smoking Service Surgeries 
across the District.

Adult Weight Management
 15 Why Weight programmes 

where delivered across the 
District, 8 in the North of the 
District (Swanley, West 
Kingsdown and Hartley)

 8 Health Walks are delivered 
across the Sevenoaks 
District

 The Be Inspired, Be Active 
project ran inclusive 
community sports in West 
Kingsdown, Hartley and New 
Ash Green.

Outcomes: Adult Weight Management

• Of those 164 who engaged, 
63 lost at least 3% (32.3%). 

• 77% of responders increased 
their weekly exercise.

• 64.6% of responders have 
increased their fruit and 
vegetable intake.

Adult Weight Management
 124 people completed the 

programme of which 68% 
reduced their bodyweight by 
3%. 

 41 reduced their alcohol 
consumption and 6 were 
referred to CRI for further 
alcohol assistance.

Adult Weight Management
Recruited up 197 people with 

a BMI of 28 or greater;
 137 (70%) Of people with a 

BMI of 28 or more, are 
considered engagers; 

 88% of those with a BMI of 28 
or greater lost weight;

 72% of people increased their 
Minutes of moderate or 
vigorous exercise



APPENDIX 1

Page 18 of 18

OBJECTIVES DETAIL LOCALITIES
Dartford Gravesham Swanley

• 52.3% of responders have 
reduced their unhealthy food 
intake.

• 44.4% of responders reduced 
their alcohol consumption.

• 69% of responders improved 
their mental health

Stop Smoking
• 3 Smokers were identified and 

offered support at HLC 

 The Gr@nd saw 15,779 
people.

 795,361 total attendances at 
leisure centres.

 10,010 attendances with 
Active Gravesham. 

Stop Smoking
 2204 people were referred 

onto other services for support 
including Alcohol, sexual 
health and mental health 
support services.

The Gr@nd gave stop 
smoking talks in two schools. 
seeing over 100 students

 114 people from the Swanley 
area attended Why Weight.  - 
- 38 achieved at least 3% 
weight loss.

 Sencio Leisure Centres were 
accessed 908015 times in the 
year.

 There were 806 attendances 
at Kent Adult Education 
classes

 1250 attendances at West 
Kent Mind Fitness activities.

 There were 6489 attendances 
at SDC health walks, with an 
additional walk to begin from 
2016.

Stop Smoking
 52 smokers engaged with 

Stop Smoking Surgeries in 
Kent Libraries.

Issues:



DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

25 AUGUST 2016
Agenda Item 

______________________________________________________________________________

1

From: Executive Group (Member Services) 

Subject: Action Points Arising From Previous Meeting(s) of the DGS HWB

Classification: Unrestricted

Summary:
The report details progress against action points arising from the previous meeting(s).

Recommendations

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

Note the action points arising from previous meeting(s) and subsequent action, and 
consider whether any item should be added to the forward work plan to enable a more 
detailed discussion at a future meeting.

1. Background and discussion

Meeting 
first raised

Minute/Item Action taken/to be taken Lead

24/2/2016 Min 59 – 
Regeneration in 
Swanley

Board to investigate availability of grant 
funding for sports clubs etc to encourage 
participation by young people – scheduled 
on Work Plan - Done

District 
Councils

8/6/2016 Min 95 – Board 
Work Programme

Board to receive report on the new DAAT 
service – scheduled on Work Plan - Done

PH (Val 
Miller)

1 Conclusion and Recommendations
The Board is asked to:

Note the action points arising from previous meeting(s) and subsequent action, and 
consider whether any additional item should be added to the forward work plan to 
enable a more detailed discussion at a future meeting, or any other action taken.

3 Contact details

Neil Murphy, Committee Coordinator, Dartford Borough Council, 
email: neil.murphy @dartford.gov.uk



DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

25 AUGUST 2016
Agenda Item 

______________________________________________________________________________

2

4. Background Papers - None



DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

25 AUGUST 2016
Agenda Item x

______________________________________________________________________________

1

From: Executive Group 

Subject: DGS Health and Wellbeing Board Work Plan

Classification: Unrestricted

Summary:
This report proposes items for inclusion in the Board’s forward work plan.

Recommendations

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

Consider and approve the forward work plan, subject to any amendments or 
additions that the Board wishes to make. 

1. Background and discussion

1.1 The work plan schedules update reports from the Local Children’s Partnership 
Groups (previously Children’s Operational Groups) and Health Inequalities Groups. 

1.2 The work plan also gives advance notice of other items which the Board has 
indicated that it wishes to consider, or that the Kent Board has asked it to consider.

1.3 The work plan does not preclude matters not on the work plan being submitted to any 
meeting of the Board with the agreement of the Chairman.

1.4 The Board will have an opportunity at each meeting to consider its work plan and add 
items, particularly key plans and strategies, when the timing of such is known.  

2 Conclusion and Recommendations
The work plan ensures the Health and Wellbeing Board receives regular reports from 
those sub-Groups managing the key areas of the Board’s business and gives advance 
notice of other matters to be discussed. The Board is asked to:

Consider and approve the forward work plan, subject to any amendments or 
additions that the Board wishes to make. 

3 Contact details

Sheri Green, Strategic Director (External Services), Dartford Borough Council, 
email:sheri.green@dartford.gov.uk

4. Background Papers - None





1

DARTFORD GRAVESEND AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD

25 AUGUST 2016
Agenda Item 

APPENDIX A
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley HWB Forward Work Plan

Meeting Topic Suggested Lead

October 
2016

Update on implications of new developments 
for the health sector and new shape of 
service provision

CCG & KCC
(Mike Gibson)

Report on Adolescent Mental Health CCG (Dr Lunt)
Report on action by districts to encourage 
participation in sport and physical activity

Districts

December 
2016

Update on implications of new developments 
for the health sector and new shape of 
service provision

CCG & KCC
(Mike Gibson)

Report from Local Children’s Partnership 
Groups

LCPGs
(Nick Moor)

Report on new DAAT Service PH/CGL (Val 
Miller/Adam Green)

Provisional meeting dates for 2017-2018 

February 
2017

Update on implications of new developments 
for the health sector and new shape of 
service provision

CCG & KCC
(Mike Gibson)

April 2017 Update on implications of new developments 
for the health sector and new shape of 
service provision

CCG & KCC
(Mike Gibson)

June 2017 Update on implications of new developments 
for the health sector and new shape of 
service provision

CCG & KCC
(Mike Gibson)

Report from Local Children’s Partnership 
Groups

LCPGs
(Nick Moor)

Alcohol Strategy Update – final report CGL 
(Adam Green)

ITEMS TO BE SCHEDULED

JSNA - Assessment of the effectiveness of local services relating to the identified 
service priorities

Obesity Strategy
Employability & Health – GP Education



2


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Kent County Council Health and Wellbeing Board
	6 Annual Review of Local Health Profiles and Priorities
	DGS-Profile
	Analysis of Deprived Areas
	Background
	GP Practices
	GP Practices Serving Deprived LSOAs: Recorded Disease Prevalence
	Data Sources


	8 Falls Prevention and the Integrated Falls Pilot
	Case study 1
	Case Study 2

	9 Local Estate Strategy and One Public Estate
	Dartford Gravesham Swanley SEP Stage 3 150616
	DGS HWB Board One Public Estate

	10 Health Inequalities Groups - Reports
	DGS HWB Health Inequalities update report 1516 250816

	11 Actions Outstanding from Previous Meetings.
	13 Board Work Programme
	20160825 Work Plan Appendix


